
  1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SIW Board of Directors Meeting 
Agenda 

 

Date:	  September	20,	2022	    

Location:	 2125	State	St.,	New	Albany,	IN,	47150	–	Multi-Media	Room	   

Time:	  Networking:	8:30-9:00am	
BOD	Meeting:	9:00-10:15am	

   

NETWORKING	TIME	WITH	LIGHT	REFESHMENTS	8:30-9:00AM	

I.	 Welcome	and	Introduction	

• Roll Call 

• Declaration of Conflicts of 

Interest 

• Consent Agenda Approval 

• New Staff Introduction 

Shane	Stuber,	SIW	Chair	

Serena Davis, SIW 

Shane Stuber, SIW Chair 

 

 

Tony Waterson, SIW 

15	mins	  

II.	 Consent	Agenda1	

•  One Stop Operator Contract 

Renewal (6/28 EC Approved) 

• PY22 Budget (6/28 EC 

Approved) 

• SIW BOD Minutes 5.17.2022 

Shane	Stuber,	SIW	Chair	

Tony	Waterson,	SIW	

2	mins	 Action	

 
Carla	Crowe,	Crowe	LLC	

  

 
Tony	Waterson,	SIW	

  

III.	 Business Items 

• June 22 Financial Statement 

(PY21 Year End) 

• August 22 Financial 

Statement 

• PY22 Demand Policy 

• Eligibility Policy 

• Reimbursement Policy 

• Kentuckiana WIOA 

Regional/Local Plan 

• SIW By-laws 

• SIW Handbook Change – 

PTO/Vacation 

 30 mins  

 Carla Crowe, Crowe LLC &  Action 

  

Action 

Brittany Dougherty,	SIW	

Tony	Waterson,	SIW	

Action 

Action 

Action 

 Action 

  

Action 

ShiLese	Stover,	SIW	 Action 

IV.	 Committee	&	Workgroup	

Reports	

• Nomination Committee 

   

  5	mins	  

 Darrell	Voelker	   

 
 

1 Presenters are prepared if Board member(s) request a discussion of Consent Agenda items. 



  2 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

• Sustainable Funding Shane	Stuber	
	

	

V.	 Discussion	and	Information	

• SIW Updates – Fast 3! 

• Roles and Responsibility of a 

LWDB 

	

Tony	Waterson	

	

Brittany	Dougherty,	SIW	

15	mins	

VI.	 Other	Business	 Shane	Stuber,	SIW	Chair	 3	mins	

VII.	 Public	Comment	 Shane	Stuber,	SIW	Chair	 5	mins	



  3 

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

Professional Services Agreement 
This	agreement	is	entered	into	by	and	between	the	Region	10	Workforce	Board	,	 P	O	Box	6712,	
New	Albany,	IN	47150	and	JobWorks,	Inc.	(“Contractor”).	Authority	for	this	contract	cannot	be	
assumed	or	transferred	to	any	other	parties.	

	
WITNESSETH	THAT:	

	
WHEREAS,	Region	10	Workforce	Board,	Inc..	has	the	need	and	desire	to	obtain	the	services	of	a	
contractor	to	serve	for	One-Stop	Operator	Services.	

	

WHEREAS,	Contractor	desires	to	perform	said	services	for	Region	10	Workforce	Board,	Inc.	and	is	
able	to	do	so	in	a	professional	manner;	and,	

	
WHEREAS,	Region	10	Workforce	Board,	Inc.	.	has	selected	Contractor	to	perform	these	services	in	
accordance	with	Region	10	Workforce	Board’s	usual	and	customary	policies	and	procedures.	

	

NOW,	THEREFORE,	in	consideration	of	the	mutual	promises	and	covenants	contained	herein,	the	
parties	agree	as	follows:	

	

I. TERM.	The	term	of	this	contract	shall	begin	July	1,	2022	and	shall	continue	in	effect	until	
June	30,	2023.	

	
II. SERVICES	TO	BE	RENDERED:	 Regional	Operator	-	Coordination	Services	

	
The	Region	10	Workforce	Board,	Inc.	has	designated	JobWorks,	Inc.	as	the	provider	of	those	
services	set	forth	below:	

	

Duties of the One-Stop Operator 
General Scope of Work: 

 

Region	10	Workforce	Board	expects	the	One-Stop	Operator	to	support	the	vision	and	mission	of	
Region	10	Workforce	Board,	Inc.	by	implementing	the	following	WorkOne	One-stop	system	duties	
in	partnership	with	the	Board:	

	
Duties	of	the	One-Stop	Operator	
Region	10	Workforce	Development	Board	expects	the	One-Stop	Operator	to	support	the	vision	and	
mission	of	Region	10	Workforce	Development	Board,	Inc.	by	implementing	the	following	WorkOne	
One-stop	system	duties	in	partnership	with	the	Board:	

	
1. Coordinate	the	service	delivery	of	required	one-stop	partners	and	service	providers	with	a	

focus	on	ensuring	that	all	one-stop	partners	and	providers	share	a	mission	and	common	



  4 

	

	

	

	

	

	

goals	around	access	and	quality	of	services	for	customers,	based	on	the	Region	10	One-	Stop	
Partner	Memorandum	of	Understanding	(MOU);	

2. Provide	recommendations	and	assist	the	Board	in	the	development	of	policies	and	process	
to	support	the	coordinated	one-stop	mission	and	vision,	and	assist	in	the	implementation	of	
the	same	as	appropriate;	

3. Coordinate	and	facilitate	regular	one-stop	partner	meetings	(minimum	of	10	per	year)	
including	but	not	limited	to	invitation,	meeting	logistics,	agendas,	and	meeting	collateral;	

	
4. Maintain	records	of	all	one-stop	partner	meetings	and	activities	related	to	the	one-stop	

operator	functions	(e.g.,	minutes,	attendance,	etc.);	
5. Lead	the	development	of	a	shared	methodology	for	one-stop	system	metrics	and	the	

tracking	of	those	metrics;	
6. Assist	the	one-stop	system	in	increasing	and	tracking	referrals	and	co-enrollments	and	

leveraging	resources;	
7. Establish	a	mutually-agreed	upon	approach	with	the	Board	and	partners	to	ensure	the	

provision	of	excellent	customer	service	across	the	One-Stop	System;	
8. Identify,	recommend,	and	facilitate:	

a. Opportunities	for	professional	development	of	partner	staff,	and	
b. Standardize	training	in	partnership	with	Board	staff;	

9. Evaluate	and	provide	recommendations	to	Board	staff,	and	implement	as	directed,	service	
delivery,	communication,	customer	flow,	and	other	opportunities	to	strengthen	the	overall	
system;	

10. Identify	and	recruit	additional	partners	into	the	One-Stop	System	though	networking	and	
the	avocation	of	the	value	and	opportunities	of	joining	the	One-Stop	System;	

11. Develop	and	coordinate	(with	Board	staff	support)	the	annual	Partnership	MOU	and	
Infrastructure	and	Shared	Costs	Agreement	–	including	but	not	limited	to	scheduling,	
facilitating,	and	negotiating	as	appropriate;	

12. Assist	Board	staff	in	the	preparation	for	and	implementation	of	the	One-Stop	Certification;	
13. Conduct	a	quarterly	assessment	to	ensure	that	all	One-Stop	Certification	requirements	and	

processes	remain	current	and	submit	a	report	to	Board	staff.	
	

According	to	WIOA,	the	One-Stop	Operator	may	not	perform	any	of	the	following	duties:	
1. Convening	system	stakeholders	to	assist	in	the	development	of	the	Local	Plan;	
2. Preparing	and	submitting	Local	Plans;	
3. Being	responsible	for	oversight	of	itself;	
4. Managing	or	significantly	participating	in	the	competitive	selection	process	for	one-stop	

operators;	
5. Selecting	or	terminating	one-stop	operators,	career	services,	and	youth	providers;	
6. Negotiating	local	performance	accountability	measures;	
7. Developing	and	submitting	the	budget	for	activities	of	Region	10	Workforce	

Development	Board	in	the	local	area.	
An	entity	serving	as	a	one-stop	operator,	that	also	serves	a	different	role	within	the	one-stop	
delivery	system,	may	perform	some	or	all	of	these	functions	when	it	is	acting	in	its	other	role,	if	it	
has	established	sufficient	firewalls	and	conflict	of	interest	policies	and	procedures.	



  5 

	

	

	

	

	

Performance Goals 
Federally Required Measurements 

WIOA	establishes	primary	indicators	of	success	for	its	programs.	These	indicators	are	the	metrics	
for	which	Region	10	Workforce	Development	Board	is	held	accountable.	The	primary	indicators	of	
success	for	Adult,	Dislocated	Workers,	Title	II,	Title	III,	and	Title	IV	programs	are	the	following:	
The	percentage	of	program	participants	who	are	in	unsubsidized	employment	during	the	second	
quarter	after	exit	from	the	program;	

1. The	percentage	of	program	participants	who	are	in	unsubsidized	employment	during	
the	fourth	quarter	after	exit	from	the	program;	

2. The	median	earnings	of	program	participants	who	are	in	unsubsidized	employment	
during	the	second	quarter	after	exit	from	the	program;	

3. The	percentage	of	program	participants	who	obtain	a	recognized	postsecondary	
credential,	or	a	secondary	school	diploma	or	its	recognized	equivalent	during	
participation	in	or	within	1	year	after	exit	from	the	program;	

4. The	percentage	of	program	participants	who,	during	a	program	year,	are	in	an	
education	or	training	program	that	leads	to	a	recognized	postsecondary	credential	or	
employment	and	who	are	achieving	measurable	skill	gains	toward	such	a	credential	or	
employment;	and	

5. The	indicators	of	effectiveness	in	serving	employers.	
	

The	primary	indicators	for	youth	programs	are:	
1. Percentage	of	program	participants	who	are	in	education	or	training	services,	or	in	

unsubsidized	employment	during	second	quarter	after	exit;	
2. Percentage	of	program	participants	who	are	in	education	or	training	services,	or	in	

unsubsidized	employment	during	fourth	quarter	after	exit;	
3. The	median	earnings	of	program	participants	who	are	in	unsubsidized	employment	

during	the	second	quarter	after	exit	from	the	program;	
4. The	percentage	of	program	participants	who	obtain	a	recognized	postsecondary	

credential,	or	a	secondary	school	diploma	or	its	recognized	equivalent	during	
participation	in	or	within	1	year	after	exit	from	the	program;	

5. The	percentage	of	program	participants	who,	during	a	program	year,	are	in	an	
education	or	training	program	that	leads	to	a	recognized	postsecondary	credential	or	
employment	and	who	are	achieving	measurable	skill	gains	toward	such	a	credential	or	
employment;	and	

6. The	indicators	of	effectiveness	in	serving	employers.	
The	One-Stop	Operator	will	not	be	directly	measured	on	these	outcomes.	However,	they	are	
indicative	of	Region	10	Workforce	Development	Board’s	priorities,	and	respondents	should	
demonstrate	how	they	will	contribute	to	Region	10	Workforce	Development	Board’s	ability	to	
successfully	achieve	federal	performance	measures.	
One-Stop	Operator	System	Measurements	
Region	10	Workforce	Development	Board	intends	to	evaluate,	but	not	reimburse,	the	One-Stop	
Operator	based	on	performance	outcomes	and	outputs.	Region	10	Workforce	Development	

	

Board	has	not	finalized	specific	performance	indicators	for	the	One-Stop	Operator	and	will	do	so	in	
conjunction	with	what	is	proposed	by	the	respondent	during	the	contract	negotiations	period.	
Some	examples	of	output	indicators	include:	

• Development	and	measurement	of	system	metrics;	
• Number	of	multi-partner	professional	development	activities;	
• Execution	of	MOU	and	Funding	Agreements;	



  6 

	

	

	

	

	

	

• Engagement	of	new	partners	measured	by	new	MOUs;	
• Increase	in	referrals	and	co-enrollments	among	required	partners;	
• Number	of	partner	meetings	with	and	documentation	of	outcomes	from	meetings;	
• Development	of	mechanisms	for	tracking	partner	usage	of	the	One-Stop	System	and	

outcomes;	and/or	
• Assisting	Region	10	Workforce	Development	Board	and	Partners	in	ensuring	One-Stop	

Certification	is	achieved.	
	

1. Coordinate	the	service	delivery	of	required	one-stop	partners	and	service	providers	
with	a	focus	on	ensuring	that	all	one-stop	partners	and	providers	share	a	mission	and	
common	operations,	system	and	improvement	goals	around	access	and	quality	of	
services	for	customers,	based	on	the	Region	10	One-Stop	Partner	Memorandum	of	
Understanding	(MOU);	

	
2. Assist	Region	10	Workforce	Board	in	a)	the	development	of	policies	and	process	for	the	

Coordinated	One-Stop	System	to	integrate	system	delivery,	to	the	extent	possible;	b)	to	
support	the	mission	and	vision	and	implement	policies	developed	by	Region	10	
Workforce	Board;	

3. Make	recommendations	to	Region	10	Workforce	Board	for	development	and	
implementation	of	an	enhanced	approach	to	communicating	effectively,	with	a	
customer-	centered	focus,	between	one-stop	partners	and	providers	as	well	as	to	one-	
stop	customers;	

4. Establish	a	mutually-agreed	upon	approach	with	Region	10	Workforce	Board	and	
partners	to	ensure	the	provision	of	excellent	customer	service	across	the	WorkOne	
System;	Assist	in	the	implementation	of	strategies	to	improve	participation	in	customer	
satisfaction	surveys.	

5. Recommend	and	facilitate:	a)	opportunities	for	professional	development	with	partner	
staff;	and	b)	standardize	training	in	partnership	with	Region	10	Workforce	Board	staff;	

6. Make	additional	recommendations	to	Region	10	Workforce	Board,	and	implement	as	
directed,	regarding	expanded	integrated	service	delivery	opportunities,	communication	
opportunities,	and	other	opportunities	to	strengthen	the	overall	delivery	system;	

7. Make	recommendations	to	Region	10	Board	to	recruit	additional	regional	partners	into	
the	WorkOne	System	and	assist	Region	10	Workforce	Board	in	conveying	the	value	and	
opportunities	for	partners	to	join	the	WorkOne	System;	

8. Assist	Region	10	WorkOne	System	in	the	facilitation	of	the	annual	Partnership	MOU	and	
Infrastructure	and	Shared	Costs	Agreements.	

9. Assist	Region	10	WorkOne	System	in	the	preparation	for	and	implementation	of	the	
One-Stop	Certification	Review	Process.	b)	Conduct	an	internal	assessment	(quarterly)	to	
ensure	that	all	One-Stop	Certification	requirements	and	processes	remain	current	and	
report	to	the	Region	10	Workforce	Board.	

10. Regular	meetings	with	partners	in	the	WorkOne	System	and	documentation	of	
outcomes	from	meetings;	

11. Work	with	the	Region	10	Board	to	develop:	partner	referral	processes	and	evaluate,	
summarize	and	interpret	partner	usage	and	benefit	within	one-stop	system	in	areas	
such	as:	a)	coordination	of	services;	b)	traffic	and	volume	services;	c)	collection	of	data	
reflecting	partner	usage	of	system	and	associated	outcomes	

12. Other	duties	as	determined	necessary	to	enhance	the	WorkOne	One-Stop	Partner	
System	and	as	defined	in	proposal	attached	as	Exhibit	2.	



  7 

	

	

	

	

	

General Technical needs: 

• Ability	to	interpret	and	utilize	federal,	state	and	local	regulations	and	policy	and	
procedure	manuals	for	WIOA	program	operation,	client	tracking	mechanisms,	and	
performance	measures	

• Staff	must	have	the	ability	to	utilize	at	a	minimum	microsoft	computer	programs,	
various	websites	for	data	collection,	various	software	programs.	

• Staff	must	become	knowledgeable	of	WIOA	requirements,	state,	federal,	and	Board	
policies,	integrated	service	design	to	attain	WIOA	common	performance	goals,	state	
mandated	data	management	system	and/or	other	systems	implemented	as	identified	by	
the	DWD.	

• Staff	should	become	knowledgeable	of	partner	performance	goals	and	requirements	to	
align	partner	service	offerings	and	flow	for	WorkOne	Services.	

	

Required	linkages	with	other	systems	as	approved	by	these	systems	and	the	Board:	
WIOA	Required	Partners	

	
WIOA	outlines	specific	entities	who	fulfill	mandatory	roles	and	benefits	within	the	WorkOne	
system.These	entities	must	partner	together	to	improve	the	delivery	of	services	across	the	Region	
10	Workforce	System.	These	required	activities	and	the	mandatory	local	Region	10	partners	are	
included	below:	

	

Required	Activities	 Region	10	 Partners	

Programs	Authorized	Under	this	Title	(WIOA	
Title	I	Adult/DWD/Youth	programs)	

Region	10	Workforce	Board	 and	Competitively	
Procured	WIOA	Service	Provider	for	
Adult/DW/Youth	Services.	

Wagner-Peyser	 DWD	

Adult	Education	and	Literacy	 DWD	Adult	Education	Services	for	Region	10	
Currently	Under	Procurement.	

Vocational	Rehabilitation	 FSSA	
Title	V	of	the	Older	Americans	Act	 National	Able	

Postsecondary Career and Technical 
Education	(CTE)	(Perkins)	

Ivy	Tech	Community	College	

Community	Services	Block	Grant	 Community	Action	of	Southern	Indiana	

Employment and Training under U.S. 
Housing 
and	Urban	Development	(HUD)	

New	Albany	Housing	Authority	

Programs	Authorized	under	State	
Unemployment	Laws	

DWD	

TANF	E&T	(Title	IV	of	the	Social	Security	Act)	 FSSA	DFR	

Migrant	and	Seasonal	Farmworker	Program	
(National	Farmworker	Jobs	Program	(JFJP)	

Proteus	

Other	partner	agencies	as	identified	by	the	
Region	10	Workforce	Board.	

 

	
Other	partner	agencies	as	identified	by	the	Region	10	Workforce	Board.	



  8 

	

	

	

	

	

	

Required Statistics and Outcomes 

One-Stop	Operator	System	Measurements	
Region	10	Workforce	Board	intends	to	evaluate,	the	One-Stop	Operator	based	on	performance	
outcomes	and	outputs.	Region	10	Workforce	Board	has	not	finalized	all	performance	indicators	for	
the	One-Stop	Operator	and	will	do	so	in	conjunction	with	partners.	Some	initial	
baseline/recommended	metrics	output	indicators	include:	

• Traffic	volume	and	flow;	
• Coordination	of	services;	
• Regularity	and	volume	of	career	services	across	the	system;	
• Regularity	and	volume	of	referrals	among	required	partners;	and/or	
• Number	of	customers	co-enrolled	formally	by	two	or	more	partners	and	related	

outcomes	
• Develop	a	plan	with	partners	and	the	Region	10	Board	annually	to	establish	goals	and	

track	outcomes/achievements.	
• Regular	meetings	with	partners	in	the	WorkOne	System	and	documentation	of	

outcomes	from	meetings;	
• Development	of	mechanisms	for	tracking	partner	usage	of	the	WorkOne	System	and	

outcomes;	
• Assisting	Region	10	Workforce	Board	and	Partners	in	ensuring	One-Stop	Certification	is	

achieved.	
	

Region	10	Workforce	Board	will	work	with	partners	to	develop	indicators	believed	to	be	
appropriate	measures	for	determining	system	progress	and	effectiveness	among	partners	and	
providers	of	the	local	WorkOne	System.	

	
III. COMPENSATION.	Region	10	Workforce	Board,	Inc.	shall	pay	Contractor	in	accordance	

with	budget	schedule	outlined	in	Exhibit	1.	
IV. WORKONE	shall	provide	Contractor	at	no	charge	all	information,	data,	and	documents,	

available	and	necessary	for	the	carrying	out	of	services	under	this	agreement.	Region	10	
Workforce	Board,	Inc.	shall	cooperate	with	Contractor	in	every	way	possible	in	carrying	
out	the	scope	of	this	agreement.	

V. SUBCONTRACTING.	The	parties	agree	that	Contractor	shall	not	subcontract,	assign,	or	
delegate	any	portion	of	this	Agreement	or	the	services	to	be	performed	herein	without	
prior	written	approval	of	Region	10	Workforce	Board,	Inc..	In	the	event	Region	10	
Workforce	Board,	Inc.	approves	any	such	subcontracting,	assignment,	or	delegation,	
Contractor	shall	remain	solely	responsible	for	managing,	directing,	and	paying	the	
person	or	persons	to	whom	such	responsibilities	or	obligations	are	sublet,	assigned,	or	
delegated.	Region	10	Workforce	Board,	Inc.	shall	have	no	obligation	whatsoever	toward	
such	persons.	Contractor	shall	take	sole	responsibility	for	the	quality	and	quantity	of	
any	services	rendered	by	such	persons.	Any	consent	given	in	accordance	with	this	
provision	shall	not	be	construed	to	relieve	Contractor	of	any	responsibility	for	
performing	under	this	Agreement.	This	contract	may	not	be	assumed	or	transferred	

VI. MODIFICATION.	Region	10	Workforce	Board,	Inc.	and	Contractor	may	amend,	modify,	
or	extend	this	Agreement	consistent	with	applicable	laws	and	Region	10	Workforce	
Board,	Inc.	policies.	Such	modifications	shall	be	made	by	mutual	written	agreement	of	
the	parties.	Any	such	modification	may	pertain	to	one	or	more	of	the	provisions	of	this	
Agreement	without	affecting	the	other	provisions	of	this	Agreement.	

VII. TERMINATION.	In	the	event	that	the	services	of	Contractor	are	unsatisfactory	or	that	
support	rendered	by	Region	10	Workforce	Board,	Inc.	is	inadequate,	either	party	shall	
have	seven	(15)	business	days	after	delivery	of	written	notice	of	such	unsatisfactory	or	

	
	

	



  9 

	

	

	

	

	

	

inadequate	services	to	rectify	or	correct	the	problem.	If	either	party	fails	to	correct	the	
problem,	either	may	terminate	this	Agreement	with	thirty	(30)	calendar	day’s	notice	in	
writing	delivered	to	the	business	address	of	the	other	party.	Contractor	shall	be	
compensated	for	services	provided	to	the	date	such	termination	becomes	effective.	

VIII. Indemnity	and	Hold	Harmless:	Contractor	agrees	to	conduct	its	activities	pursuant	to	
this	agreement	so	as	to	not	endanger	any	person	and	to	indemnify,	defend	and	hold	
harmless	Region	10	Workforce	Board,	Inc.,	its	agents,	officers	and	employees	against	
any	and	all	claims,	demands	and	cause	of	action,	including	claims	for	personal	injury	
and/or	death,	damages	(including	damages	to	the	property),	cost	and	liabilities,	at	law	
or	inequity,	of	every	kind	and	nature	whatsoever	directly	or	proximately	resulting	from,	
arising	out	of,	or	caused	by	the	acts	or	omissions	of	Contractor,	its	officers,	agents,	
employees,	guests,	patrons	or	invitees	in	the	course	of	activities	pursuant	to	this	
agreement.	Contractor	shall,	at	Region	10	Workforce	Board’s	demand,	defend	at	its	own	
risk	and	expense,	including	but	not	limited	to	attorney's	fees,	any	and	all	suits,	actions,	
or	legal	proceedings	which	may	be	brought	against	Region	10	Workforce	Board,	its	
agents,	officers	or	employees	on	any	such	claims,	demands	or	causes	of	action	arising	
out	of	or	caused	by	the	acts	or	omissions	of	Subcontractor	pursuant	to	this	agreement.	
Subcontractor	shall	pay	and	satisfy	any	judgment	or	decree	which	may	be	rendered	
against	Region	10	Workforce	Board,	its	agents,	officers	or	employees	in	any	such	suit,	
action	or	legal	proceeding.	Subcontractor	shall	pay	for	any	and	all	damages	to	the	
property	of	the	Region	10	Workforce	Board	for	loss	or	theft	of	such	property,	done	or	
caused	by	Contractor,	its	officers,	agents,	employees,	guests	patrons	or	invitees.	

IX. CONFIDENTIALITY.	The	Contractor	will	abide	by	all	applicable	statutes,	regulations,	
directives	and	mandates	to	protect	the	privacy	rights	and	interests	of	individuals	who	
apply	for	employment	and	training	and	related	services.	The	Subcontractor	will	abide	
by	the	provisions	of	IC	22-4-19-6	and	IC	4-1-6-1	et	seq.	Subcontractor	recognizes	that	it	
is	subject	to	the	penalties	for	disclosure	of	protected	information	under	IC	5-14-3-l0.	

X. NOTICE.	Any	notice,	invoice,	order	or	other	correspondence	required	to	be	sent	under	
this	Agreement	shall	be	sent	to	the	addresses	outlined	in	the	first	paragraph	of	this	
Agreement.	

XI. APPLICABLE	LAWS.	This	Agreement	shall	be	governed	by	the	laws	of	the	Federal	
Government	of	the	United	States,	State	of	Indiana,	as	the	same	shall	be	in	force	and	
effect	upon	the	date	this	Agreement	is	executed.	

XII. NON-DISCRIMINATION.	Contractor	and	its	subcontractors	shall	not	discriminate	against	
any	employee	or	applicant	for	employment	to	be	employed	in	the	performance	of	this	
Agreement,	with	respect	to	firing,	tenure,	terms,	conditions,	or	privileges	of	
employment,	or	any	matter	directly	or	indirectly	related	to	employment	because	of	race,	
religion,	color,	sex,	age,	handicap,	disability,	national	origin,	ancestry,	disabled	veteran	
status,	or	Vietnam-era	veteran	status.	Breach	of	this	section	shall	constitute	a	material	
breach	of	this	Agreement.	

XIII. NECESSARY	DOCUMENTATION.	Contractor	certifies	that	it	will	furnish	WORKONE,	if	
requested,	any	and	all	documentation,	certification,	authorization,	license,	permit	or	
registration	required	by	the	laws	or	rules	and	regulations	of	units	of	local,	state,	and	
federal	government.	Contractor	further	certifies	that	it	is	now	in	and	will	maintain	its	
good	standing	with	governmental	agencies	and	will	maintain	its	license,	permit,	
registration,	authorization,	or	certification	in	force	during	the	term	of	this	Agreement.	
Failure	of	Contractor	to	comply	with	this	paragraph	constitutes	a	material	breach	of	this	
Agreement.	



  10 

	

	

	

	

	

	

XIV. WAIVER.	Region	10	Workforce	Board’s	delay	or	inaction	in	pursuing	its	remedies	as	set	
forth	in	this	Agreement,	or	available	by	law,	shall	not	operate	as	a	waiver	of	any	of	
Region	10	Workforce	Board’s	rights	or	remedies	contained	herein	or	available	by	law.	

XV. PERSONAL	LIABILITY.	Nothing	in	this	Agreement	shall	be	construed	as	creating	any	
personal	liability	on	the	part	of	any	officer,	director,	agency,	or	employee	of	Region	10	
Workforce	Board	or	any	public	body,	which	may	be	a	party	to	this	Agreement.	

XVI. SEVERABILITY.	If	any	provision	of	this	Agreement	is	held	to	be	invalid,	illegal,	or	
unenforceable	by	a	court	of	competent	jurisdiction,	the	provision	shall	be	stricken,	and	
all	other	provisions	of	this	Agreement,	which	can	operate	independently	of	such	
stricken	provision,	shall	continue	in	full	force	and	effect.	

XVII. CONFLICT	OF	INTEREST.	Contractor	certifies	and	warrants	to	Region	10	Workforce	
Board	that	neither	it	nor	any	of	its	agents,	representatives,	or	employees	who	will	
participate	in	performance	of	any	services	required	by	this	Agreement	have	or	will	have	
any	conflict	of	interest,	directly	or	indirectly	with	Region	10	Workforce	Board.	

XVIII. LACK	OF	FUNDING.	Notwithstanding	any	other	provision	of	this	Agreement,	if	funds	for	
the	continued	fulfillment	of	this	Agreement	by	Region	10	Workforce	Board	at	any	time	
are	not	forthcoming	or	insufficient,	through	failure	of	the	Indiana	State	Dept.	of	
Workforce	Development	to	appropriate	funds	or	otherwise,	then	Region	10	Workforce	
Board	shall	have	the	right	to	terminate	this	Agreement	without	penalty	by	giving	not	
less	than	thirty	(30)	days	prior	written	notice	documenting	the	lack	of	funding,	in	which	
instance,	unless	otherwise	agreed	to	by	both	parties.	

XIX. AMENDMENTS.	This	Agreement	may	be	amended,	modified,	renewed,	or	supplemented	
only	by	a	written	instrument	signed	by	each	of	the	parties	hereto,	and	any	such	
amendment	may	pertain	to	one	or	more	of	the	provisions	of	this	Agreement	without	
affecting	the	other	provisions	of	this	Agreement.	

XX. DEATH	AND	DISABILITY.	It	is	hereby	agreed	by	the	parties	hereto	that	the	work	
described	in	this	Agreement	to	be	performed	by	the	Contractor	is	a	personal	service,	
highly	professional	in	nature,	and	that	the	identity	of	the	individual	who	is	to	be	
personally	responsible	for	such	work	is	of	prime	importance	to	Region	10	Workforce	
Board.	The	parties	therefore	agree	that	in	the	event	of	the	death	or	disability	of	the	
Contractor,	Region	10	Workforce	Board	may,	at	its	discretion,	terminate	this	
Agreement,	and	make	its	own	new	agreement	with	any	other	party	for	completion	of	
the	work	herein	described.	

XXI. INTEGRATION.	This	Agreement	represents	the	entire	understanding	between	Region	10	
Workforce	Board	and	the	Contractor	and	supercedes	all	prior	negotiations,	
representations,	and/or	contracts,	either	written	or	oral.	

XXII. TAXES.	Contractor	agrees	that	it	is	an	independent	contractor	as	that	term	is	commonly	
used	and	is	not	an	employee	of	Region	10	Workforce	Board.	As	such,	the	Contractor	is	
solely	responsible	for	all	taxes	and	none	shall	be	withheld	from	the	sums	paid	to	the	
Contractor.	The	Contractor	acknowledges	that	it	is	not	insured	by	Region	10	Workforce	
Board	in	any	manner	for	any	loss	of	any	kind	whatsoever.	The	Contractor	has	no	
authority,	express	or	implied,	to	bind	or	obligate	Region	10	Workforce	Board	in	any	
way.	

XXIII. Drug-Free	Workplace	Certification:	The	Contractor	hereby	covenants	and	agrees	to	
make	a	good	faith	effort	to	provide	and	maintain	a	drug-free	workplace.	Contractor	will	
give	written	notice	to	the	WorkOne	within	ten	(10)	days	after	receiving	actual	notice	
that	an	employee	has	been	convicted	of	a	criminal	drug	violation	occurring	in	
Contractor’s	workplace.	False	certification	or	violation	of	the	certification	may	result	in	
sanctions	including,	but	not	limited	to,	suspension	of	subcontract	payments,	
termination	of	this	Agreement	and/or	debarment	of	contract	opportunities	with	the	



  11 

	

	

	

	

	

	

State	of	Indiana	for	up	to	three	(3)	years.	In	addition	to	the	provisions	of	the	above	
paragraphs,	if	the	total	amount	set	forth	in	this	Agreement	is	in	excess	of	$25,000.00,	
Subcontractor	hereby	further	agrees	that	this	Agreement	is	expressly	subject	to	the	
terms,	conditions	and	representations	of	the	following	Certification:	This	certification	is	
required	by	Executive	Order	No.	90-5,	April	12,	1990,	issued	by	the	Governor	of	Indiana.	
Pursuant	to	its	delegated	authority,	the	Indiana	Department	of	Administration	is	
requiring	the	inclusion	of	this	certification	in	all	Subcontracts	inclusive	of	funding	from	
the	State	of	Indiana	in	excess	of	$25,000.00.	No	award	shall	be	made,	and	purchase	
order	or	agreement,	the	total	amount	of	which	exceeds	$25,000.00,	shall	be	valid,	unless	
and	until	this	certification	has	been	fully	executed	by	the	Subcontractor	and	made	a	part	
of	the	Agreement.	The	Subcontractor	certifies	and	agrees	that	it	will	provide	a	drug-free	
workplace	by:	
a. publishing	and	providing	to	all	of	its	employees	a	statement	notifying	their	

employees	that	the	unlawful	manufacture,	distribution,	dispensing,	possession	or	
use	of	a	controlled	substance	is	prohibited	in	the	Subcontractor’s	workplace	and	
specifying	the	actions	that	will	be	taken	against	employees	for	violations	of	such	
prohibition;	and	

b. Establishing	a	drug-free	awareness	program	to	inform	their	employees	of	(1)	the	
dangers	of	drug	abuse	in	the	workplace;	(2)	the	Subcontractor’s	policy	of	
maintaining	a	drug-free	workplace;	(3)	any	available	drug	counseling,	rehabilitation,	
and	employee	assistance	programs;	and	(4)	the	penalties	that	may	be	imposed	upon	
an	employee	for	drug	abuse	violations	occurring	in	the	workplace.	

c. Notifying	all	employees	in	the	statement	required	by	subparagraph	(a)	above	that	as	
a	condition	of	continued	employment	the	employee	will	(1)	abide	by	the	terms	of	
the	statement;	and	(2)	notify	the	Subcontractor	of	any	criminal	drug	statute	
conviction	for	a	violation	occurring	in	the	workplace	no	later	than	five	(5)	days	after	
such	conviction;	

d. Notifying	in	writing	the	Region	10	Workforce	Board	within	ten	(10)	days	after	
receiving	notice	from	an	employee	under	subdivision	(c)(2)	above,	or	otherwise	
receiving	actual	notice	of	such	conviction;	

e. Within	thirty	(30)	days	after	receiving	notice	under	subdivision	(c)(2)	above	of	a	
conviction,	imposing	the	following	sanctions	or	remedial	measures	on	any	employee	
who	is	convicted	of	drug	abuse	violations	occurring	in	the	workplace:	

i. take	appropriate	personnel	action	against	the	employee,	up	to	and	including	
termination;	or	

ii. require	such	employee	to	satisfactorily	participate	in	a	drug	abuse	
assistance	or	rehabilitation	program	approved	for	such	purposes	by	a	
federal,	state	or	local	health,	law	enforcement,	or	other	appropriate	agency;	
and	

f. Making	a	good	faith	effort	to	maintain	a	drug-free	workplace	through	the	
implementation	of	subparagraphs	(a)	through	(e)	above.	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	



 

12 

	

	

	

	

	

	

IN	WITNESS	WHEREOF,	Region	10	Workforce	Board	and	Contractor,	by	their	respective	officers	
hereunto	duly	authorized,	have	executed	this	Agreement	on	the	dates	shown	below.	

	

Region	10	Workforce	Board,	Inc	 JobWorks	Inc	

By:	 By:	

Anthony	A.	Waterson	  

Date:	July	1,	2022	 Date:	 July	1,	2022	
	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	



 

13 

	

	

	

	

	

	

Exhibit 1 
 

 

Regional	Operator	Budget	

JobWorks,	Inc.	

	

Line Item Categories 
Total Annual 

Cost 

Salaries and Wages 45,488 

Fringe Benefits (includes single health care coverage) 19,720 

Staff Travel 3,117 

Insurance 225 

Other 1,450 

Total 70,000 



 

14 

Southern Indiana Works Preliminary PY22 Budget 

 

WDB Staff  

Salaries/Benefits 789,069 

Travel 18,050 

Communications 4,500 

Supplies/Postage/Equipment 15,275 

Printer/Copier 3,500 

Audit/Tax 14,000 

Insurance 11,000 

Other/Outreach 25,000 

Payroll Expense 3,500 

NAWB Conf./Other 6,000 

Contracts - Digital Outreach/Resource Developm 33,750 
 923,644 

 

Other Cost  

Fiscal Agent 110,400 

WorkOne 346,000 

Continuous Improvement 37,000 

Next Level Jobs 97,000 

Service Provider 2,471,111 

One-Stop Operator  70,000 

Total Staff Cost 3,131,511 

 
Carry-in/unoblgated  223,296 

Total Carry-in 223,296 

 
Total Expenses & Carry-in 4,278,451 

 
Funding Sources  

WIOA Allocation 1,247,107 

WIOA Carry-in 646,000 

JAG 310,983 

Strada 56,250 

PRETS 76,800 

Business Consultant 120,000 

RESEA 187,925 

WIOA Performance Grant 476,977 

Workforce Ready Grant 170,000 

Infrustructure / Partnership Agreement 165,000 

Employment Recovery 440,635 

Next Level Jobs 97,000 

Rural Healthcare 212,357 

Duke Grant/CenterPoint 59,975 

Hands Up  11,442 

Funding Total 4,278,451 

 
Unobligaed 0 

 
Service Provider breakdown:  

WIOA 1,010,328 

JAG 275,901 

Strada 56,250 

PRETS 76,800 

RESEA 162,293 

WIOA Performance Grant 75,000 

Workforce Ready Grant 153,000 

Employment Recovery Grant 419,000 

Rural Healthcare 192,357 

CenterPoint/Duke 38,740 

Hands Up/AT&T  11,442 
 2,471,111 



 

15 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Southern Indiana Works 
Board Meeting Minutes 
May 17, 2022 
Via Zoom 2125 State St., New Albany, IN 47150: Multi-Media Room 

 
In Attendance: Ima Abbott, Mike Barnes, Missy Binkley, Brian Churchill, Wendy Dant 
Chesser, Craig Engleman, Todd Garrison, Travis Haire, Louis Jensen, Brian Keith, Konnie 
McCollum, Ryan Pavlina, Paul Perkins, Tammy Pollock, Tony Toran, Darrell Voelker, Craig 
White 

 
Others in attendance: Tony Waterson, Carla Crowe, Trudie Dillman, Kimberly Cyrus, 
Jonathan Ziegler, David Hughes, Jack Coffman, Jessica Lodermeier 

 

Serena Davis was requested to call attendance as listed above. 
 

Darrell Voelker, Treasurer, called the meeting to order and opened the floor for any to declare 
a conflict of interest. There was none. 

 

Consent Agenda: The consent agenda was presented, and Mr. Voelker asked if any items 
should be requested for discussion in further detail. None noted. A motion was made to approve 
the consent agenda by Travis Haire, second by Paul Perkins. Motion carried. 

 
Business Items 

• April 2022 Financial Report by Carla Crowe: 

Carla reviewed our Grant Schedule/Budget from July 2021 through June 2022. Net 
funding added totals $7,258,776. Expenses and Planned Carry-Over added $6,295,559. 
Review of Revenue and Expense to Total Budget Program Year 2021 shows our 
Benchmark at 83%, our service provider at 39%, total Regional Expenses at 41% with 
two months left of the year. Question asked and answered: Rapid Response will expire 
in March, but we will have a new grant by then. Mike Embry has applied for extension on 
Employment Recovery and Disaster Recovery Grants. If approved, we will have another 
year of participation in those. A motion to approve the financial report was made by 
Brian Keith motion second by Craig White. Motion carried. 

• WIOA Adult, DW, Youth Services Provider Contract: 

Tony explained that in March JobWorks provided a letter that they would no longer be 
our service provider at the end of their current contract. SIW immediately sent out an 
RFP and completed the processes needed to procure a new provider. Eckerd Connects 
was reviewed and scored at 88% by a select committee including Tony Waterson, 
Shane Stuber, Todd Garrison, Darrell Voelker, and Donna Cassidy and now recommend 
that the Board vote them in as our next WIOA Adult Dislocated Worker, Youth, JAG and 
RESEA service provider. As a company they are based in Florida, but they operate all 
over the country and have bases in several areas close to us, Indianapolis being the 
closest. They bring many of their own resources, including Motivation Interviewing 
Strategy, Eckerd Professional Staff Development, Network of Best Practices, and 
missions to help with advancing our community. The question was raised about Eckerd’s 
plan to keep current employees. Discussion ensued regarding the budget and 



 

16 

 
 
 
 
 

 

ability/plans to keep all employees that are interested in staying. The recommendation 
includes a two-year contract with an optional one-year extension as well as a one-month 
transitional contract. Introduction of Jessica Lodermeier, Eckerd Regional Manager of 
Indiana and Ohio, and Jonathan Ziegler, Vice President of Operations. Paul Perkins 
made a motion to accept the committee’s recommendation of Eckerd Connects as our 
service provider. Brian Keith second. Motion carried. 

 
Committee & Workgroup Reports 

Impactful Advocacy—Lead by Darrell Voelker. Other members: Wendy Dant Chesser, Brian 
Churchill, and Tony Waterson. 
• Mission is to spread the word about what SIW does as an organization, especially 

among elected officials. Several projects are underway, including the following: 
• Fast 3—Tony will give a 30 second elevator speech, with news and tidbits about SIW at 

each board meeting. 
• Ambassador Took Kit—a folder created with four handouts that describe the mission 

and impact of SIW. These will be available at in-person board meetings. 
Stakeholder Engagement—Lead by Craig White. Other members: Ima Abbott, Travis Haire, 
and Konnie McCollum. 
• Mission of the Stakeholder Engagement Committee is to finds ways to better partner 

with each other and our community-based partners. 
o We have a list now of SIW partners and are trying to expand this list as we grow. 
o Discussed partnerships with Adult Education, New Albany Floyd County Schools, 

and Prosser. 
Sustained Funding—Lead by Shane Stuber. Other members: Craig Menke, Craig Engleman, 
and Missy Binkley. 
• Federal funding is down, as well as the state of Indiana dropping 10%, so our goal is to 

diversify our funding to continue to offer our many services. We have submitted potential 
foundation grants: 

o Subaru Foundation—to update our outdated phone systems at SIW. 
o Community Foundation of Southern Indiana—to support our Code Louisville 

program at the Jeffersonville Public Library. We would like to place a kiosk in the 
library to attract the many customers that come through daily, and to offer 
workshops and other career services at the library after hours. 

o Floyd County Caesar’s Foundation—Funds to replace the Digital Divide Grant, a 
grant that offers computers and tech services to those in need. The Digital Divide 
Grant expires soon, so we need to find replacement funding. 

• We have contracted Stephanie Wells to write grants for SIW: 
o Community Foundations Grant for Capacity Building 
o READI application finalization/partnering with River Ridge Learning Center, 

which is $2 million of that for SIW to provide a Comprehensive Career Center in 
River Ridge along with apprenticeship and other established programs. 

Board Relations—Lead by Todd Garrison. Other members: Tammy Pollock, Louie Jensen, 
Ryan Pavlina, Brian Keith, and Tony Waterson 
• The primary goal of this committee to help position board members to participate and 

connect and build a stronger board. Current projects: 
o Networking time being added to board meetings. 
o Include a brief narrative summary with meeting agendas. 
o Orientation and onboarding processes for new board members. 
o Mentor program for new board members. 
o Networking reception. 

 
 
 

 



 

17 

 
 
 
 
 

 

o Process for selecting new board members. 
o Developing an electronic newsletter for SIW. 
o Recognition for board member achievements. 
o Recommendation for the Executive Committee to review our by-laws regarding 

voting during virtual meetings. 
 

Discussion and Information 
SIW Updates 

• Fast 3 
o Rural Workforce Project: In partnership with Purdue. Targeting Crawford, 

Washington, and Scott counties. Helping individuals get skilled for remote work. 
o Prosser/Ivy Tech: Expanding training opportunities available to our community. 

Working on having courses scheduled out yearly such as Welding, CDL, 
Pharmacy Technician, Sterilization Technician, CNA, CNC Machine. We have 
hopes of starting scheduling services in the Mid-America Science Park. 

o INWBA—Our membership organization for the 12 regions of Indiana. Part of the 
mission for that organization is advocacy for education. They have procured an 
individual to be our state advocate, Stephanie Wells. 

• SIW and NAFCS Partnership 
o This is a joint effort between SIW and NAFCS through Prosser. Goals of this 

project are as follows, presented by David Hughes, SIW’s Continuing Education 
Coordinator: 1) Build the adult education curriculum. 2) Expand training 
opportunities. 3) Increase utilization of Prosser’s facilities. The plan for success 
involves building relationships, connecting Prosser graduates to public workforce 
development and professional services we offer at SIW, and expanding 
programs and classes offered. Future developments include an accelerated 
seven-week welding class, pharmacy tech, bricklayer’s apprenticeship, 
sterilization tech, CNA, automotive tech, CNC Machine, and cosmetology. Our 
goal is to run five accelerated programs per year with each program. 

o  
Other Business or Public Comment: 

• PY22 Officer Nomination Committee Appointment: 
o Darrell Voelker and Todd Garrison will co-chair, working with Tony and the 

Executive Committee, for officer nominations. There were no objections. 
 

Public Comment: 

• Question posed: With the need in various career sectors such as healthcare and 
manufacturing, do we have a career transition program? Answer: There is not a specific 
program, but SIW does have career exploration, and we prioritize underemployed 
individuals, helping them transition and pay for training in the high priority career fields. 
Along with 1SI and Adult Education, we are working to get the word out about the many 
resources available to those wish to transition careers. 

With no other business, meeting adjourned. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Serena Davis 

Administrative Assistant 



 

18 

 A B C D E 

1 SOUTHERN INDIANA WORKS    

2 Grant Schedule/Budget    

3 July 2021 through June 2022    

4      

5      

7   Approved Adjustment Recommended 

8 Funding    

9  DWD    

10  WIOA Adult 530,949 - 530,949 

11  WIOA Dislocated Worker 856,351 - 856,351 

12  WIOA Youth 452,571 - 452,571 

13  WIOA Admin 186,755 - 186,755 

14  Business Consultant 164,853 - 164,853 

15  JAG / Strata JAG / PRETS 579,135 - 579,135 

16  RESEA 443,105 - 443,105 

17  Community Impact Grant 472,827 - 472,827 

18  Disaster Revoery Grant 234,639 - 234,639 

19  Workforce Ready Grant(CARES) 138,848 - 138,848 

20  Employment Recovery Grant 630,376 - 630,376 

21  Registered Apprenticeship 98,166 - 98,166 

22  Rapid Response (COVID2110) 42,712 - 42,712 

23  Next Level Jobs Employer Training 970,000 - 970,000 

24  WIOA Performance 520,000 - 520,000 

25  Workforce Ready Grant 300,000 - 300,000 

26  Infastructure Agreement 154,880 - 154,880 

27  Other  -  

28  UW Literacy Carry-Over 63,244 - 63,244 

29  Harrison County Hands Up Carry-Over 2,766 - 2,766 

30  Washington County Hands Up Carry-Over 2,230 - 2,230 

31  Clark/Floyd CFSI Hands Up 5,123 - 5,123 

32  AT&T Aspire Grant 2,922 - 2,922 

33  Scott County EDC 6,256 - 6,256 

34  Lilly Endowment 61,173 - 61,173 

35  CenterPoint Energy Foundation 30,000 - 30,000 

36  Rural Healthcare Grant 250,000 - 250,000 

37  Southern Indiana AMP Partnership 51,000 - 51,000 

38  Other 7,894 - 7,894 

39  Total Funds 7,258,776 - 7,258,776 

40      

41 Expenses and Planned Carry-Over    

42  WDB Staff and Other Board Costs 826,274 - 826,274 

43  Service Provider - JobWorks/Eckerd 3,795,201 20,708 3,815,909 

44  Fiscal Agent - Crowe LLP 102,204 - 102,204 

45  Continuous Improvement 37,000 - 37,000 

46  Direct Client Services - Next Level Jobs 873,000 - 873,000 

47  WorkOne Costs 324,930 - 324,930 

48  Total Costs 5,958,609 20,708 5,979,317 

49 1 Planned Carry-Out or Unobligated 1,300,167 (20,708) 1,279,459 

50      

51  Total Expenses and Planned Carry-Over 7,258,776 - 7,258,776 

52      

53  Balance - - - 

54      

55 1 Planned Carry-Out or Unobligated Detail:    

56  WIOA Carry-over 153,434 - 153,434 

57  Unobligated 1,083,489 (20,708) 1,062,781 

58  United Way Literacy 63,244 - 63,244 

59   1,300,167 (20,708) 1,279,459 

60      



 

19 

 E F G H I J K L 

14 SOUTHERN INDIANA WORKS 

15 Revenue & Expense to Total Budget 
16 Program Year 2021 

17 Period Ended June 30, 2022 

18         

19         

20         

21  Current    Total   

22  Period  Year to date  Annual Total Remaining 

23 Description Actual  Actual  Budget % used Budget 

24         

25 Grant income 451,308  3,453,351     

26 Contribution income -  -     

27 Other income (Rent, Interest) 11,581  18,618     

28         

29 Total Revenue 462,889  3,471,969     

30         

31 WDB Expenses 84,043  722,117  826,274 87% 104,157 

32         

33 Service Provider - Jobworks        

34 WIOA Adult 12,631  276,456  314,151 88% 37,695 

35 WIOA Dislocated Worker 6,397  100,801  235,176 43% 134,375 

36 WIOA Youth 24,158  271,685  318,049 85% 46,364 

37 WIOA Performance -  -  75,000 0% 75,000 

38 ASE Apprenticeship 100  700  80,000 1% 79,300 

39 Rapid Response -  12,635  28,000 45% 15,365 

40 Community Impact 4,482  83,240  350,848 24% 267,608 

41 JAG/Strada/PRETS 37,883  409,621  517,903 79% 108,282 

42 Disaster Recovery -  38,211  197,303 19% 159,092 

43 Employment Recovery 10,289  122,335  538,825 23% 416,490 

44 Workforce Ready/WRGCARES 112,628  206,383  352,402 59% 146,020 

45 RESEA 19,274  196,674  390,421 50% 193,747 

46 Rural Healthcare H1-B 1,248  30,530  194,975 16% 164,445 

47 AT&T Aspire -  1,165  2,920 40% 1,755 

48 Lilly Endowment -  37,428  61,100 61% 23,672 

49 CenterPoint Energy Foundation 1,050  6,300  20,000 32% 13,700 

50 Duke Energy Apprenticeship (1,157)  3,000  38,000 8% 35,000 

51 Hands Up -  -  10,128 0% 10,128 

52 Service Provider - Jobworks Total 228,982  1,797,164  3,725,201 48% 1,928,038 

53         

54 Service Provider - Eckerd Youth Alternative, Inc. 15,644  15,644  20,708 76% 5,064 

55         

56 One-Stop Operator - Jobworks 2,805  65,348  70,000 93% 4,652 

57         

58 Fiscal Agent - Crowe 8,517  102,204  102,204 100% - 

59         

60 Continuous Improvement 5,063  27,169  37,000 73% 9,831 

61         

62 Direct Client Services - NLJ 99,995  503,012  873,000 58% 369,988 

63         

64 Work One 15,762  334,976  324,930 103% (10,046) 

65         

66       
5,979,317 

  

67 Total Regional Expenses 460,810  3,567,633  60% 2,411,684 

68         

69 Total Under/(Over) 2,079  (95,664)     

70         

71 Notes:        

72         

73 1) Benchmark % assumes equal spending throughout the year. Use as guide only.     

74 2) WDB budget includes management personnel costs, audit, liability insurance, meeting expense, and outreach. 

75 3) Work One budget includes Computer Services Contract and WDB portion of costs only.     

76         



 

20 

 A B C D E 

1 SOUTHERN INDIANA WORKS    

2 Grant Schedule/Budget    

3 July 2022 through June 2023    

4      

5      

7   Approved Adjustment Recommended 

8 Funding    

9  DWD    

10  WIOA Adult 594,985 - 594,985 

11  WIOA Dislocated Worker 899,493 - 899,493 

12  WIOA Youth 362,705 - 362,705 

13  WIOA Admin 157,732 - 157,732 

14  Business Consultant 120,000 - 120,000 

15  JAG 88,649 275,000 363,649 

16  RESEA 190,934 292,963 483,897 

17  Community Impact Grant 287,221 - 287,221 

18  Employment Recovery Grant 463,131 - 463,131 

19  Registered Apprenticeship 97,363 - 97,363 

20  Next Level Jobs Employer Training 1,016,746 - 1,016,746 

21  WIOA Performance 475,962 131,400 607,362 

22  Workforce Ready Grant 173,505 - 173,505 

23  Infastructure Agreement 146,672 (5,492) 141,180 

24  Other  -  

25  UW Literacy Carry-Over 63,244 - 63,244 

26  Harrison County Hands Up Carry-Over 2,766 - 2,766 

27  Washington County Hands Up Carry-Over 2,230 - 2,230 

28  Clark/Floyd CFSI Hands Up 5,123 - 5,123 

29  AT&T Aspire Grant 1,755 - 1,755 

30  Scott County EDC 6,256 - 6,256 

31  CenterPoint Energy Foundation/Duke 21,730 - 21,730 

32  Rural Healthcare Grant 216,223 - 216,223 

33  Duke Energy 46,074 (0) 46,074 

34  Community Foundation of Southern Indiana - 5,000 5,000 

35  Unresticted 14,475 9,078 23,553 

36  Total Funds 5,454,974 707,948 6,162,923 

37      

38 Expenses and Planned Carry-Over    

39  WDB Staff and Other Board Costs 923,644 51,000 974,644 

40  Service Provider - Eckerd 2,637,629 306,001 2,943,630 

41  One-Stop Operator - JobWorks 70,000 - 70,000 

42  Fiscal Agent - Crowe LLP 110,400 - 110,400 

43  Continuous Improvement 37,000 - 37,000 

44  Direct Client Services - Next Level Jobs 884,908 - 884,908 

45  WorkOne Costs 346,000 - 346,000 

46  Total Costs 5,009,581 357,001 5,366,582 

47 1 Planned Carry-Out or Unobligated 445,393 350,947 796,341 

48      

49  Total Expenses and Planned Carry-Over 5,454,974 707,948 6,162,923 

50      

51  Balance - - - 

52      

53 1 Planned Carry-Out or Unobligated Detail:    

54  WIOA Carry-over 179,480 - 179,480 

55  Unobligated 251,432 302,185 553,617 

56  United Way Literacy - 63,244 63,244 

57   430,912 365,429 796,341 

58      



 

21 

 E F G H I J K L 

14 SOUTHERN INDIANA WORKS 

15 Revenue & Expense to Total Budget 
16 Program Year 2022 

17 Period Ended August 31, 2022 

18         

19         

20         

21  Current    Total   

22  Period  Year to date  Annual Total Remaining 

23 Description Actual  Actual  Budget % used Budget 

24         

25 Grant income 330,738  555,216     

26 Contribution income 4,700  4,700     

27 Other income (Rent, Interest) 3,982  3,982     

28         

29 Total Revenue 339,420  563,898     

30         

31 WDB Expenses 68,931  125,824  974,644 13% 848,820 

32         

33 Service Provider - Eckerd        

34 WIOA Adult 15,233  27,858  483,406 6% 455,548 

35 WIOA Dislocated Worker 27,654  51,462  419,656 12% 368,194 

36 WIOA Youth 10,629  21,651  222,033 10% 200,382 

37 WIOA Performance 9,443  9,443  133,500 7% 124,057 

38 ASE Apprenticeship -  -  94,486 0% 94,486 

39 Community Impact 5,682  5,682  267,607 2% 261,925 

40 JAG 32,978  49,925  326,340 15% 276,415 

41 Employment Recovery -  -  424,650 0% 424,650 

42 Workforce Ready 48,755  88,429  146,020 61% 57,591 

43 RESEA 10,770  21,486  161,284 13% 139,798 

44 Rural Healthcare H1-B -  -  206,970 0% 206,970 

45 AT&T Aspire -  -  1,755 0% 1,755 

46 CenterPoint Energy Foundation -  -  12,730 0% 12,730 

47 Duke Energy Apprenticeship -  -  33,074 0% 33,074 

48 Hands Up -  -  10,119 0% 10,119 

49 Service Provider - Eckerd Total 161,144  275,937  2,943,630 9% 2,667,693 

50         

51 One-Stop Operator - Jobworks 5,342  19,679  70,000 28% 50,321 

52         

53 Fiscal Agent - Crowe 9,200  18,400  110,400 17% 92,000 

54         

55 The CICenter 1,519  6,075  37,000 16% 30,925 

56         

57 Direct Client Services - NLJ/Apprenticeships 57,440  57,440  884,908 6% 827,468 

58         

59 Work One 25,998  51,567  346,000 15% 294,433 

60         

61       
5,366,582 

  

62 Total Regional Expenses 329,574  554,922  10% 4,811,660 

63         

64 Total Under/(Over) 9,846  8,976     

65         

66 Notes:        

67         

68 1) Benchmark % assumes equal spending throughout the year. Use as guide only.     

69 2) WDB budget includes management personnel costs, audit, liability insurance, meeting expense, and outreach. 

70 3) Work One budget includes Computer Services Contract and WDB portion of costs only.    

71         



Page 1 of 3 

 

22 

 

  

 

 

 

SOC 

 

Occupation 

 

2021 Jobs 

 

2031 Jobs 
2021-2031 

Openings 

Pct. 25 

Hourly 

Earnings 

Median Hourly 

Earnings 

 

Typical Entry Level Education 

Work 

Experience 

Required 

 

Typical On-The-Job Training 

Business Sector 

13-2011 Accountants and Auditors 4,645 4,679 4,193 $26.95 $ 30.60 Bachelor's degree None None 

43-3031 Bookkeeping, Accounting, and Auditing 

Clerks 

6,537 6,083 7,019 $16.96 $ 19.96 Some college, no degree None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

13-1028 Buyers and Purchasing Agents 1,641 1,578 1,565 $23.03 $ 29.99 Bachelor's degree None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

13-1031 Claims Adjusters, Examiners, and Investigators 2,332 2,272 1,805 $23.38 $ 29.99 High school diploma or equivalent None Long-term on-the-job training 

13-1041 Compliance Officers 1,211 1,257 1,002 $28.78 $ 30.27 Bachelor's degree None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

43-4051 Customer Service Representatives 15,609 15,092 19,632 $14.21 $ 17.74 High school diploma or equivalent None Short-term on-the-job training 

43-6011 Executive Secretaries and Executive Administrative Assistants 1,512 1,258 1,492 $22.91 $ 29.28 High school diploma or equivalent Less than 5 

years 

None 

13-2098 Financial and Investment Analysts, Financial Risk Specialists, and Financial 

Specialists, All Other 

1,471 1,536 1,202 $27.10 $ 35.63 Bachelor's degree None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

43-4161 Human Resources Assistants, Except Payroll and Timekeeping 473 444 460 $17.57 $20.32 Associate's degree None None 

13-1071 Human Resources Specialists 2,888 3,060 2,979 $22.85 $ 29.20 Bachelor's degree None None 

43-4199 Information and Record Clerks, All Other  1,459 1,600 $16.95 $ 18.89 High school diploma or equivalent None Short-term on-the-job training 

43-9041 Insurance Claims and Policy Processing Clerks 2,653 2,653 2,580 $18.22 $ 22.43 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

41-3021 Insurance Sales Agents 3,381 3,720 3,567 $22.68 $ 26.35 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

43-4111 Interviewers, Except Eligibility and Loan 1,305 1,262 1,597 $14.63 $ 17.74 High school diploma or equivalent None Short-term on-the-job training 

43-4131 Loan Interviewers and Clerks 890 979 931 $17.81 $ 22.53 High school diploma or equivalent None Short-term on-the-job training 

13-2072 Loan Officers 1,512 1,587 1,278 $18.63 $ 30.15 Bachelor's degree None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

13-1111 Management Analysts 2,763 2,958 2,786 $29.16 $ 38.17 Bachelor's degree Less than 5 

years 

None 

13-1161 Market Research Analysts and Marketing Specialists 2,467 2,860 2,988 $22.83 $ 29.21 Bachelor's degree None None 

43-9199 Office and Administrative Support Workers, All Other 1,009 1,013 1,143 $16.95 $ 19.52 High school diploma or equivalent None Short-term on-the-job training 

43-9061 Office Clerks, General 13,178 12,532 14,829 $14.02 $ 17.48 High school diploma or equivalent None Short-term on-the-job training 

15-2031 Operations Research Analysts 593 690 516 $23.52 $ 29.72 Bachelor's degree None None 

43-4151 Order Clerks 600 507 591 $13.93 $ 15.65 Some college, no degree None Short-term on-the-job training 

41-2022 Parts Salespersons 1,006 970 1,203 $13.56 $ 17.85 No formal educational credential None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

13-2052 Personal Financial Advisors 926 993 767 $29.90 $ 45.71 Bachelor's degree None Long-term on-the-job training 

13-1198 Project Management Specialists and Business Operations Specialists, All 

Other 

5,469 5,663 4,224 $24.40 $ 32.49 Bachelor's degree None None 

27-3031 Public Relations Specialists 696 742 699 $20.75 $ 29.53 Bachelor's degree None None 

41-9022 Real Estate Sales Agents 551 593 538 $14.69 $ 21.62 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

41-3091 Sales Representatives of Services, Except Advertising, Insurance, Financial 

Services, and Travel 

3308 3470 3999 $18.65 $ 25.44 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

40-4012 Sales Representatives, Wholesale and Manufacturing, Except Technical and 

Scientific Products 

6,809 6,851 6,906 $18.51 $ 29.05 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

41-4011 Sales Representatives, Wholesale and Manufacturing, Technical and 

Scientific Products 

1,220 1,283 1,297 $23.77 $ 37.42 Bachelor's degree None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

41-6014 Secretaries and Administrative Assistants, Except Legal, Medical, and 

Executive 

8,106 7,363 8,327 $15.69 $ 18.13 High school diploma or equivalent None Short-term on-the-job training 

41-3031 Securities, Commodities, and Financial Service Sales Agents 1,360 1,319 1,152 $18.10 $ 23.55 Bachelor's degree None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

43-5071 Shipping, Receiving, and Inventory Clerks 4,553 4,280 4,328 $14.34 $ 17.57 High school diploma or equivalent None Short-term on-the-job training 

13-1151 Training and Development Specialists 1,603 1,685 1,584 

 

 

$22.62 

 

 

$ 29.20 Bachelor's degree Less than 5 

years 

None 



Page 1 of 3 

 

23 

 

SOC 

 

Occupation 

 

2021 Jobs 

 

2031 Jobs 
2021-2031 

Openings 

Pct. 25 

Hourly 

Earnings 

Median Hourly 

Earnings 

 

Typical Entry Level Education 

Work 

Experience 

Required 

 

Typical On-The-Job Training 

Construction Sector 

47-2051 Cement Masons and Concrete Finishers 700 642 634 $17.78 $ 19.67 No formal educational credential None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

17-2051 Civil Engineers 1,182 1,183 848 $36.85 $ 43.46 Bachelor's degree None None 

47-2061 Construction Laborers 3,793 3,748 3,836 $16.91 $ 18.23 No formal educational credential None Short-term on-the-job training 

13-1051 Cost Estimators 780 733 689 $23.82 $ 30.37 Bachelor's degree None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

49-9051 Electrical Power-Line Installers and Repairers 760 719 655 $23.07 $ 35.85 High school diploma or equivalent None Long-term on-the-job training 

49-2111 Electricians 3,659 3,772 3,936 $22.39 $ 28.55 High school diploma or equivalent None Apprenticeship 

49-9021 Heating, Air Conditioning, and Refrigeration Mechanics and Installers 2,026 2,000 1,932 $18.18 $ 23.14 Postsecondary nondegree award None Long-term on-the-job training 

49-9044 Millwrights 712 797 741 $24.84 $ 32.55 High school diploma or equivalent None Apprenticeship 

47-2073 Operating Engineers and Other Construction Equipment Operators 1,181 1,144 1,243 $22.62 $ 25.22 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

47-2152 Painters, Construction and Maintenance 612 574 527 $16.86 $ 18.38 No formal educational credential None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

Healthcare Sector 

47-2152 Plumbers, Pipefitters, and Steamfitters 2,480 2,452 2,544 $22.82 $ 28.94 High school diploma or equivalent None Apprenticeship 

29-2018 Clinical Laboratory Technologists and Technicians 1,341 1,629 1,282 $18.36 $ 29.47 Bachelor's degree None None 

31-9091 Dental Assistants 1,420 1,384 1,676 $17.67 $ 17.95 Postsecondary nondegree award None None 

29-1292 Dental Hygienists 1,084 1,054 693 $28.94 $ 36.06 Associate's degree None None 

29-2041 Emergency Medical Technicians and Paramedics 902 889 670 $14.11 $ 14.45 Postsecondary nondegree award None None 

29-2061 Licensed Practical and Licensed Vocational Nurses 3,190 3,338 2,604 $22.55 $ 23.07 Postsecondary nondegree award None None 

31-9092 Medical Assistants 3,763 4,335 5,300 $14.32 $ 17.35 Postsecondary nondegree award None None 

29-2098 Medical Dosimetrists, Medical Records Specialists, and Health Technologists 

and Technicians, All Other 

1,698 1,828 1,373 $15.90 $ 19.40 Postsecondary nondegree award None None 

43-6013 Medical Secretaries and Administrative Assistants 2,317 2,574 2,891 $14.34 $ 17.57 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

31-1131 Nursing Assistants 5,865 6,270 7,779 $13.94 $ 14.30 Postsecondary nondegree award None None 

29-2052 Pharmacy Technicians 3,701 3,835 2,835 $14.22 $ 17.48 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

31-9097 Phlebotomists 981 1,229 1,542 $14.47 $ 17.98 Postsecondary nondegree award None None 

31-2021 Physical Therapist Assistants 460 575 732 $18.54 $ 28.29 Associate's degree None None 

29-2034 Radiologic Technologists and Technicians 1,654 1,831 1,410 $23.45 $ 29.50 Associate's degree None None 

29-1141 Registered Nurses 15,475 17,266 10,367 $29.71 $ 30.52 Bachelor's degree None None 

29-1126 Respiratory Therapists 617 804 523 $24.16 $ 28.30 Associate's degree None None 

Information Technology Sector 

15-1299 Computer Occupations, All Other 1,046 1,126 868 $23.52 $ 29.81 Bachelor's degree None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

15-1211 Computer Systems Analysts 2,241 2,321 1,688 $29.97 $ 38.60 Bachelor's degree None None 

15-1232 Computer User Support Specialist 2,931 3,020 2,251 $18.22 $ 23.02 Some college, no degree None None 

15-1232 Information Security Analysts 475 571 551 $31.12 $ 40.92 Bachelor's degree Less than 5 

years 

None 

15-1244 Network and Computer Systems Administrators 1,195 1,225 815 $29.64 $ 36.62 Bachelor's degree None None 

15-1256 Software Developers and Software Quality Assurance Analysts and Testers 5,636 6,701 5,535 $34.66 $ 43.31 Bachelor's degree None None 

Advanced Manufacturing Sector 

15-1257 Web Developers and Digital Interface Designers 550 580 524 $25.31 $ 30.83 Associate's degree None None 

51-9124 Coating, Painting, and Spraying Machine Setters, Operators, and Tenders 704 798 846 $15.77 $ 18.74 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

51-9161 Computer Numerically Controlled Tool Operators 342 360 407 $18.08 $ 22.06 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

51-4031 Cutting, Punching, and Press Machine Setters, Operators, and Tenders, 

Metal, and Plastic 

2,667 2,674 2,813 $17.43 $ 18.45 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

51-2028 Electrical, Electronic, and Electromechanical Assemblers, Except Coil 

Winders, Tapers, and Finishers 

3,562 4,462 4,462 $14.16 $ 14.97 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

51-3092 Food Batchmakers 530 608 780 $14.77 $ 17.91 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

51-9198 Helpers - Production Workers 1,057 1,018 1,477 $14.15 $ 14.74 High school diploma or equivalent None Short-term on-the-job training 

17-2112 Industrial Engineers 1,834 2,112 1,515 $36.54 $ 38.12 Bachelor's degree None None 

49-9041 Industrial Machinery Mechanics 2,024 2,436 2,318 $22.77 $ 28.90 High school diploma or equivalent None Long-term on-the-job training 

51-9061 Inspectors, Testers, Sorters, Samplers, and Weighers 3,383 3,120 3,889 $14.82 $ 18.09 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

49-9099 Installation, Maintenance, and Repair Workers, All Other 649 688 728 $17.81 $ 22.05 High school diploma or equivalent None Long-term on-the-job training 

51-4041 Machinists 1,413 1,560 1,689 $18.23 $ 22.22 High school diploma or equivalent None Long-term on-the-job training 

49-9071 Maintenance and Repair Workers, General 6,173 6,350 6,119 $17.22 $ 22.08 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

17-2141 Mechanical Engineers 1,140 1,322 904 $31.08 $ 38.12 Bachelor's degree None None 

51-2098 Miscellaneous Assemblers and Fabricators 14,409 15,329 16,994 $16.72 $ 18.45 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

 

 

Page 2 of 3 



Page 3 of 3 

 

24 

 

SOC 

 

Occupation 

 

2021 Jobs 

 

2031 Jobs 
2021-2031 

Openings 

Pct. 25 

Hourly 

Earnings 

Median Hourly 

Earnings 

 

Typical Entry Level Education 

Work 

Experience 

Required 

 

Typical On-The-Job Training 

51-9023 Mixing and Blending Machine Setters, Operators, and Tenders 540 525 605 $17.32 $ 18.60 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

51-4072 Molding, Coremaking, and Casting Machine Setters, Operators, and Tenders, 

Metal and Plastic 

1,048 961 1,032 $14.20 $ 17.86 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

51-4081 Multiple Machine Tool Setters, Operators, and Tenders, Metal and Plastic 1,059 1,232 1,350 $17.48 $ 20.31 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

51-9111 Packaging and Filling Machine Operators and Tenders 2,183 2,224 2,490 $14.46 $ 18.13 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

43-5061 Production, Planning, and Expediting Clerks 1,809 1,920 2,009 $18.16 $ 23.10 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

51-4121 Welders, Cutters, Solderers, and Brazers 2,035 2,286 2,547 $18.23 $ 22.14 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

Transportation & Logistics Sector 

49-3011 Aircraft Mechanics and Service Technicians 1,231 1,338 1,162 $23.54 $ 35.38 Postsecondary nondegree award None None 

53-2011 Airline Pilots, Copilots, and Flight Engineers 537 569 632 $116.19 $121.95 Bachelor's degree Less than 5 

years 

Moderate-term on-the-job training 

49-3021 Automotive Body and Related Repairers 532 509 492 $15.86 $ 21.74 High school diploma or equivalent None Long-term on-the-job training 

49-3023 Automotive Service Technicians and Mechanics 2,788 2,745 2,798 $14.42 $ 19.03 Postsecondary nondegree award None Short-term on-the-job training 

43-3021 Billing and Posting Clerks 2,456 2,440 2,564 $17.09 $ 18.13 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

49-3031 Bus and Truck Mechanics and Diesel Engine Specialists 1,507 1,522 1,439 $20.58 $ 23.13 High school diploma or equivalent None Long-term on-the-job training 

53-3052 Bus Drivers, Transit and Intercity 701 734 871 $18.62 $ 23.79 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

43-5011 Cargo and Freight Agents 1,377 1,531 1,590 $18.27 $ 18.29 High school diploma or equivalent None Short-term on-the-job training 

43-5032 Dispatchers, Except Police, Fire, and Ambulance 1,106 1,099 1,043 $17.95 $ 20.02 High school diploma or equivalent None Moderate-term on-the-job training 

53-3032 Heavy and Tractor-Trailer Truck Drivers 10,580 10,375 11,768 $18.89 $ 23.17 Postsecondary nondegree award None Short-term on-the-job training 

53-7051 Industrial Truck and Tractor Operators 3,251 3,674 4,297 $16.99 $ 17.93 No formal educational credential None Short-term on-the-job training 

53-7062 Laborers and Freight, Stock, and Material Movers, Hand 32,002 32,501 44,057 $13.12 $ 14.82 No formal educational credential None Short-term on-the-job training 

53-3033 Light Truck Drivers 6,538 6,674 7,629 $16.28 $ 22.04 High school diploma or equivalent None Short-term on-the-job training 

13-1081 Logisticians 547 723 727 $23.31 $ 29.97 Bachelor's degree None None 

53-3058 Passenger Vehicle Drivers, Except Bus Drivers, Transit and Intercity 2,365 2,455 2,904 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

$13.57 $ 19.56 High school diploma or equivalent None Short-term on-the-job training 



Page 3 of 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Southern Indiana Works Eligibility and Participant Payment Criteria 

 
TITLE: Eligibility and Participant Payment Criteria: Wagner-Peyser, Adults, 

Dislocated Workers, Youth, Trade Adjustment Assistance and Veterans under 

the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA) 

 

ISSUE DATE: April 1, 2020 

 

REVISED DATE: Mar 26, 2021; July 1, 2021; Oct 15, 2021, Dec 14, 2021, Mar. 8, 2022, September 20, 
2022 

 

Purpose 

• To provide guidance on the Priority of Service Requirements for WIOA Title I Adult Participants 

• To provide eligibility criteria for Wagner Peyser, WIOA programs (adult, dislocated worker, and youth), TAA and 
Veteran programs 

• To define excludable income when calculating “family income” for determination of low-income status for WIOA 
Adult Priority and WIOA Youth Eligibility. 

• To provide data validation reporting elements required for WIOA programs. 

• To provide guidance on services available and reporting requirements for WIOA Adult. Dislocated Worker 
and Youth program. 

• To provide eligibility criteria for Training Services for WIOA Adult, Dislocated Worker, and Youth. 

References 

• DWD Policy 2019-04 Change 1 WIOA Title I Adult Priority of Service 

• DWD Policy 2017-03 Youth Eligibility 

• DWD Policy 2017-09 Guidance Related to Individual Training Account Funding 

• DWD Policy 2021-03 WIOA Title I Adult and Dislocated Worker Program Eligibility 

• DWD Technical Assistance 2021-20 Income Definition of Family for Adult and Dislocated Program Eligibility 

• ETA-DOL TEGL 19-16, Attachment II Guidance on Services provided through the Adult and 
Dislocated Worker Programs under the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act 

Background 
Southern Indiana Works is the grant recipient of the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act funding for the region. 
Southern Indiana Works is required to comply and enforce Federal Regulations and Indiana Dept. of Workforce 
Development policies regarding criteria for participants enrolled in WIOA Title 1, Veterans, Wagner-Peyser and TAA 
Programs. The Board reserves the right to modify or suspend policies at their discretion. 

Required Action 
All Southern Indiana Works staff must adhere to this policy. 

Additional Information 
Questions regarding this policy should be directed to info@soinworks.com 

 
 
 
 
 25



 
26 

Table of Contents 
 

SECTION 1: Adult Priority of Service .................................................................................................................................. 3 

Priority of Service Groups and Eligibility .................................................................................................................................... 3 

Veterans and Adult Priority ....................................................................................................................................................... 4 

SECTION 2: Eligibility Determination and Documentation Requirements ......................................................................... 6 

Eligibility Requirements for Wagner-Peyser, Title I WIOA Adult, Dislocated Worker, TAA, and Veterans ................................. 6 

Eligibility Requirements for In and Out of School Youth ......................................................................................................... 13 

WIOA Youth Requires Additional Assistance Definition ......................................................................................................... 24 

WIOA Youth 14 Program Elements ....................................................................................................................................... 26 

WIO Youth Low-Income Determination ................................................................................................................................. 32 

Eligibility to Work in the United States ................................................................................................................................... 36 

Lists of Acceptable I-9 Documents ........................................................................................................................................ 37 

Selective Service ................................................................................................................................................................... 38 

SECTION 3: Enrollment, Services and Exit ....................................................................................................................... 39 

Program Exit ......................................................................................................................................................................... 40 

SECTION 4: Assessments ................................................................................................................................................... 41 

SECTION 5: Training Services ............................................................................................................................................ 44 

SECTION 6: Supportive Services ...................................................................................................................................... 47 

WIOA Youth Incentives ......................................................................................................................................................... 50 

SECTION 7: Work Experience – Youth/Adults .................................................................................................................. 51 

Administrative Provisions ...................................................................................................................................................... 52 

SECTION 8: Data Validation Documentation and Reporting Requirements ..................................................................... 53 

ATTACHMENT A – REQUIRED FORMS 

Dislocated Worker Eligibility Checklist 

Family Income Worksheet 



 
27 

Section 1: Adult Priority of Service 
 

Adult Priority of Service 
WIOA focuses on serving “individuals with barriers to employment” and seeks to ensure this population has increased 
access to quality services and opportunities for employment, education, training, and support. To prioritize services for 
those who have the most need for and who would benefit from employment and training services, WIOA sec.134(c)(3)(E) 
identifies three groups with barriers to employment and requires priority be given to these individuals. Priority of service 
must be given to public assistance recipients, other low-income individuals, and individuals who are basic skills deficient 
when providing individualized career services and training services using WIOA Title I Adult program funds. 
This priority requirement must be followed in the local area regardless of the amount of funds available for providing 
services. Veterans and eligible spouses of veterans continue to receive priority of service for all job training programs 
funded by the Department of Labor (DOL), including WIOA programs. 

Priority for the WIOA Title I Adult program MUST be provided in the following order: 
1. Veterans and eligible spouses who are also recipients of public assistance, other low-income individuals, or 

individuals who are basic skills deficient. 
2. Individuals who are not veterans or eligible spouses of veterans, but are a recipient of public assistance, other low- 

income individuals, or individuals who are basic skills deficient. 
3. Veterans and eligible spouses who are not included in a WIOA priority group but meet Title I Adult program eligibility. 
4. Additional priority populations identified by the Governor or SIW Region locally. 
5. Other individuals who are not included in any priority group but meet WIOA Title I Adult program eligibility. 

 
Priority of Service Groups and Eligibility 

Priority status for WIOA Title I Adult participants is determined during eligibility and enrollment. Status does not change 
during the period of participation. When providing individualized career and training services in the Title I Adult program, 
local areas must give priority of service to participants who receive public assistance, are low-income individuals, and are 
basic skills deficient. The three priority groups are described below. Acceptable documentation for verifying eligibility is 
provided in CHART A in this section. 

Recipients of Public Assistance, defined by WIOA sec. 3(50), includes individuals who receive cash payments from 
Federal, State, or local government for which eligibility is determined by a needs or income test. 

Low-Income Individuals, defined by WIOA sec. 3(36), describes individuals who meet one of the following criteria: 

• Receives, or in the past six months has received, or is a member of a family that is receiving or has received in 
the past six months, assistance through the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP), Temporary 
Assistance for Needy Families (TANF), Supplemental Security Income (SSI), or a state or local income-based 
public assistance program; 

• In a family with total family income that does not exceed the higher of: 

o the poverty line or 
o 70 percent of the Lower Living Standard Income Level (LLSIL); 

• A homeless individual; homeless child/youth; or 

• A foster child on behalf of whom state or local government payments are made; or 

• An individual with a disability whose own income meets the income requirements above but is a member of a 
family whose total income does not meet this requirement. 

 
See page 12 for additional guidance on determining low-income for Adult Priority of Service. 

 

Basic Skills Deficient, defined by WIOA sec. 3(5), describes an individual who meets at least one of the following criteria 
as basic skills deficient: 

• Unable to compute or solve problems, or 

• Read, write, or 

• Speak English, at a level necessary to function on the job, in the individual’s family, or in society. (The United 
States Department of Labor (USDOL) Employment and Training Administration (ETA) includes English 
language learners in the basic skills deficient group.) 

The following criteria is outlined for determining basic skills deficiency. An individual must meet at least one of the following: 



 
28 

• Lacks a high school diploma or equivalency and is not enrolled in secondary education; 

• Scores 8.9 or below on the Tests of Adult Basic Education (TABE); 

• Enrolled in a Title II Adult Education/Literacy Program; 

• Has poor English language skills (includes English Language Learners); 

• The individual’s case manager makes observations of deficient functioning and records justification in a case 
note. Using the WorkKeys or WIN Assessment Tools, a scale score below 72 or less than level 3 in any of the 
categories of Applied Math, Graphic Literacy or Workplace Documents can be used as an indicator of basic 
skills deficiency for a case manager observation of deficient functioning and recorded in case notes. 

Eligibility Determinations for Veterans 

When determining priority of service eligibility for WIOA Title I Adult employment or training programs, the following cannot 
be included in past income calculations: 

• Military pay received while serving on active duty 

• Allowances provided while on active duty 

• Compensation for service-connected disability or death or vocational rehabilitation 

• Benefits for education and training services funded by the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) 

• Compensation received by an eligible dependent or indemnity compensation for service-connected deaths 

• Educational assistance for eligible dependents and survivors of veterans under 38 U.S.C. 3500 

WIOA program operators may not require veterans or their spouses to exhaust their entitlement to VA-funded training 
benefits prior to allowing them to enroll in WIOA-funded training. 

 
Veterans and Adult Priority 

As described in TEGL 19-16, when programs such as the WIOA Title I Adult program are statutorily required to provide 
priority for a particular group of individuals, priority must be provided in the specific order listed below. Veterans and eligible 
spouses of veterans continue to receive priority of service in all DOL-funded training programs. Veterans and their spouses 
must still meet the eligibility criteria for the WIOA Adult program. 

 
Additional priorities defined by SIW for this Region 10 Service Area only: 

 
Southern Indiana Works has identified two additional populations to include in Adult Priority services under WIOA. 

 
1) SIW understands that digital literacy is a fundamental skill required by local and regional businesses to be successful 

in employment. These skills are as vital as math and reading in the global economy. SIW and our partners will assess 
individuals for digital literacy using the Northstar Digital Literacy System. Participants will be required to take an 
assessment for: a) Basic Computer Skills, Internet Basics, Using Email, Windows). If participants cannot successfully 
pass the automated scale for these assessments, they will be considered below digital literacy functioning level and 
will be considered adult priority eligible. 

 
2) Underemployed adults that are employed but not meeting economic levels that provide self-sufficiency, or those that 

have taken emergency transition jobs that underutilize their knowledge, skills, and abilities are a population identified 
by SIW to target as adult priority defined as any one of the following: 
• Individuals employed less than full-time who are seeking full-time employment; (Full- time is 30 hours or more); or 
• Individuals who are employed who meet the definition of a low-income individual in WIOA sec. 3 
• Individuals who are employed, but whose current job earnings are not at least 75% of previous employment 
• Individuals who are employed but earning less than our target wage of $16.00 
• Individuals who are receiving community assistance that is determined by financial eligibility 
• Individuals who are not employed in a demand occupation as identified by the SIW High Demand Targeted 

Occupations. 



 
29 

The following sources of documentation to verify whether an adult participant qualifies 
for priority of service under WIOA: 

CHART A 

Priority of Service Criteria Acceptable Documentation 

 

Recipient of 
Public 
Assistance 

• Copy of authorization to receive cash public assistance 

• Copy of public assistance check 

• Medical card showing cash grant status 

• Public assistance records 

• Refugee assistance records 

• Self-Attestation as a last resort 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Low-Income 

• Alimony Agreement 

• Award letter from veteran’s administration 

• Bank statements 

• Compensation award letter 

• Court award letter 

• Pension statement 

• Employer statement/contact 

• Family or business financial records 

• Housing authority verification 

• Pay stubs 

• Public assistance records 

• Quarterly estimated tax for self-employed persons 

• Social Security benefits 

• Unemployment Insurance documents 

• Self-attestation as a last resort 

 

 

Basic Skills Deficient 

• School records in the form of a referral or records 
from a Title II Basic Adult Education program or 
English Language Learner program 

• Results of academic assessment 

• Self-attestation 

• Case notes 

Locally Defined 
Groups: 

• Digital Literacy – Copy of NorthStar assessment 
record (below pass scale). Essential computer 
skills. *Copy of ALL Module test results. 

• Pay stub, wage records, employer 
statement/record, low-income documentation, 
public assistance records, W-2/ Wage records 
former employer 

1) Digital Literacy 

2) Underemployed 

The target priority of service benchmark is 75%. The Veteran and Adult priority groups (public 
assistance, low income, basic skills deficient) count towards the minimum priority of service requirement 
of 50.1%. Additional groups (defined locally and by the Governor) will be taken into consideration 
towards the 75% priority of service benchmark. 

Staff must utilize the TA Guidance 2021 for Locally Established Priority of Service Group Data Entry 
Instructions for any Locally Defined Group participant. 

Staff must receive an approved waiver from the WDB for any participant that does not meet Adult Priority 
Criteria. 

The adult priority target will be reviewed and monitored monthly. 



 
30 

Section 2: Eligibility Determination and Documentation Requirements 

 
This section contains information that provide the specific eligibility that shall be followed when delivering services 
through the Southern Indiana Works system. SIW adheres to all DWD and Federal policy for eligibility. Below is a 
summary. 

 

Wagner-Peyser Act 
 

All Customers are eligible. 
 

Trade Adjustment Assistance (TAA) 
 

Certification provided by US DOL to a group of workers who lost their jobs due to foreign competition. 
Adversely affected worker could be eligible as WIOA Dislocated Worker and/or WIOA Adult. 

Refer to DWD Technical Assistance 2022-01 TAA Program Sunset Provisions for additional eligibility 

guidance. 

 

Veterans’ Employment and Training Services (VETS) 
 

1. Eligible Veteran, as defined by the United States Code Title 38 Veterans’ Benefits, Chapter 4211, paragraph (4), 
subparagraph (A) (B), is a person who: 

 
• Served on active duty for a period of more than 180 days and was discharged or released with other than a 

dishonorable discharge; 
• Was discharged or released from active duty because of a service-connected disability; or as a member of a reserve 

component under an order to active duty pursuant to section 12301(a), (d), or (g), 12302, or 12304 of title 10, served 
on active duty during a period of war or in a campaign or expedition for which a campaign badge is authorized and 
was discharged or released from such duty with other than a dishonorable discharge. 

 

2. Eligible Spouse, as defined by the United States Code Title 38 Veterans’ Benefits, Chapter 4101, means: 
 

• The spouse of any person who died of a service-connected disability; 
• The spouse of any member of the Armed Forces serving on active duty who, at the time of application for assistance 

under this chapter, is listed, pursuant to section 556 of title 37 and regulations issued thereunder, by the Secretary 
concerned in one or more of the following categories and has been so listed for a total of more than ninety days: 

v Missing in action, 
v Captured in line of duty by a hostile force, or 
v Forcibly detained or interned in line of duty by a foreign government or power; or 

• The spouse of any person who has a total disability permanent in nature resulting from a service-connected disability 
or the spouse of a veteran who died while a disability so evaluated was in existence. 

 

3. Additional Service Populations, as defined in The Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2014 and VPL 03-19, are 
populations receiving support services funded by Jobs for Veteran State grants (JVSG) grants under this Act. Those 
populations include: 

• Transitioning members of the Armed Forces who have been identified as in need of individualized Career services; 
• Members of the Armed Forces who are wounded, ill, or injured and receiving treatment in military treatment facilities 

or warrior transition units; and 
• The spouses or other family caregivers of such wounded, ill, or injured members. 

 

WIOA Adult 
Participants in the WIOA Title I Adult program must meet the following eligibility criteria: 
• U.S. citizen or otherwise legally entitled to work in the United States; 
• Age 18 or older; and 
• Selective Service Registration 



 
31 

WIOA Dislocated Worker 
Participants in the WIOA Title I Dislocated Worker program must meet the following criteria: 
• U.S. citizen or otherwise legally entitled to work in the United States; 
• Age 18 or older; 
• Selective Service Registration; and 
• Meet one of the following categories: 

 

Category Eligibility Definition 

Category A An individual who: 

(i) has been terminated or laid off, or who has received a notice of 

termination or layoff, from employment; 

(ii) (I) is eligible for or has exhausted entitlement to unemployment 

compensation; or (II) has been employed for a duration sufficient to 

demonstrate, to the appropriate entity at a one-stop center referred to 
in 

section 121(e), attachment to the workforce, but is not eligible for 

unemployment compensation due to insufficient earnings or having 

performed services for an employer that were not covered under a 
state 

unemployment compensation law; and 

(iii) is unlikely to return to a previous industry or occupation. 

Category B An individual who: 

(i) has been terminated or laid off, or has received a notice of 
termination or 

layoff, from employment as a result of any permanent closure of, or 
any 

substantial layoff at, a plant, facility, or enterprise; 

(ii) is employed at a facility at which the employer has made a general 

announcement that such facility will close within 180 days; or 

(iii) for purposes of eligibility to receive services other than training 
services 

described in section 134(c)(3), career services described in section 

134(c)(2)(A)(xii), or supportive services, is employed at a facility at 
which 

the employer has made a general announcement that such facility will 

close 

Category C An individual who was self-employed (including employment as a 
farmer, a 

rancher, or a fisherman) but is unemployed because of general 
economic 

conditions in the community in which the individual resides or because 
of natural 

disasters. 

Category D An individual who is a displaced homemaker. 

Category E An individual who: 

(i) is the spouse of a member of the Armed Forces on active duty (as 

defined in section 101(d)(1) of title 10, United States Code), and who 
has 

experienced a loss of employment as a direct result of relocation to 

accommodate a permanent change in duty station of such member; or 

(ii) is the spouse of a member of the Armed Forces on active duty and 
who meets the criteria described in paragraph (16)(B). 



 
32 

Additional Guidance for Category “A” 
 

Dislocated worker, as defined in WIOA sec. 3(15), outlines five criteria for which an individual is eligible to receive WIOA 
funding. Most requests for clarity that the state has received pertain to Category A (see table above); many of those are 
outlined below. 

 
• Previous Occupation/Industry 

For the purposes of WIOA dislocated worker program eligibility, the previous occupation or industry relates directly 
to the job of dislocation, not the most recent job if the most recent job is considered intervening or stopgap 
employment (described in more detail below). The job of dislocation is the job that qualifies the individual under 
one of the dislocated worker definition eligibility categories. The previous occupation or industry should be 
established by the individual’s work history provided in their application and supported with any other applicable 
documentation to satisfy the data validation requirements. 

 
• Intervening or Stopgap Employment 

Intervening or stopgap employment describes work that an individual accepts, either prior to or during participation in 
WIOA services, for the purpose of income maintenance because they have lost the customary work for which their 
training, experience, and work history qualifies them. DWD considers employment as “intervening” or “stopgap” if the 
salary is substantially below the salary of the individual’s previous occupation and/or if they are working substantially 
under the skill level of their previous occupation (determined at the local level). However, intervening or stopgap 
employment may constitute a new primary occupation/industry in circumstances where the individual has not made 
any verifiable efforts to seek more permanent and appropriate employment and has been employed in intervening or 
stopgap employment for an extended amount of time (determined at the local level). The previous occupation or 
industry should be established by the individual’s work history provided in their application and supported with any 
other applicable documentation to satisfy data validation requirements. 

 
• Look-Back Period 

A qualifying dislocation must occur within 3 years of the date of Dislocated Worker eligibility determination except for a 
1) Reemployment services participant; or 2) Veteran. 

 
• Veteran Dislocated Workers 

If the separating service member is separating from the Armed Forces with a discharge that is anything other than 
dishonorable, the separating service member qualifies for dislocated worker activities based on the following criteria: 

 
a) The separating service member has received a notice of separation, a DD-214 from the Department of Defense, 
or other documentation showing a separation or imminent separation from the Armed Forces to satisfy the 
termination or layoff part of the dislocated worker eligibility criteria in WIOA sec. 3(15)(A)(i); 
b) The separating service member qualifies for the dislocated worker eligibility criteria on eligibility for or exhaustion 
of unemployment compensation in WIOA sec. 3(15)(A)(ii)(I) or (II); and, 
c) As a separating service member, the individual meets the dislocated worker eligibility criteria that the individual 
is unlikely to return to a previous industry or occupation in WIOA sec.3(15)(A)(iii). 

 
Stopgap or intervening employment will not disqualify a separated military service member from receiving dislocated 
worker services. 

 

A military service member who has been discharged under a dishonorable discharge would not qualify as a 
dislocated worker but may still qualify under WIOA adult. 

 
• Profiled Unemployment Insurance Claimants 

Recipients who receive either a Reemployment Services and Eligibility Assessment (RESEA) or Jobs for Hoosiers 
(JFH) letter may qualify for dislocated worker services under WIOA sec. 3(15)(A). At the time of program selection, 
these recipients were identified as being laid off (i), eligible for unemployment insurance (ii), and unlikely to return 
to a previous industry/occupation (iii). 
However, individual circumstances and actions can impact that original eligibility determination. Therefore, in order 
to be eligible for dislocated worker services, the circumstances under which the participant was determined eligible 
for the RESEA or JFH program must not have changed. If the recipient meets the above requirement, then the 
RESEA or JFH letter may serve as adequate eligibility verification documentation. 



 
33 

• Long-Term Unemployed 
National Dislocated Worker Grants (DWGs) provide resources to states and other eligible applicants to respond to 
large, unexpected layoff events causing significant job losses. Eligibility categories under the DWG include long- 
term unemployed workers. Indiana has defined “long-term unemployed” as an individual that has not worked for 
twenty-seven (27) or more weeks in aggregate over the past year. 

 
• Unlikely to Return 

SIW has defined unlikely to return as meeting one of the following criteria: 
 

1) Labor Market Information – previous occupation not in demand 
2) Lack of comparable job referrals resulting from job matching in ICC 
3) Age at time of dislocation is 45 years or older 
4) Education level is at or below high school diploma or equivalent (GED or HSE) 
5) Tenure with employer of dislocation five or more years 
6) Occupation of dislocation not on Southern Indiana Works Occupations in Demand list 
7) Medical condition which prohibits applicant from returning to previous employment position or 

occupation 
8) RESEA/JFH participant 



 
34 

Adult and Dislocated Worker (DW) Eligibility Documentation 
 

Eligibility 
Item 

Eligibility Definition Source Documentation 

Age Age 18 or older No source documentation is needed for Basic Career 
Services 
If Individualized Career Services are provided one of the 
following 
must be obtained: 
• Driver’s License 
• Baptismal Record 
• Birth Certificate 
• DD-214 
• Report of Transfer or Discharge Paper 
• Federal, State or Local Identification Card 
• Passport 
• Hospital Record of Birth 
• Public Assistance/Social Service Records 
• School Records or ID Cards 
• Work Permit 
• Family Bible 
A copy must be saved to the participant’s electronic file. 

Military 
Selective 
Service 

All males born after December 31, 1959, must be 
registered with the US Military Selective Service. 
Section 189(h) of WIOA requires customers to be in 
compliance with Section 3 of the Military Selective 
Service Act (50 USC Appr.452) in order to participate 
in WIOA Title I adult and dislocated worker funded 
programs. 
Staff must follow operational guidance issued by 
DWD on verifying that a male customer born after 
December 31, 1959 is registered with the US Military 
Selective Service. This includes local management 
coordinating and publishing a policy for non- 
registered males, age 26+ and born after December 
31, 1959. 

Verifying SS Registration: 
• Acknowledgement letter from the Selective Service 
• Form DD-214 
• Screen printout of the Selective Service Verification site: 
www.sss.gov/RegVer/wfVerification.aspx.(Staff enters last 
name, SSN, and date of birth at the website. Printout 
includes Selective Service number and date of birth as 
confirmation for data validation) 
• Selective Service Registration Card 
• Selective Service Verification Form (form 3A) 
• Stamped Post Office Receipt of Registration 

 
A copy must be saved to the participant’s electronic file. 

U.S. citizen 
or 

Otherwise 
Legally 

Entitled to 
Work in the 

United 
States 

While citizenship does not need to be validated, 
Indiana has determined that an individual’s eligibility- 
to-work in the United States (regardless of 
citizenship) must be validated for all WIOA Adult, 
Dislocated Worker, and TAA program participants 
prior to the receipt of supportive services and/or 
training services. 

Validating Eligibility-to-Work: 
• Self-attestation is an acceptable source of 
documentation, and no further validation is required for 
WIOA Adult, Dislocated Worker, and TAA program 
participant who do not receive training or supportive 
services. 
• Eligibility to work in the United States must be validated 
for any WIOA Adult, Dislocated Worker, and TAA 
program participant who receives any type of supportive 
service and/or training service. 
• See the “Lists of Acceptable Documentation” page 
of the Employment Eligibility Verification Form I-9. 

DW: 
Category A 

Laid Off; 
Unlikely to 
Return to 
Previous 

Occupation 

The customer has been terminated or laid off, or has 
received a notice of termination or layoff, from 
employment or has been honorably discharged 
(whether voluntary or involuntary); AND 

a. Is eligible for or has exhausted entitlement 
to unemployment compensation, OR 

b.  Has been employed for a duration 
sufficient to demonstrate attachment to the 
workforce but is not eligible for 
unemployment compensation due to 
insufficient earnings or having performed 
services for an employer that was not 
covered under a state unemployment 
compensation law; AND 

c. must be “unlikely to return to a previous 
industry or occupation” as defined through 
local policy and the determination by the 
local workforce board. 

 
Refer to the Dislocated Worker Checklist in the Forms 
and Documents for documentation requirements. 

 

A copy of the completed checklist must be in the 
participant’s electronic file. 



 
35 

DW: 

Category B 

Plant, 

Facility or 
Enterprise 

Closure 

1. Terminated or laid off, or has received a 
notice of termination or layoff, from 
employment as a result of any permanent 
closure of, or any substantial layoff at, a 
plant, facility, or enterprise; OR 

2. Employed at a facility where the employer 
has made a general announcement that 
such facility will close within 180 days; OR 

3. For purposes of eligibility to receive services 
other than training services described in 
WIOA Section 134(c)(3), career services 
described in section 134(c)(2) (A)(xii), or job 
seeker supports, is employed at a facility at 
which the employer has made a general 
announcement that such facility will close. 

 

Refer to the Dislocated Worker Checklist in the Forms 
and Documents for documentation requirements. 

 
A copy of the completed checklist with supporting 
documentation must be in the participant’s electronic file 

DW: 
Category C 

Self- 
Employed 

Self-employed (including employment as a farmer, a 
rancher, or a fisherman) but is unemployed as a 
result of general economic conditions in the 
community in which the customer resides or because 
of natural disasters. 

Refer to the Dislocated Worker Checklist in the Forms 
and Documents for documentation requirements. 

 

A copy of the completed checklist with supporting 
documentation must be in the participant’s electronic file 

DW: 
Category D 
Displaced 

Homemaker 

The customer has been providing unpaid services to 
family members in the home 
AND 

1) has been dependent on the income of 
another family member but is no longer 
supported by that income; 

OR 
Is the dependent spouse of the Armed 
Forces on active duty and whose family 
income is significantly reduced because of 
deployment or call to active military duty, a 
permanent change of station, or the service- 
connected death or disability of a member 

AND 
2) Is unemployed or underemployed and is 

experiencing difficulty in obtaining or 
upgrading employment 

 
Refer to the Dislocated Worker Checklist in the Forms 
and Documents for documentation requirements. 

 

A copy of the completed checklist with supporting 
documentation must be in the participant’s electronic file 

DW: 
Category E 

Military 
Spouse 

Is the spouse of a member of the Armed Forces on 
active duty and who has experienced a loss of 
employment as a direct result of relocation to 
accommodate a permanent change in duty station of 
such member OR 
Is the spouse of a member of the Armed Forces on 
active duty and who meets the criteria for displaced 
homemaker. 

Refer to the Dislocated Worker Checklist in the Forms 
and Documents for documentation requirements. 

 

A copy of the completed checklist with supporting 
documentation must be in the participant’s electronic file 

 

WIOA Adult, Adult Priority and Dislocated Worker Low- Income Determination 
 

For purposes of determining family income for eligibility, “family” is defined as: Two or more persons related by blood, 
marriage, or decree of court, who are living in a single residence, and are included in one or more of the following 
categories: 

 
1) Spouses and their dependent children; 
2) A parent or guardian and dependent children; 
3) Spouses. 

 
Per TEGL 26-13, the Department of Labor’s policy is to recognize lawful same-sex marriages as broadly as possible to 
the extent that federal law permits, and to recognize all marriages valid in the jurisdiction where the marriage was 
celebrated - i.e., the ‘state of celebration.’ ETA interprets gender specific terms of marriage such as “widow,” “widower,” 
“husband,” and “wife,” to include married same-sex spouses. 

 
ETA will recognize the marriage even if the marriage is not recognized in the state where the married 
individual resides. 

 
The documents used to calculate an individual’s or family’s income level are generally valid for a 
one-month period. All eligibility documentation must be maintained within the DWD’s case management system. 



 
36 

Once low-income eligibility has been established for an adult income-based program, the customer 
must receive a service under the funding source within 30 calendar days. 

 

The Family Income Worksheet is to be completed for all WIOA Adult and Dislocated Worker applicants. 
 

Low Income Eligibility is based on family size and includable income. Determining the family income is completed by 
calculating all includable income from six months prior to the date of enrollment/application. The six month figure is then 
multiplied by two to give an annualized income that is more representative of the current economic stat 

 
Types of Includable and Excludable Income for Determining Eligibility 
NOTE: The lists below are not exhaustive. 

 
Excludable Income 

1. Needs-based scholarship assistance 
2. Educational financial assistance under Title IV of the Higher Education Act (20 USC 1087) 
3. Public assistance (TANF, SSI, RCA, and GA) 
4. Foster childcare payments 
5. Non-cash benefits such as employer-paid or union-paid portion or health insurance or other 

employee fringe benefits 
6. Cash value of food or housing received in lieu of wages from an employer 
7. Allowance, earnings, and payments made to individuals participating in WIOA programs or 

any other workforce development program for which eligibility is based upon a need and/or income test 
8. U. S. Housing and Urban Development (HUD) housing assistance 
9. Subsidies for childcare made on behalf of a family participating in the childcare voucher program 
10. Certain one-time cash payments including tax refunds; one-time gifts; loans, which are debt and not income; 

assets from the sale of a home, property, or car; one-time insurance settlements; lump sum inheritances; one- 
time compensation for injury; etc. 

11. Income earned while a veteran was on active military duty and certain other veterans’ benefits, i.e., compensation 
for service-connected disability, family compensation for service-connected death, vocational rehabilitation, and 
education assistance 

12. IRA withdrawals 
13. Stipends received in the following programs: VISTA, Peace Corps, Foster Grandparent Program, 

YouthWorks/AmeriCorps Programs, and Retired Senior Volunteer Program 
14. Job Corps payments 
15. Assets drawn down as withdrawals from a bank 
16. Medicaid/Medicare 

 

When a federal statute specifically provides that income or payments received under such statute shall 
be excluded in determining eligibility for the level of benefits received under any other federal statute, 
such income or payments shall be excluded in WIOA eligibility determination. 

 

Includable Income 
1. Wages and salaries before deductions 
2. Net receipts from non-farm self-employment (receipts from a person’s own unincorporated 

business, professional enterprise, or partnership after deductions for business expenses). 
3. Net receipts from farm self-employment (receipts from a farm that one operates as an owner, renter, or 

sharecropper, after deductions for farm operating expenses). 
4. Regular payments from railroad retirement benefits, strike benefits from union funds, worker’s compensation, and 

training stipends 
5. Alimony 
6. Military family allotments or other regular support from an absent family member or someone not living in the 

household 
7. Pensions whether private or government employee (including military retirement pay) 
8. Regular insurance or annuity payments other than SSI or veteran’s disability 
9. College or university grants or scholarships based on merit, fellowships, and assistantships; 
10. Dividends, interest, net rental income, net royalties, periodic receipts from estates or trusts, and net gambling or 

lottery winnings 
11. Social Security Disability (SSDI) Insurance payments 
12. State and federal unemployment insurance compensation 
13. Old-age survivors insurance benefits 
14. Child support payments 



 
37 

WIOA Youth 
 

All participants must meet the following criteria: 
 

I. Age Requirement: 
 

Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act participants must be between the ages of 14 and 24. 
 

II. Specific Criteria: 
 

In-school youth: is an individual attending school (as defined by state law) who is not younger than age 14 
or older than age 21 at time of enrollment (because age eligibility is based on age at enrollment, participants 
may continue to receive services beyond the age of 21 once they are enrolled in the program), low-income, 
and one or more of the following: 

• Basic skills deficient; 
 

• An English language learner; 
 

• An offender; 
 

• A homeless individual aged 14 to 21 who meets the criteria defined in sec. 41403(6) of Violence 
Against Women Act of 1994 (42 U.S.C. 14043e-2(6)), a homeless child or youth aged 14 to 21 who 
meets the criteria defined in sec. 725((2) of the McKinney Vento Homeless Assistance Act (42 U.S.C. 
11434a(2)), or a runaway; 

 

• An individual in foster care or who has aged out of the foster care system or who has attained 16 
years of age and left foster care for kinship guardianship or adoption, a child eligible for assistance 
under sec. 477 of the Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. 677), or in an out-of-home placement; 

 
• An individual who is pregnant or parenting; 

 

• An individual with a disability; or 
 

• An individual who requires additional assistance to complete an educational program or to secure or 
hold employment (must be locally defined). 

 

Out-of-school youth is an individual not attending any school (as defined by state law), age 
16 through 24 at the time of enrollment (because age eligibility is based on age at 
enrollment, participants may continue to receive services beyond the age of 24 once they 
are enrolled in the program), and one or more of the following: 

 
• A school dropout; 

 
• A youth who is within the age of compulsory school attendance but has not attended school for at least 

the most recent complete school year calendar quarter. 
 

School year calendar quarter is based on how a local school district defines its school year quarters. In 
cases where schools do not use quarters, local programs must use calendar year quarters; 

 
• A recipient of a secondary school diploma or its recognized equivalent who is a low-income individual 

and is either basic skills deficient or an English language learner; 
 

• An offender; 
 

• A homeless individual aged 16 to 24 who meets the criteria defined in sec. 41403(6) of Violence 
Against Women Act of 1994 (42 U.S.C. 14043e-2(6)), a homeless child or youth aged 16 to 24 who 
meets the criteria defined in sec. 725((2) of the McKinney Vento Homeless Assistance Act (42 U.S.C. 
11434a(2)) or a runaway; 

 
• An individual in foster care or who has aged out of the foster care system or who has attained 16 years 



 
38 

of age and left foster care for the kinship guardianship or adoption, a child eligible for assistance under 
sec. 477 of the Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. 677), or in an out-of-home placement. 

 
• An individual who is pregnant or parenting; 

 
• An individual with a disability; or 

 

• A low-income individual who requires additional assistance to enter or complete an educational 
program or to secure or hold employment (must be locally defined). 

 
 

Definitions 
 

1. Use of Funding Requirements for Out-of-School Youth: 
 

WIOA requires that Workforce Development Area (WDAs) use at least 75 percent of their 
formula youth allocation to provide services to out-of-school youth. 

 
2. High Poverty Area Criteria: 

 

A youth who lives in a high poverty area is automatically considered to be a low-income individual. A high 
poverty area is a Census tract, a set of contiguous Census tracts, an American Indian Reservation, Oklahoma 
Tribal Statistical Area (as defined by the U.S. Census Bureau), Alaska Native Village Statistical Area or Alaska 
Native Regional Corporation Area, Native Hawaiian Homeland Area, or other tribal land as defined by the 
Secretary in guidance or county that has a poverty rate of at least 25 percent as set every 5 years using 
American Community Survey 5-year data. 

 
3. Residency: 

 
Eligible individuals residing in the region may be served, with considerations that the Local WIOA Plan 
provides for limited exceptions including providing services to youth outside the region and homeless 
individuals who cannot prove residence within the region. IC 20-26-11-1 governs the definition of residence 
and IC 20-26-11-2 governs legal settlement. Generally, a residence does not include a youth attending school 
in a different county than he/she lives, please refer to the Indiana Code for specific details. Preference should 
be given to Indiana residents followed by individuals who reside along regional boundaries including 
neighboring states. 

 

4. Family of One: 
 

An individual with a disability may be considered a family of one for the purpose of income eligibility 
determination under WIOA regardless of guardianship or other family members’ income. 

 

5. Five Percent Exception for Non-Income Eligible ISY and OSY: 
 

The 5% exception for non-income eligible individuals applies to in-school youth and out-of-school youth. This 
would reflect the two low-income eligibility categories for OSY and ALL eligibility categories for ISY. A program 
must calculate the five percent based on the percent of newly enrolled youth in the local area’s WIOA youth 
program in a given program year who would ordinarily be required to meet the low-income criteria. 

 
For example, if a local area enrolled 200 youth and 100 of those youth were OSY who were not required to 
meet the low-income criteria, 50 were OSY who were required to meet the low-income criteria and 50 were 
ISY. In this example the 50 OSY required to be low-income and the 50 ISY are the only youth factored into the 
5 percent low-income exception calculation. Therefore, in this example, 5 of the 100 youth who ordinarily 
would be required to be low-income do not have to meet the low-income criteria based on the low-income 
exception. This percent is calculated at the end of a program year based on new enrollees in that program 
year. 



 
39 

Listed below are the criteria that have a low-income eligibility requirement (ALL ISY and two categories for 
OSY) in which the five percent (5%) exception applies: 

 

In-School Youth Out-of-School Youth 
Basic skills deficient A recipient of a secondary school diploma or its 

recognized equivalent who is either basic skills deficient 
or an English Language Learner 

An English language learner An individual who requires additional assistance to enter 
or complete an educational program or to secure or hold 
employment 

An offender  
A homeless individual, or a runaway 

An individual in foster care or who has attained 16 years 
of age and left foster care for kinship, guardianship or 
adoption, a child eligible for assistance, or in an out-of- 
home placement 
Pregnant or parenting 
An individual with a disability or 

An individual who requires additional assistance to 
education or employment 

 
 

6. An Individual Who is Pregnant or Parenting: 
 

An individual who is parenting can be a mother or father, custodial or non-custodial. As long as the youth is within 
the WIOA youth age of eligibility, the age when the youth became a parent does not factor into the determination 
of parenting. A pregnant individual can only be the expectant mother. 

 

7. Additional Assistance Barrier: 
 

Local Workforce Development Boards must define in their Local Youth Plan and policy their definition of “an 
individual who requires additional assistance to enter or complete an educational program or to secure or hold 
employment” for OSY. The definition is slightly different for ISY; Local Workforce Development Boards must 
define in their Local Youth Plan and policy their definition of “an individual who requires additional assistance to 
complete an educational program or to secure or hold employment.” 

 
These definitions must be reasonable, quantifiable, and based on evidence that the specific characteristic of the 
youth identified objectively requires additional assistance. Examples may include: migrant youth, having an 
incarcerated parent, behavior problems at school, family literacy problems, domestic violence, substance abuse, 
chronic health conditions, and one or more grade levels below appropriate age or refugee. 

 
8. Five- Percent Limitation for Eligible ISY: 

 
In each local area, not more than five percent of the ISY newly enrolled in a given program year may be eligible 
based on the “requires additional assistance to complete an educational program or secure or hold employment” 
criterion. 

 

9. Determination of School Status: 
 

Determination of whether a youth participant is an OSY or ISY is made at the time of program enrollment. Once 
the school status of a youth is determined, that school status remains the same throughout the youth’s 
participation in the WIOA youth program. For purposes of reporting, if a youth is determined to be OSY at time of 
enrollment and subsequently re-enters high school or enrolls in post-secondary education, that youth is still 
considered an OSY due to their status at the time of enrollment. 

 
10. Indiana’s Diplomas: 

 

The Indiana State Board of Education adopts course and credit requirements for earning a high school diploma. 
Under current requirements, students have the option of earning four diploma types: 

• General; 
• Core 40 
• Core with Academic Honors (AHD); or 
• Core 40 with Technical Honors (THD). 



 
40 

A Certificate of Completion, which deals with special education programs is not a diploma because Indiana 
does not permit students with disabilities to receive a diploma that is different than students without a 
disability. It is DWD’s opinion that a General Diploma is considered a diploma for the purposes of eligibility 
determination for OSY. 

 
11. School Dropout: 

 
WIOA defers the definition of “school dropout” to state law. A youth’s eligibility status is determined at the time of 
enrollment; therefore, if a youth has not received a high school diploma, or a recognized equivalent, AND is not 
attending any school, he/she is considered a dropout and is an OSY. A dropout only includes an individual who is 
currently a secondary school dropout and does not include a youth who previously dropped out of secondary 
school but reenrolled. An individual who has dropped out of post-secondary education is not a “school dropout” 
for purposes of youth program eligibility. 

 

12. Compulsory School Attendance/Not Attending Any School: 
 

Under the WIOA Youth eligibility requirements, the term “school” refers to both secondary and postsecondary 
school (credit-bearing courses only). Therefore, an individual attending either secondary or post-secondary is 
considered ISY. 

 

The Workforce Investment and Opportunity Act added an additional provision for determining eligibility for an out- 
of-school youth (aged 16-24). This criterion is listed as “a youth who is within the age of compulsory school 
attendance but has not attended school for at least the most recent complete school year calendar quarter. 
School year calendar quarter is based on how a local school district defines its school year quarters.” Indiana’s 
definition of Compulsory School Age per Indiana Code 20-33-2-6, includes all youth who, beginning of the fall 
school term for the school year in which the student becomes seven (7) years of age, until the date on which the 
student: 

• Graduates; 
• Becomes eighteen (18) years of age; or 
• Becomes sixteen (16) years of age but is less than eighteen (18) years of age and the requirements 

under section 9 concerning an exit interview are met enabling the student to withdraw from school before 
graduation. 

 

Indiana has also defined its School Year as “for each school year, a school corporation shall conduct at least one 
hundred eighty (180) student instructional days,” per Indiana Code, 20-30-2-3. While there may be extenuating 
circumstances that a school district may request a waiver of these 180 days, which could include weather related 
cancellations; the Indiana Department of Workforce Development would consider 180 student instructional days 
as the “school year.” 

 
For the purposes of out-of-school youth eligibility calculations, a “school calendar quarter” would be defined as 45 
student instructional days. Weekends, holidays or cancelled days in which school was closed would not count 
towards the 45 student instructional days. Some school corporations may define these 45 days as a “semester,” 
but calculations for accuracy of total instructional days should still be verified by the case manager at the time of 
application and enrollment. 

 
13. Homeschooling: 

 

Home education in Indiana is classified as a non-accredited, non-public school. It is parent directed, home-based, 
privately funded education. IC 20-33-2-28, requires parents provide an equivalent education taught in the English 
language. Attendance records must be kept that are available upon request to the state or local school 
superintendent. Upon a specific and individual request by the state superintendent of public instruction, 
homeschools must furnish the number of children, by grade level, that are taught at home. Education is to be 
provided the same number of days that the local public school is in session, which is generally 180 days. Most 
homeschool students will be able to provide transcripts and/or a homeschool diploma to verify their completion of 
high school. 

 
Students who are in a verified home education program, as outlined above would be considered ISY. Those who 
cannot provide verified home education transcripts and/or homeschool diplomas are considered for OSY 
eligibility. 



 
41 

14. Youth in between School Years: 
 

If a youth is enrolled in the WIOA youth program during the summer and is in between school years, the youth is 
considered an ISY if they are enrolled to continue school in the fall. If a youth is enrolled in the WIOA youth 
program between high school graduation and post-secondary education, the youth is considered an ISY if they 
are registered for post-secondary education, even if they have not yet begun post-secondary classes at the time 
of WIOA youth program enrollment. However, if a youth graduates high school and registers for post-secondary 
education but does not ultimately follow through with attending post-secondary education, then such a youth 
could be considered an OSY if the eligibility determination is made after the point that the youth decided not to 
attend post-secondary education. 

 
For the purposes of defining registered, a youth does not have to attend the first day of class, being accepted to 
post-secondary education and scheduling courses will suffice. 

 

15. Credit-bearing Post-secondary Education Classes: 
 

If the youth participant is registered in any credit-bearing post-secondary education classes then they are 
considered attending post-secondary education, and, therefore, an ISY. If the youth is only enrolled in non-credit 
bearing post-secondary classes, they would not be considered attending post-secondary school and, therefore, 
could be OSY eligible. 

 

16. Individuals 22 and older attending post-secondary education: 
 

Local programs should keep in mind that ISY, including those attending post-secondary education, must be 
between the ages of 14 through 21. A youth attending post-secondary education who is 22 at time of eligibility 
determination would not be eligible for the WIOA youth program because they are in school and over the age of 
21. That individual could be served through the WIOA Adult program. 

 
17. Exception for youth with disabilities: 

 

There is one exception to age eligibility for youth attending school. Youth with disabilities who have an 
Individualized Education Plan (IEP) may be enrolled as ISY after the age of 21, per Ind. Code 20-35-1-8. The 
maximum age for attending school is less than twenty-two years of age. 

 
The definition of disability that applies to services provided under the WIOA, is section 3 of the Americans with 
Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. 12102): an individual with a physical or mental impairment that substantially 
limits one or more major life activities; a record of such an impairment; or regarded as having an impairment. 

 

18. High school equivalency programs and dropout re-engagement programs: 
 

For the purposes of WIOA, Indiana does not consider providers of adult education under Title II of WIOA, 
YouthBuild programs, the Job Corps program, high school equivalency (HSE) programs, or dropout re- 
engagement programs to be schools. WIOA youth programs may consider a youth to be an OSY for purposes of 
WIOA youth program eligibility if he or she attended adult education provided under Title II of WIOA, YouthBuild, 
Job Corps, high school equivalency programs or dropout re-engagement programs regardless of the funding 
source. Per Indiana Code 20 C.F.R. 681.230, Adult High Schools, for Adult Learners fall into the “dropout 
reengagement” category, when considering the clientele served. 

 
A HSE program offers preparation for, and the taking of, tests which lead to a HSE credential. A dropout re- 
engagement program conducts active outreach to encourage out-of-school youth to return to school and assists 
such youth in resuming their education and/or training to become career ready. A dropout re-engagement 
program or center may provide case management and other services to support youth in overcoming barriers that 
prevent them from returning to school or work. In Indiana, DWD has determined that individuals attending dropout 
reengagement centers, such as the Excel Center, may be considered OSY eligible. 

 
19. Basic Skills Deficient: 

 
The term “basic skills deficient” means, with respect to an individual: 

 
• Have English reading, writing, or computing skills at or below the 8.9 grade level on a generally accepted 



 
42 

standardized test; or 
 

• Are unable to compute or solve problems, or read, write, or speak English at a level necessary to function 
on the job, in the individual’s family, or in society. This is defined as: 

 

Ø Lacks a high school diploma or equivalency and is not enrolled in secondary education; or 
 

Ø Scores 8.9 or below on the TABE; or 
 

Ø Is enrolled in Title II adult education (including enrolled for ESL); or 
 

Ø Has poor English language skills and would be appropriate for ESL even if the individual isn’t 
enrolled at the time of WIOA entry into participation); or 

 

Ø Is WorkINdiana eligible (Title II participants are eligible for WorkINdiana up to a year after exit); or 
 

Ø The case manager makes detailed observations of deficient functioning and records those 
detailed observations as justification in a case note; or 

 
• For in-school only: 

 

Ø Behind in credits to graduate on time with peer cohort; or 
 

Ø GPA 2.0 or below; or 
 

Ø Have taken and did not pass the End of Course Assessment (ECA). 
 
 

20. Selective Service Act: 
 

Registration is required of all males who reach 18 years of age on or after 1960. An individual who meets this 
description must demonstrate proof of registration prior to enrollment. If the individual has not registered, he/she 
must demonstrate they were exempt from doing so or that he/she did not knowingly or willfully fail to register. 

 

21. Citizenship: 
 

U.S. citizenship and/or eligibility-to-work in the U.S. are not program eligibility requirements for WIOA Title I. While 
citizenship does not need to be validated, Indiana has determined that an individual’s eligibility-to-work in the 
United States (regardless of citizenship) must be validated for all WIOA Title I youth prior to the receipt of work 
experience and/or occupational skills training services. 

 
22. Veteran Preference: 

 
Veterans gain preference for all WIOA services. 



 
43 

Eligibility Requirements for In and Out of School WIOA Title 1 Youth 
 
 
 

WIOA Youth Requirements 

In-School Out-of-School 

(Must meet all three criteria): 

• Age 14 through 21; and 

• Attending school; and 

• Low-income 
AND 

(Must meet both criteria): 

• Age 16 through 24; and 

• Not attending any school 

 

AND 

One or more of the following: One or more of the following: 

• Basic skills deficient; Below 2.0 GPA, behind on 
credits, did not pass State required exam OR 

• Dropout; OR 

• English Language Learner; OR • Is within compulsory school age (16-17) but has not 
attended school in most recent complete school year 
calendar quarter 

• Offender; OR • Have secondary school diploma or equivalent who is low- 
income 
AND is: 

o basic skills deficient; OR 
o an English Language Learner OR 

• Homeless (multiple categories) 
o In foster care, 
o Aged out of the foster care system, 
o Violence Against Women Act of 1994, 
o McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act, 
o Runaway youth, 
o Out-of-Home placement, 
o Chafee Foster Care Independence Program 

(Section 477 of the Social Security Act); OR 

• Subject to juvenile or adult justice system; OR 

• Pregnant or Parenting; OR • Homeless (multiple categories): 

o In foster care, 
o Aged out of the foster care system, 
o Violence Against Women Act of 1994, 
o McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act, 
o Runaway youth, 
o Out-of-Home placement, 
o Chafee Foster Care Independence Program (Section 

477 

• Youth who is an individual who has a disability; OR • Pregnant or Parenting; OR 

• An individual who requires additional 
assistance to complete an educational program 
or to secure or hold employment (must be 
locally defined) 

• Youth who is an individual who has a disability; OR 

 • A low-income individual who requires additional 
assistance to complete an educational program or to 
secure or hold employment 



 
44 

The logic chart below is a helpful tool for determining whether a youth is appropriate for the in-school or out- of-school 

youth program. 

 

 



 
45 

Eligibility Source Documentation 
 

 
Eligibility 

 

Eligibility Definition 
 

Source Documentation – Eligibility 

Age Must be “not less than age 14” and “not 

more than age 24” at the time of first youth 

service 

Youth who receive any WIOA Youth programs must have 

paper or scanned documentation. The birth date must 

match on one of the following documents: 

 

• Copy of ID (driver’s license, school ID) 

• School records 

• Baptismal Record 

• Birth Certificate 

• Federal, State or Local government 
Identification Card 

• Hospital Record of Birth 

• Passport 

• Public Assistance/Social Service Records 

• Tribal Records 

• Cross match with Department of Vital 
Statistics 

• DD-214 Report of Transfer of Discharge Paper 

• Work Permit 
 

A hard copy or scanned-in copy of the documentation is 

required. 

Attending 

School 

In-school youth must be attending school. • School ID card 

• Letter from school 

• Self-attestation (signed and dated) indicating the 
school status at the time of participation 

• School transcript or class schedule 

Not 

Attending 

School 

Out of school youth must not be 

attending any credit-bearing 

school/courses. 

• Self-Attestation (signed and dated) indicating the 
school status at the time of participation 

• School documentation 

• Drop out letter 

• School exit form 

• School transcript 



 
46 

 

Eligibility 
 

Eligibility Definition 
 

Source Documentation – Eligibility 

Low-income The individual is a person who: 

• Receives, or in the past six months has 
received, or is a member of a family that 
receives, or in the past six months has 
received, assistance through SNAP, TANF, 
SSI under Title XVI of the Social Security 
Act, or another federal, state or local income- 
based public assistance program. Other 
income- based public assistance program 
includes: 

• Refugee Cash Assistance (RCA) 
• General Assistance (GA) (state/local 

government). In the United States, 
General Assistance encompasses a 
varying set of assistance programs that 
share two defining characteristics: 
1) They are funded and administered 
by the state, county and/or 
locality in which the particular 
program operates; and 2) They 
provide benefits to low-income persons 
who are not eligible for federal 
assistance. Across states, assistance 
is usually cash benefits and also 
includes state-funded medical 
assistance. 

• Is a member of a family that received a total 
family income, for the six-month period prior 
to program participation (exclusive of 
unemployment compensation, child support 
payments, payments described in the above 
bullet and old-age and survivors insurance 
benefits received under section 202 of the 
Social Security Act (42 USC 402)) that, in 
relation to family size does not exceed the 
higher of: 

• The poverty line, for an equivalent 
period; or 

• 70 percent of the lower living 
standard income level, for an 
equivalent period; or 

• Is a homeless individual, as defined in section 
41403(6) of the Violence Against Women Act 
of 1994, or a homeless child or youth as 
defined under section 725(2) of the McKinney- 
Vento Homeless Assistance Act ; or 

• Receives or is eligible to receive a free or 
reduced-price lunch under the Richard B. 
Russell National School Lunch Act; OR 

• Is a foster child on behalf of whom state or 
local government payments are made; OR 

• Is a person with a disability whose own income 
meets the income criteria established in WIOA 
3(36)(A)(ii) but is a member of a family whose 
income does not meet this requirement. OR 

• Is a youth living in a high poverty area. 

See Attachment D in this document for a listing of 

Includable and Excludable Income for all low- income 

youth. 

 

For individual with a disability: 

• Detailed case notes 

• Self-attestation 

A hard copy or scanned-in copy of the documentation 

is required. IEPs from past schools will work for 

disability purposes, there is no time limit restrictions on 

the IEP. 

For homeless individual: 

• Self-attestation 

• Documentation permissible by the 
Department of Housing and Urban 
Development 



 
47 

 

Eligibility 
 

Eligibility Definition 
 

Source Documentation – Eligibility 

5 % 
eligibility 
exception 
for youth 
who are not 
low income 

Not more than five percent (5%) of youth may be 
covered individuals except that they are not low 
income. 

A “covered individual” is: 

• An in-school youth OR 

• An out- of-school youth who is: 

• a recipient of a secondary school 
diploma or equivalent who is low- 
income OR 

• a low-income individual who requires 
additional assistance to enter into or 
complete an educational program to 
secure or hold employment. 

A hard copy or scanned-in copy of the 
documentation is required. 

5% 
Limitation 
for in- 
school 
youth 
requiring 
additional 
assistance 

No more than five percent (5%) of in-school youth 
participants may be those who are eligible 
because they require additional assistance to 
complete an educational program or to secure 
or hold employment. 

A hard copy or scanned-in copy of the 
documentation is required. 

Military 

Selective 

Service 

All males born after December 31, 1959 to be 

registered with the U.S. Military Selective Service. 

Section 189(h) of WIOA requires individuals to be 

in compliance with Section 3 of the Military 

Selective Service Act (50 USC Appr.452) in 

order to participate in WIOA Title IB funded 

programs. 

Staff must follow operational guidance issued by 

DWD on verifying that a male customer born after 

December 31, 1959 is registered with the U.S. 

Military Selective Service. This includes local 

management coordinating and publishing a 

policy for non-registered males, age 26+ and 

born after December 31, 1959. 

The following source documents verify the 

registration: 

• Acknowledgement letter from the Selective Service 

• Form DD-214 

• Screen printout of the Selective Service 
Verification 
site: www.sss.gov/RegVer/wfVerification.aspx ( 
Staff enters last name, SSN and date of birth at 
website. Printout includes Selective Service 
number and date of birth as confirmation for data 
validation) 

• Selective Service Registration Card 

• Selective Service Verification Form (form 3A) 

• Stamped Post Office Receipt of Registration A hard 
copy or scanned-in copy of the documentation is 
required. 



 
48 

LOCAL POLICY DEFINITION – REQUIRES ADDITIONAL ASSISTANCE 
 

In Region 10, the definition of a youth who requires additional assistance to complete an educational program, or to 
secure and hold employment is someone who is: 

 
In-School Criteria: 

At risk in-school youth – an individual who has one of the following 
1. High absenteeism* 

2. Poor academic record* 
3. History of school disciplinary problems* 

4. Has been suspended or expelled from school* 
5. Has been enrolled in an alternative school within the past 12 months. 

6. Eligible for the Free Lunch Program 

7. At-risk youth is further defined as living in a household where a parent lacks a high school education 
(diploma); or parent lacks established paternity for out-of- wedlock children. 

8. Any youth reenrolled in an educational program (including alternative schooling), demonstrating a need 
for one of the WIOA youth designated services; 

9. Youth Age < 18 in the household of the custodial parent and is not receiving regular child support. This 
information should be documented by court records, records from the local prosecutor’s office, records 
from FSSA (Family Social Services Administration) or a related entity. 

10. A youth Age < 18 currently residing in a household in which one or both legal parents are not currently 
residing. Documented by self-attestation 

11. Any youth who has received (or currently receiving) treatment for substance abuse, or currently residing 
in the household with a parent or legal guardian who has a documented history of substance abuse. 
Documented by verification from treatment/recovery program or police/court papers. 

12. Any youth who lives (currently resides) in a domestic violence household. – Documented by certified 
counselor, social worker, school social worker or authorized employee of a domestic violence program or 
other reputable institution such as the customer’s school or religious organization. 

13. Any child who has a parent who is considered an offender. Documented by probation, parole office, 
police records, or authorized employee of an offender recovery program. 

14. Receiving SNAP or TANF. Documented by Department of Family and Children. 
 

*As defined and documented by the local secondary educational institution. 
 

Out-of-School Criteria: 

1. Occupational Skills Deficient (out of school, ages 18 – 24) who has one of the following: 
o Has a poor work history (defined as quit or fired from 2 or more jobs within the last 12 months or held 3 

or more jobs since entering the workforce.) 

o Has been denied and unable to obtain employment 
o Lack of referral from WorkOne job matching system 
o Failure to obtain employment from a WorkOne job matching system referral. This information should be 

documented by comparing the customer’s career goals with his/her work history. It may also be 
documented with data secured from WorkOne job matching system. 

o Is unable to complete the WorkOne job matching registration 

 

2. At-risk youth is further defined as living in a household where a parent has any criminal record; 
parent lacks a high school education (diploma); or parent lacks established paternity for out-of- 
wedlock children. 



 
49 

3. A youth who has been denied employment and/or is unable to obtain employment within six 
weeks of WorkOne job matching registration and/or 

4. Youth who has aged out of foster care. This information must be verified by records from the 
Division of Child Services. 

 
5. A youth Age < 18 currently residing in a household in which one or both legal parents are not 

currently residing. Documented by self-attestation 
 

6. Any youth who has received (or currently receiving) treatment for substance abuse, or currently 
residing in the household with a parent or legal guardian who has a documented history of 
substance abuse. Documented by verification from treatment/recovery program or police/court 
papers. 

 
7. Any youth who lives (currently resides) in a domestic violence household. – Documented by 

certified counselor, social worker, school social worker or authorized employee of a domestic 
violence program or other reputable institution such as the customer’s school or religious 
organization. 

 
8. Any child who has a parent who is considered an offender. Documented by probation, parole 

office, police records, or authorized employee of an offender recovery program. 
 

9. Receiving Food Stamps or TANF. Documented by Department of Family and Children. 



 
50 

WIOA YOUTH 14 Program Elements 

Objective Assessment: 

Review of a comprehensive and specialized assessments of the skill levels and service needs of youth, which may include a) 
diagnostic testing and use of other assessment tools; and b) in-depth interviewing and evaluation to identify employment barriers and 
appropriate employment goals. This is not one of the 14 elements but is required for an individual to become a participant. 

Individual Employment Plan: 

Development of a youth employment plan, to identify the employment goals, appropriate achievement objectives, and appropriate 
combination of services for the participant to achieve his or her employment goals, including the list of, and information about, the 
eligible training providers. 
This is not one of the 14 elements but is required for an individual to become a participant. 

1. Tutoring, study skills training, instruction, and evidence-based dropout prevention and recovery strategies: 
Tutoring, study skills training, and instruction that lead to a high school diploma, its equivalent or a similar certificate for individuals 
with disabilities are reported under this program element. Such services focus on providing academic support, helping a youth identify 
areas of academic concern, assisting with overcoming learning obstacles, and providing tools and resources to develop learning 
strategies. Tutoring, study skills training, and instruction can be provided one-on-one, in a group setting, through resources and 
workshops. 
Secondary school dropout prevention strategies intended to lead to a high school diploma are also reported under this program 
element. Secondary school dropout prevention strategies include services and activities that keep a young person in-school and 
engaged in a formal learning and/or training setting. Strategies include, but are not limited to tutoring, literacy development, active 
learning experiences, after-school opportunities, and individualized instruction. Skills training through Indiana’s Jobs for America’s 
Graduates in-school (including senior, multi-year and alternative education) program models would also be included in this program 
element. 
Note: this activity would only include youth that are in-school, secondary. It does not include youth that are in Adult 

Education activities. 

2. Alternative secondary school services, or dropout recovery services, as appropriate: 

Under 20 CFR § 681.460(a)(2), alternative secondary school services, such as basic education skills training, individualized academic 
instruction, and English Language Learner training, are those that assist youth who have struggled in traditional secondary education. 
In Indiana, the alternative education programs and models designed to meet the needs of disadvantaged youth are very diverse, 
allowing local areas opportunity to reach a wide variety of students. Qualifying alternative secondary school services include, but are 
not limited to alternative classrooms, school within-a-school programming, separate alternative schools, and second or last-chance 
schools. 
Dropout recovery services, such as credit recovery, counseling, and educational plan development, are those that assist youth who 
have dropped out of school. In Indiana, participation in the Jobs for America’s Graduates out-of-school program model may be 
included as a dropout recovery service. While the activities within both types of services may overlap, each have a goal of helping 
youth to re-engage and persist in education that leads to the completion of a recognized high school diploma or its equivalent. Note: 
this activity would include youth that are receiving Adult Education services for the completion of an HSE. 

3. Paid and unpaid work experiences that have academic and occupational education as a component of the work 
experience, which may include the following types of work experiences: summer employment opportunities and other 
employment opportunities available throughout the school year, pre-apprenticeship programs, internships and job 
shadowing, and on-the-job training opportunities: 20 CFR § 681.600 further defines work experience as “a planned, structured 
learning experience that takes place in a workplace for a limited period of time. Work experience may be paid or unpaid, as appropriate 
and may take place in the private for-profit sector, the non-profit sector, or the public sector. Labor standards apply in any work 
experience where an employee/employer relationship, as defined by the Fair Labor Standards Act or applicable State law, exists. 
Consistent with 20 CFR 
§680.840, funds provided for work experiences may not be used to directly or indirectly aid in the filling of a job opening that is vacant 
because the former occupant is on strike or is being locked out in the course of a labor dispute, or the filling of which is otherwise an 
issue in a labor dispute involving a work stoppage. Work experiences provide the youth participant with opportunities for career 
exploration and skill development.” 
WIOA and 20 CFR §681.590(a) require that a minimum of 20 percent of local area funds for the Title I Youth program be spent on 
work experience. As explained in 20 CFR §681.590(b), local area administrative costs are not subject to the 20 percent minimum work 
experience expenditure requirement. Leveraged resources cannot be used to fulfill any part of the 20 percent minimum. 
TEGL No. 8-15 provides further discussion of allowable expenditures that may be counted toward the work experience expenditure 
requirement and articulates that program expenditures on the work experience program element can be more than just wages paid 
to youth in work experience. Allowable work experience expenditures include the following: 

• Wages/stipends paid for participation in a work experience; 

• Staff time working to identify and develop a work experience opportunity, including staff time spent working with 
employers to identify and develop the work experience; 

• Staff time working with employers to ensure a successful work experience, including staff time spent managing 
the work experience; 

• Staff time spent evaluating the work experience; 



 
51 

• Participant work experience orientation sessions; 

• Employer work experience orientation sessions; 

• Classroom training or the required academic education component directly related to the work experience; 

• Incentive payments directly tied to the completion of work experience; and 

• Employability skills/job readiness training to prepare youth for a work experience. Supportive services are a 
separate program element and cannot be counted toward the work experience expenditure requirement even if supportive 
services assist the youth in participating in the work experience. Incentives not directly tied to the completion of the work 
experience as listed above would count as a supportive service program element. 
As discussed in 20 CFR § 681.600, work experiences must include academic and occupational education. The educational component 
may occur concurrently or sequentially with the work experience. The academic and occupational education component may occur 
inside or outside the work site. The work experience employer can provide the academic and occupational component, or such 
components may be provided separately in the classroom or through other means. Local areas have the flexibility to decide who 
provides the educational components. 

The academic and occupational education component refers to contextual learning that accompanies a work experience. It includes 

the information necessary to understand and work in specific industries and/or occupations. It must be more than a work site’s 

onboarding program for employees, it must cross- individual employers to be occupational. Local programs have the flexibility to 

determine the appropriate type of academic and occupational education necessary for a specific work experience. 

4. Occupational skills training, which includes priority consideration for training programs that lead to recognized post- 
secondary credentials that align with in-demand industry sectors or occupations in the local area involved, if the Local 
Board determines that the programs meet the quality criteria described in WIOA sec. 123. 
As stated in 20 CFR § 681.540, occupational skills training is defined as an organized program of study that provides specific 
vocational skills that lead to proficiency in performing actual tasks and technical functions required by certain occupational fields at 
entry, intermediate, or advanced levels. Local areas must give priority consideration to training programs that lead to recognized 
postsecondary credentials that align with in-demand industry sectors or occupations in the local area. Such training must: 

1. Be outcome-oriented and focused on an occupational goal specified in the ISS/IEP; 

2. Be of sufficient duration to impart the skills needed to meet the occupational goal; and 

3. Lead to the attainment of a recognized postsecondary credential. 
Individual Training Accounts (ITAs) are allowed for OSY ages 16 to 24, when appropriate. ITAs allow participants the opportunity to 
choose the training provider that best meets their needs. To receive funds from an ITA, the training provider must be on the Eligible 
Training Provider List as outlined in § 680.400 and 680.410. 
ISY cannot use youth program funded ITAs. However, ISY between the ages of 18 and 21 may co-enroll in the WIOA Adult program if 
the young adult’s individual needs, knowledge, skills, and interests align with the WIOA adult program and may receive training 
services through an ITA funded by the adult program. 
In addition, the chosen occupational skills training must meet the in-demand and quality standards as highlighted in the state’s 
demand-driven online tools. 

5. Education offered concurrently with and in the same context as workforce preparation activities and training for a specific 
occupation or occupational cluster. 
20 CFR § 681.630 states that this program element reflects an integrated education and training model and describes how workforce 
preparation activities, basic academic skills, and hands-on occupational skills training are to be taught within the same time frame 
and connected to training in a specific occupation, occupational cluster, or career pathway. 

6. Leadership development opportunities, including community service and peer-centered activities encouraging 
responsibility and other positive social and civic behaviors; 
20 CFR § 681.520 defines this program element as opportunities that encourage responsibility, confidence, employability, self- 
determination, and other positive social behaviors such as: 

a. Exposure to postsecondary educational possibilities; 

b. Community and service learning projects; 

c. Peer-oriented activities; including peer mentoring and tutoring; 

d. Organizational and teamwork training, including team leadership training; 

e. Training in decision-making, including determining priorities and problem solving; 

f. Citizenship training, including life skills training such as parenting and work behavior training; 

g. Civic engagement activities which promotes the quality of life in a community, and; 

h. Other leadership activities that place youth in a leadership role such as serving on youth leadership committees, such 
as a Standing Youth Committee. 



 
52 

 

7. Supportive Services. Supportive services must be made available to all youth participants and can be solely funded by the youth 
program regardless of funding availability from other sources. Local areas must have a plan or policy related to their supportive 
services. 20 CFR §681.570 describes supportive services for youth as defined in WIOA Sec. 3(59), as services that enable an 
individual to participate in WIOA activities. These services include, but are not limited to, the following: 

• Linkages to community services; 

• Assistance with transportation; 

• Assistance with childcare and dependent care; 

• Assistance with housing; 

• Needs-related payments, including emergency needs; 

• Assistance with educational testing; 

• Reasonable accommodations for youth with disabilities; 

• Legal aid services; 

• Referrals to health care; 

• Assistance with uniforms or other appropriate work attire and work-related tools, including such items as eyeglasses and 
protective eye gear; 

• Assistance with books, fees, school supplies, and other necessary items such as electronic devices1 

for students enrolled in postsecondary education classes; and 

• Payments and fees for employment and training-related applications, tests, and certifications. 

Electronic Device as a Supportive Service 

If the local area intends to permit the provision of electronic devices, such as computers, laptops, and tablets for training participants, 
the local supportive service policy must contain: 

• A process for determining the device is necessary to successfully complete the program (e.g., providing justification of 
necessity due to participant not already owning or having access to an adequate device needed for program completion); 

• Cost limits for the electronic devices which are consistent with market prices for comparable goods; 

• Disposition of the electronic device upon completion of the training, specifying whether the participant may retain the 
device as well as expectations if a participant does not complete training. This information must be communicated to 
the participant; and 

Documentation that the electronic device is necessary in case notes within the state’s case management system. 
Examples of electronic devices include computers, laptops, tablets, phones, and portable Wi-Fi if needed. 

8. Adult mentoring for a duration of at least 12 months that may occur both during and after program participation. 20 CFR 
$681.490 states that adult mentoring for youth must: 

(a) Last at least 12 months and may take place both during the program and following exit from the program; 

(b) Be a formal relationship between a youth participant and an adult mentor that includes structured activities where the 
mentor offers guidance, support, and encouragement to develop the competence and character of the mentee; and 

(c) While group mentoring activities and mentoring through electronic means are allowable as part of the mentoring activities, 
at a minimum, the local youth program must match the youth with an individual mentor with whom the youth interacts on a 
face-to-face basis. Mentoring may include workplace mentoring where the local program matches a youth participant with 
an employer or employee of a company. 

Local programs should ensure appropriate processes are in place to adequately screen and select mentors. In a few areas of the state, 
finding mentors may present a burden to a program. Case managers can serve as mentors in areas where adult mentors are sparse. 

9. Comprehensive guidance and counseling, which may include drug and alcohol abuse counseling, as well as referrals to 
counseling, as appropriate to the needs of the individual youth. 
20 CFR § 681.510 states that comprehensive guidance and counseling provides individualized counseling to participants. This 
includes drug and alcohol abuse counseling, mental health counseling, and referral to partner programs, as appropriate. When 
referring participants to necessary counseling that cannot be provided by the local youth program or its service providers, the 
local youth program must coordinate with the organization it refers to in order to ensure continuity of service. When resources exist 
within the local program or its service providers, it is allowable to provide counseling services directly to participants rather than refer 
youth to partner programs. 



 
53 

10. Financial literacy education. 

20 CFR § 681.500 states that this program element may include the following activities: 

• Support the ability of participants to create budgets, initiate checking and savings accounts at banks, and make informed 
financial decisions. 

• Support participants in learning how to effectively manage spending, credit, and debt, including student loans, consumer 
credit, and credit cards. 

• Teach participants about the significance of credit reports and credit scores; what their rights are regarding their credit and 
financial information; how to determine the accuracy of a credit report and how to correct inaccuracies; and how to improve 
or maintain good credit. 

• Support a participant’s ability to understand, evaluate, and compare financial products, services, and opportunities and to 
make informed financial decisions. 

• Educate participants about identity theft, ways to protect themselves from identity theft, and how to resolve cases of identity 
theft and in other ways understand their rights and protections related to personal identity and financial data. 

• Support activities that address the particular financial literacy needs of non-English speakers, including providing the support 
through the development and distribution of multilingual financial literacy and education materials. 

• Support activities that address the particular financial literacy needs of youth with disabilities, including connecting them to 
benefits planning and work incentives counseling. 

• Provide financial education that is age appropriate, timely, and provides opportunities to put lessons into practice, such as by 
access to safe and affordable financial products that enable money management and savings. 

• Implement other approaches to help participants gain the knowledge, skills, and confidence to make informed financial 
decisions that enable them to attain greater financial health and stability by using high quality, age-appropriate, and relevant 
strategies, and channels, including where possible, timely and customized information, guidance, tools, and instruction. 

11. Entrepreneurial skills training. 

20 CFR § 681.560 states this program element provides the basics of starting and operating a small business. Such training must 

develop the skills associated with entrepreneurship. Such skills may include, but are not limited to, the ability to: 

• Take initiative; 

• Creatively seek out and identify business opportunities; 

• Develop budgets and forecast resource needs; 

• Understand various options for acquiring capital and the trade-offs associated with each option; and 

• Communicate effectively and market oneself and one’s ideas. 

Approaches to teaching youth entrepreneurial skills may include, but are not limited to: 

1) Entrepreneurship education that provides an introduction to the values and basics of starting and running a business. 
Entrepreneurship education programs often guide youth through the development of a business plan and also may include 
simulations of business start-up and operation. 

2) Enterprise development which provides supports and services that incubate and help youth develop their own businesses. 
Enterprise development programs go beyond entrepreneurship education by helping youth access small loans or grants that 
are needed to begin business operation and by providing more individualized attention to the development of viable business 
ideas. 

3) Experiential programs that provide youth with experience in the day-to-day operation of a business. These programs may 
involve the development of a youth-run business that young people participating in the program work in and manage. Or 
they may facilitate placement in apprentice or internship positions with adult entrepreneurs in the community. 



 
54 

12. Services that provide labor market and employment information about in-demand industry sectors or occupations 
available in the local area, such as career awareness, career counseling, and career exploration services. 

• Under 20 CFR § 681.460(a)(13), this element includes “services that provide labor market and employment information 
about in-demand industry sectors or occupation available in the local area, such as career awareness, career counseling, 
and career exploration services.” The Wagner- Peyser regulation at 20 CFR § 651.10 provides additional information about 
this element under the definition of workforce and labor market information. That section defines workforce and labor market 
information as “the body of knowledge that describes the relationship between labor demand and supply.” Indiana Career 
Explorer and Indiana Career Ready should be used to provide labor market and career information, as appropriate to each 
youth. These labor market information (LMI) tools can be used to help youth and young adults to make appropriate decisions 
about education and careers. LMI identifies in-demand industries and occupations and employment opportunities; and 
provides knowledge of job market expectations including education and skills requirements and potential earnings. LMI tools 
also can aid in facilitating youth awareness of the career fields that are likely to provide long-term employment and earnings 
in local labor markets. 

WIOA youth programs and providers should become familiar with Indiana and federal LMI data and LMI tools, which are provided for 

free by agencies, in order to share relevant LMI with youth. Providing such readily available online services can be accomplished by 

connecting the youth with WorkOnes that have career exploration tools, ability, and interest inventories, and provide related 

employment services. In addition to connecting youth to self-service LMI tools, it is important for youth providers to share and discuss 

Indiana and local LMI with youth participants. Career counseling services may include providing 

information about resume preparation, interview skills, potential opportunities for job shadowing, and the long-term benefits of 

postsecondary education and training. 

13. Activities that help youth prepare for and transition to post-secondary education and training. 

Postsecondary preparation and transition activities and services prepare ISY and OSY for advancement to postsecondary education 
after attaining a high school diploma or its recognized equivalent. These services include exploring postsecondary education options, 
including technical training schools, community colleges, 4-year colleges and universities, and registered apprenticeship. Additional 
services include, but are not limited to, assisting youth to prepare for SAT/ACT testing; assisting with college admission applications; 
searching and applying for scholarships and grants; filling out the proper Financial Aid applications and adhering to changing guidelines; 
and connecting youth to postsecondary education programs. 



 
55 

 

14. Follow-up services for not less than 12 months after the completion of participation. 

20 CFR § 681.580 describes follow-up services as “critical services provided following a youth’s exit from the program to help ensure 
the youth is successful in employment and/or postsecondary education and training. Follow-up services may include regular contact 
with a youth participant’s employer, including assistance in addressing work-related problems that arise.” Follow-up services should 
begin immediately following the last expected date of service in the Youth program and all other DOL programs in which the participant 
is co-enrolled when no future services are scheduled. Follow-up services do not cause the exit date to change and do not trigger re- 
enrollment in the program. 

 
The exit date is determined when the participant has not received services in the Youth program, or any other Department of Labor 
funded program in which the participant is co-enrolled for 90 days and no additional services are scheduled. At that point, the date of 
exit is applied retroactively to the last date of service. Following 90 days of no services, other than follow-up services, self-service, and 
information- only services and activities and when the participant has an official exit date applied retroactively to the last date of service, 
the program continues to provide follow-up services for the remaining 275 days of the 12-month follow-up requirement. The 12-month 
follow-up requirement is completed upon one year from the date of exit. 

 
Follow-up services for youth also may include the following program elements: (1) supportive services; 
(2) adult mentoring; (3) financial literacy education; (4) services that provide labor market and employment information about in-demand 
industry sectors or occupations available in the local area, such as career awareness, career counseling, and career exploration 
services; and (5) activities that help youth prepare for and transition to postsecondary education and training. Provision of these 
program elements must occur after the exit date in order to count as follow-up services. Indiana recommends that when these services 
are provided as follow-up services they are coded as follow-up services in the state’s case management systems as opposed to 
program services provided prior to program exit, so the case management system clearly differentiates follow-up services from those 
services provided prior to exit. In addition, such follow-up services should be documented in the case file that they were provided as 
follow-up services post exit. 

 
20 CFR § 681.580 states that all youth participants must be offered an opportunity to receive follow-up services that align with 
their individual service strategies. Furthermore, follow-up services must be provided to all participants for a minimum of 12 
months, unless the participant declines to receive follow-up services, or the participant cannot be located or contacted. Follow-up 
services may be provided beyond 12 months at the Local Workforce Development Board’s discretion. The types of services 
provided, and the duration of services must be determined based on the needs of the individual and therefore, the type and intensity 
of follow-up services may differ for each participant. Follow-up services must include more than only a contact attempted or made for 
securing documentation in order to report a performance outcome. 

 
Local programs should have policies in place to establish how to document and record when a participant cannot be located or contacted. 
At the time of enrollment, youth must be informed that follow-up services will be provided for 12 months following exit. If at any point in 
time during the program or during the 12 months following exit the youth requests to opt out of follow-up services, they may do so. In this 
case, the request to opt out or discontinue follow-up services made by the youth must be documented in the case file. 
At minimum, one year of follow-up must: 

• Be based on the needs of the individual. Staff should update the participant’s ISS/IEP prior to exiting to reflect the follow-up 
plans and strategy; 

• Include collection of information on employment status, education progress, need for additional services, and problems and 
challenges and the assistance needed to address them; 

• Include reciprocal communication between staff and the participant that identifies how a participant is progressing; 
• Occur in person, or via the phone, texting, email, or other forms of one-on-one communication; and 
• Be recorded as a follow-up service with a detailed case note in the State’s case management system. 

 

Youth Program Staff must review information on the availability of all 14 Youth Program Elements 

with participants and provide a written acknowledgement of receipt this information at enrollment. 
 

A copy of this signed acknowledgement must be included in the case management file. 



 
56 

WIOA Youth Low- Income Determination 
 

For purposes of determining family income for eligibility, “family” is defined as: Two or more persons related by 
blood, marriage, or decree of court, who are living in a single residence, and are included in one or more of the 
following categories: 

 
1) Spouses and their dependent children; 
2) A parent or guardian and dependent children; 
3) Spouses. 

 

Per TEGL 26-13, the Department of Labor’s policy is to recognize lawful same-sex marriages as broadly as 
possible to the extent that federal law permits, and to recognize all marriages valid in the jurisdiction where the 
marriage was celebrated - i.e., the ‘state of celebration.’ ETA interprets gender specific terms of marriage such as 
“widow,” “widower,” “husband,” and “wife,” to include married same-sex spouses. 

 
ETA will recognize the marriage even if the marriage is not recognized in the state where the married 

I individual resides. 
 

The documents used to calculate an individual’s or family’s income level are generally valid for a 
one-month period. All eligibility documentation must be maintained within the DWD’s case management system. 

 

Once low-income eligibility has been established for a youth income-based program, the customer 
must receive a service under the funding source within 30 calendar days. 

 
The Family Income Worksheet is to be completed for all WIOA Youth applicants. 

 
Low Income Eligibility for youth is based on family size and includable income. Determining the family income 
is completed by calculating all includable income from six months prior to the date of enrollment/application. 
The six month figure is then multiplied by two to give an annualized income that is more representative of the 
current economic status. 



 
57 

Includable Forms of Income – WIOA Youth 

• Gross wages and salaries before deductions: The full amount, before payroll deductions, of wages and salaries, 
overtime pay, commissions, fees, tips and bonuses, and other compensation from work performed as an 
employee. If a family’s only source of income was from wages and salary payments, family income would be 
equal to gross wages and salary received. 

• Income from non-farm self-employment: Net income (gross receipts minus operating expenses) from a person’s 
own unincorporated business, or other non-farm enterprise in which a person is engaged on his/her own account. 
If the business or enterprise has suffered a loss, this loss will be allowed to off-set wage earnings. However, 
expenditures for businesses expansion or amortization of capital indebtedness cannot be used as deductions in 
determining net income. An allowance for depreciation of assets used in a business or profession may be deducted, 
based on straight line depreciation, as provided in Internal Revenue Service Regulations. Any withdrawal of cash 
or assets from the operation of a business or profession is to be included in income, except to the extent the 
withdrawal is reimbursement of cash or assets invested in the operation by the family. 

• Income from farm self-employment: Net receipts from farm self-employment (receipts from a farm which one 
operates as an owner, renter, or sharecropper, after deductions for farm operating expenses). If the farm has 
suffered a loss, this loss will be allowed to off-set wage earnings. Money received under the Agricultural Crop 
Stabilization Program is considered income. 

• Interest, dividends, and other net income from real or personal property: Expenditures for amortization of capital 
indebtedness cannot be used as deductions in determining net income. An allowance for depreciation is permitted 
only as authorized by the Internal Revenue Service. Any withdrawal of cash assets from an investment will be 
included in income, except to the extent the withdrawal is reimbursement of cash or assets invested by the family. 

• Child Support Payments 

• State and Federal Unemployment Insurance Compensation 

• Money received from such periodic sources as: 

o Governmental and non-governmental pensions (including military retirement pay); 
o Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI) payments (Title II of the Social Security Act, 
o Federal Old Age, Survivors and Disability Insurance); 
o Regular payments from Old Age, Survivors and Disability Insurance (OASI) benefits received under Section 

202 of the Social Security Act; 

o Railroad retirement benefits; 
o Strike benefits from union funds; 
o Workers’ compensation; 
o Regular training stipends; 
o Alimony; 
o Military family allotments or other regular support from an absent family member or someone not living in 

the household; 

o Regular insurance or annuity payments; 
o College or university scholarships, grants (excluding Pell Grants), fellowships, and assistantships; 
o Net royalties; 
o Periodic receipts from estates or trusts; and 
o Net gambling or lottery winnings 

Excludable Forms of Family Income – WIOA Youth 
 

• Non-cash benefits such as: 

o Employer paid or union paid portions of fringe benefits; 
o Food or housing received in lieu of wages; 
o Medicare benefits; 
o Medicaid benefits; 
o SNAP; 

o School lunches; and 
o Housing assistance. 



 
58 

• Housing and Urban Development: Rental subsidies such as Section 8 programs; 

• Scholarship Assistance: Assistance that is needs-based; 

• Financial Assistance: Assistance under Title IV of the Higher Education Act (i.e., Pell Grants, Federal 
Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grants, Federal Work-Study programs, PLUS, Stafford and/or Perkins 
loans). Loans are considered to be “debt” and not “income; 

• Capital gains/losses; 

• Assets drawn down as withdrawals from banks; 

• Cash welfare payments: Payments received under a Federal, State, or local income-based public 
assistance program such as: 

o TANF; 
o Supplemental Security Income (SSI); 
o Emergency Assistance money payments; 

o General Assistance/Work Readiness; and ¬ Refugee Cash Assistance 

• Cash Payments under Title V of the Older Americans Act: 

o Green Thumb; 
o Senior Aides; and 
o Older American Community Service Employment Program 

• Job Corps payments; 

• The sale of property, house, or an automobile; 

• Tax refunds; 

• One-time gifts; 

• Loans; 

• Lump sum inheritances; 

• One-time insurance payments, or compensations for injury; 

• IRA withdrawals; 

• Cash value of food and fuel produced and consumed on farms; 

• Imputed value of rent from owner-occupied non-farm or farm housing; 

• Income earned by any person while serving on active duty and income derived from certain other veterans’ 
benefits: 

• Compensation for service-connected disability; 

• Family compensation for service-connected death; 

• Vocational rehabilitation; and 

• Education assistance. 

• Payments received under the Trade Readjustment Act of 1974 as subsequently amended; 

• Black Lung payments received under the Benefits Reform Act of 1977; 

• Terminal leave pay; severance pay or a cash-out of unused accrued vacation time; 

• Payments to volunteers under the Domestic Volunteer Act of 1973 (42 U.S.C. 5044 (g) 5058): 
o AmeriCorps; 
o Volunteers in Service to America (VISTA); 
o Retired Senior Volunteer Program; 
o Foster Grandparent Program; 
o Youthful offender incarceration alternatives; 

o Senior companions. 

• Allowances, earnings, and payments to participants under the National and Community Service Act of  1990 (42 

U.S.C. 12637(d)); 

• Allowance, earnings and payments made to individuals participating in WIOA programs or any other workforce 
development program for which eligibility is based upon a needs and/or income test; 



 
59 

• Payments or allowances made under the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Low 
Income Home Energy Assistance Program (42 U.S.C. 8624 (f)); 

• Earned income tax credit refund payments received on or after January 1, 1991, including 
advanced earned income credit payments (26 U.S.C. 32 (j)); 

• Any amount of crime victim compensation (under the Victims of Crime Act) received through crime 
victim assistance (or payment or reimbursement of the cost of such assistance) as determined under 
the Victims of Crime Act because of the commission of a crime against the applicant under the Act 
(42 

U.S.C. 10602); and 

• Payments made by the State and/or local on behalf of a foster child 
Note: the documents used to calculate an individual’s or family’s income level are generally valid for a one- 
month period of time, unless specified otherwise – Once low-income eligibility has been established for a youth 
or an adult income-based program, the customer must receive a service under the funding source within 30 
calendar days. 



 
60 

Eligibility to Work in the United States – WIOA Adult and Dislocated Worker 
 

While citizenship does not need to be validated, Indiana has determined that an individual’s eligibility-to-work in the United 
States (regardless of citizenship) must be validated for all WIOA Adult, Dislocated Worker, and TAA program participants 
prior to the receipt of supportive services and/or training services. 

 

Validating Eligibility-to-Work: 
 

• The customer “self-declares” when he/she enters data into the labor exchange system or when staff 
enters data into state’s case management system. Self-attestation is an acceptable source of 
documentation, and no further validation is required for WIOA Adult, Dislocated Worker, and TAA 
program participant who do not receive training or supportive services. 

 
• Eligibility to work in the United States must be validated for any WIOA Adult, Dislocated Worker, and TAA 

program participant who receives any type of supportive service and/or training service. 
 
 

 

Eligibility to Work in the United States – WIOA Youth 
 

Validating Eligibility-to-Work 
 

• The customer “self-declares” when he/she enters data into the labor exchange system or when staff enters data 
into State’s participant reporting system. Self-attestation is an acceptable source of documentation, and no further 
validation is required for WIOA Title I youth who do NOT receive work experience or occupational skills training. 

 
• Indiana has determined that an individual’s eligibility-to-work in the United States (regardless of citizenship) must 

be validated for all WIOA Title I youth prior to the receipt of work experience and/or occupational skills training 
services. 

 
 

Local areas must utilize the “Lists of Acceptable Documents” which is provided by U.S. Citizenship and Immigration 
Services (USCIS) Employment Eligibility Verification Form I-9 to verify the identity and employment authorization of 
individuals hired for employment in the United States, http://www.uscis.gov/i-9. Copies of the participant’s acceptable 
documents must be maintained in the state’s case management system. 



 
61 

LISTS OF ACCEPTABLE I-9 DOCUMENTS – All documents must be UNEXPIRED 
 

LIST 
A 

LIST B LIST C 

Documents that Establish Both   Documents that  Documents that Establish Employment 
Identity and Employment OR Establish Identity AND  Authorization 

Authorization 

1. U.S. Passport or U.S. passport Card 

 

2. Permanent Resident Card or 
Alien Registration Receipt Card ( 
Form I-551) 

 

3. Foreign passport, that contains 
a temporary I-551 stamp or 

temporary I-551 printed notation 
on a machine readable immigrant 
visa 

 

4. Employment Authorization 
Document that contains a 

photograph (Form I-766) 

5. In the case of a nonimmigrant 
alien authorized to work for a 
specific employer incident to 
status: 

a. foreign passport; and 
b. Form I-94 or Form I-94A that 
has the following: 
(1) the same name as the passport; 
And 

(2 an endorsement of the alien’s 
nonimmigrant status, as long as the 
period of endorsement has not yet 
expired and the proposed 

employment is not in conflict with any 
restrictions or limitations identified on 
the form. 

6. Passport from the Federated 
States of Micronesia (FSM) or the 
Republic of the Marshall Islands 

(RMI) with Form I-94 or Form I-94A 
indicating nonimmigrant admission 
under the Compact of Free 

Association Between the United 
States and the FSM or RMI 

1. Driver’s license or ID card issued by a 
state or outlying possession of the United 

States provided it contains a photograph or 
information such as name, date of birth, gender, 
height, eye color, and address 

 
2. ID card issued by federal, state, or local 
government agencies or entities provided it 
contains a photograph or information such as 

name, date of birth, gender, height, eye color, 
and address 

 

3. School ID card with a photograph 

 

4. Voter’s registration card 

5. U.S. Military card or draft record 

 

6. Military dependent’s ID card 

 
7. U.S. Coast Guard Merchant Mariner Card 

 

8. Native American Tribal Document 
 

9. Driver’s license issued by a Canadian 
government authority 

 

FOR PERSONS UNDER AGE 18 WHO ARE 

UNABLE TO PRESENT A DOCUMENT LISTED 

ABOVE: 

10. School record or report card 
 

11. Clinic, doctor, or hospital record 
 

12. Day-care or nursery school record 

 
1. U.S. Social Security Account Number card, unless 
the card includes one of the following restrictions: 

(1) NOT VALID FOR EMPLOYMENT 

(2) VALID FOR WORK ONLY WITH INS 
AUTORIZATION 

(3) VALID FOR WORK ONLY WITH DHS 
AUTHORIZATION 

 

2. Certification of Birth Abroad issued by the 
Department of State (Forms DS-1350, Form FS-545, 

FS240) 

 

3 Original or certified copy of a birth certificate 
issued by a State, county, municipal authority or 

territory of the United States bearing an official seal 

4. Native American Tribal Document 

 

5. U.S. Citizen ID Card (Form I-197) 

 
6. ID Card for use of Resident Citizen in 
the United States (INS Form I-179) 

 

7. Employment authorization document issued by 
the Department of Homeland Security 



 
62 

Selective Service Registration Status for WIOA Adult, Dislocated Worker, and Youth 
Eligibility 

 

Individuals over the age of 26 who did not register for the Selective Service or who cannot provide any of the documentation 
of registration: 

 
• Must obtain a Status Information Letter from Selective Service indicating whether he was required to register. The 

Request for Status Information Letter form and instructions can be accessed at www.sss.gov and the letter from 
Selective Service must be presented to WorkOne staff before a determination of whether he knowingly or willfully 
failed to register can be made. (Note: It can take 14-30 days to receive from Selective Service after submitting the 
request) 

 

• Complete the Determination of Knowingly or Willfully Failed to Register form upon presentation of the Status 
Information Letter from Selective Service that indicates the individual was required to register and now cannot 
because he is 26 or older. THE INDIVIDUAL CANNOT BE DETERMINED ELIGIBLE FOR WIOA UNTIL A 

STATUS INFORMATION LETTER HAS BEEN PRESENTED TO THE WORKONSTAFF PERSON. 
 

Selective Service - Who Must Register 
NOTE: With only a few exceptions, the registration requirement applies to all male U.S. citizens and male immigrants 
residing in the United States who are 18 through 25 years of age. 

 
Category Yes No 
All male U.S. citizens born after Dec. 31, 1959, who are 18 but not yet 26 years old, except as noted below: Yes  

Military Related 

Cadets at the Merchant Marine Academy Yes  

ROTC Students Yes  

National Guardsmen and Reservists not on active duty/Civil Air Patrol Members Yes  

Delayed Entry Program enlistees Yes  

Men rejected for enlistment for any reason before age 26 Yes  

Separatees from Active Military Service, separated for any reason before age 26 Yes*  

Members of the Armed Forces on active duty (active duty for training does not constitute “active duty” for registration purposes.)  No* 

Students in Officer Procurement programs at the Citadel, University of North Georgia, Norwich University, Virginia Military Institute, 
Texas A&M University, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University 

 No* 

Cadets and Midshipmen at Service Academies or Coast Guard Academy  No* 

Immigrants** 

Permanent resident immigrants (USCIS Form I-551) Yes  

Refugee, parolee, and asylee immigrants Yes  

Undocumented immigrants Yes  

Dual national U.S. citizens Yes  

Lawful non-immigrants on current non-immigrant visas. A complete list f acceptable documentation for exemption may be found at 
https://www.sss.gov/Portals/O/PDFs/DocumentationList.pdf 

 No 

Seasonal agricultural workers (H-2A Visa)  No 

Confined 

Incarcerated, or hospitalized, or institutionalized for medical reasons  No* 

Handicapped, Physically or Mentally 

Able to function in public with or without assistance Yes  

Continually confined to a residence, hospital, or institution  No 

Transgender People 

U.S. Citizens or immigrants who are born male and have changed their gender to female Yes  

Individuals who are born female and have changed their gender to male  No 

Source – https://www.usa/gov/selective-service 

 
*Must register within 30 days of release unless already age 26. NOTE: To be fully exempt you must have been on active duty or confined continuously from 
age 18 to 26. 

 
**Residents of Puerto Rico, Guam, Virgin Islands, and Northern Mariana Islands are U.S. citizens. Citizens of American Samoa are nationals and must 
register when they are habitual residents in the United States or reside in the U.S. for at least one year. Habitual residence is presumed and registration is 

required whenever a national or a citizen of the Republic of the Marshall Islands, the Federated States of Micronesia, or Palau, resides in the U.S. for more 
than one year in any status, except when the individual resides in the U.S. as an employee of the government of his homeland; or as a student who entered 
the U.S. for the purpose of full-time studies, as long as such person maintains that status. 

 
NOTE: Immigrants who did not enter the United States or maintained their lawful non-immigrant status by continually remaining on a valid visa until after 
they were 26 years old, were never required to register. Also, immigrants born before 1960, who did not enter the United States or maintained their lawful 

non-immigrant status by continually remaining on a valid visa until after March 29, 1975, were never required to register. 



 
63 

Section 3: Enrollment, Services and Exit 
 

Enrollment 
 

SIW strives to ensure that the region meets performance under WIOA. In order to do so, it is important to understand 

when an individual accessing and exiting the workforce system is counted in performance. Whether an individual is 

counted in performance is based on the funding stream being accessed. 

 

Participant - A participant for Title I is an adult or dislocated worker who: 

• Has been determined eligible, AND 

• Has begun receiving a staff assisted WIOA Title I adult/dislocated worker service other than Basic Career 

Services. 

 

This is the point at which an individual is considered enrolled and is to be included in performance calculations for the 

primary indicators. 

 

Services 
 

WIOA consolidates the Core and Intensive services required by WIOA into a single category of Career Services. Career 

Services has been divided into three subcategories: 

 

• Basic Career Services. Basic career services must be made available to all job seekers and include services 

such as labor exchange services, labor market information, job listings, and information on partner programs. 

Labor exchange services, which are the primary services provided by the ES, fall under “basic career services. 

Basic career services are not synonymous with self- service/informational, even though most of them are. A 

person may receive significant staff- assisted services to determine eligibility and appropriateness, but if the 

person is not found eligible, then he/she remains a registrant for WIOA Title I adult/DW purposes. 

 
 

• Individualized Career Services. Individualized career services involve more dedicated staff time to provide. 

They are similar to intensive services. USDOL has proposed that the ES staff may also provide  

individualized career services and that Wagner-Peyser funds can be used to provide any of the individualized 

services defined in proposed § 678.430(b) and sec. 134(c)(2)(A)(xii) of. This is what allows a one-stop to 

provide universal services while also applying the priority of service requirements for use of WIOA Title I adult 

funds 

. 

Individuals must be determined eligible for WIOA Title I adult, dislocated worker, or youth programs to 

receive Individualized Career services through WIOA funding. Section 194(1) further specifies that 

Title I programs shall provide services to those who are most in need of and who can benefit from 

such services. 

 

• Follow-up Services. Post-exit follow-ups are a critical part of ensuring that customers have attained self- 

sufficiency. It allows WorkOne staff to continue the relationship with the customer, offer additional services, if 

necessary, and collect valuable information for performance measures. 



 
64 

Follow-up services are defined as reciprocal communication between the WorkOne staff member and customers 

that identifies how a customer is progressing. Additional services should be offered or recommended as 

appropriate. 

Reporting Services in the State Automated Case Management System 

All services provided by staff or through self-service must be recorded in the state automated case management 

system within 5 business days, and Individualized Services must be documented by case notes describing the 

service that was provided. 

Program Exit 

It is important to understand when a participant has “exited” a program for performance measurement purposes. For 

purposes of WIOA Title I adult and dislocated worker, youth and Wagner-Peyser performance calculations, EXIT is 

defined as 90 days without any services other than self-service, informational, or follow-up AND there are no future 

services planned other than follow-up. 

Services that may be delivered during the 90 days that do not extend the period of participation include: 

• Post- employment follow-up services designed to ensure job retention, wage gains, and career progress 

such as: 

o Additional career planning and counseling; 

o Contact with the participant's employer 

o Assistance with work-related problems that may arise; 

o Peer support groups; Information about additional educational opportunities; 

o Informational mailings; and 

o Referral to supportive services available in the community; 

• Case management services and any other required administrative caseload management activities that 

involve regular contact with the participant or employer to obtain information regarding the participant's 

employment status, educational progress, or need for additional services. 



 
65 

Section 4: Assessments 

The following Assessments will be available for use at Southern Indiana Works: 

1. TABE - Tests of Adult Basic Education is the assessment for educational attainment. 
2. ICE - Indiana Career Explorer is the career interest aptitude, and values inventory 
3. WorkKeys - WorkKeys is the workplace skills assessment. 
4. WIN – WIN Career Readiness 2.0 Courseware for evaluation of Applied Math, Graphic Literacy and 

Workplace Documents. 
5. NORTHSTAR Digital Literacy Assessments –Essential Computer Skills (Basic Computer 

Skills, Internet Basics, Using Email, Windows). 
 

Each assessment should be used for customers, as appropriate, following the guidelines outline below. 

WIN or WorkKeys to Identify Basic Skills Deficiency 

• A scale score below 72 or less than level 3 in any of the categories of Applied Math, Graphic Literacy or 
Workplace Documents can be used as an indicator of basic skills deficiency as defined in the policy as “The 
case manager makes observations of deficient functioning and records those observations as justification in 
a case note.” 

• Case notes must indicate that such an observation was made through the WorkKeys or WIN assessment, and 
a copy of the test report with scores must scanned into the participant file. 

 

TABE as the Ability to Benefit Assessment 

 

• TABE (current version acceptable current Assessment Policy/Guidance by DWD) should be given prior to 
a customer being approved to enroll in occupational skills training or being referred to adult education 
(enrolled customers). 

 
• Customers who intend to enter a post-secondary institution that requires an entrance/placement exam 

should not be referred to the institution until their scores on TABE are high enough to indicate reasonable 
success in entering post-secondary credit bearing courses 

 
• A customer's TABE level score must be aligned to the education level requirement of the education 

program that will be attended for training. The Academic Career Counselor will have the discretion to 
decide whether an individual is ready to sit for an entrance exam or enter into occupational skills training. 
For WIOA funding streams, at-a- minimum the customer must be assessed above 10th grade level 
equivalency for math and reading (subject to the "Exceptions" as noted below). The grade level 
equivalency requirement will be aligned with the educational requirements of the occupational training that 
the customer is preparing to enter to ensure successful ability to complete the program 

 
Exceptions to Using Tests of Adult Basic Education (TABE) 

 
• Customers who have taken the entrance or placement exam for the post-secondary institution 

proposed to attend and have passed with scores sufficient to enter non- remedial courses in their 
chosen area of study, with documentation of the same. 

 

• Customers who have not passed with sufficient scores may be referred to Adult Education, as long 
as proper referral documentation is provided. 

 
• Customers who already have college credit and intend to return to the same post- secondary institution 

may present their transcripts to the Career Coach to determine if the customers must take the TABE 
assessment. 

 

• Customers who are entering WIOA on-the-job training do not need to TABE test. 
 

• Customers that have an academic career plan for short-term certification training (i.e., CDL, welding, MSSC, 
CPT) may utilize the WorkKeys or WIN Career Readiness 2.0 skills assessment at a minimum range Level 
of 3 or Bronze, unless the specific training course has a higher skill level requirement. If the training has a 
recommended educational level requirement for successful completion, the TABE test should be provided or 
the Career Coach must align the skill or assessment requirements to the educational program. 



 
66 

TABE Administration 
 

• A TABE Locator must be administered prior to administering the TABE Survey. Based on results of the 
locator, the customer must be assessed with the appropriate level of TABE. A TABE Locator and the 
appropriate assessment surveys in the areas of Math Computation, Applied Math, Reading and Language 
must be administered following the test-publisher guidelines. 

 
• WorkOne staff who administer TABE must have successfully completed training on its use. Training must be 

provided by those who have been certified by the test publisher or who have received advanced training on 
the assessment. 

 
• TABE will preferably be provided in an on-line format. However, paper and pencil tests can be provided 

where necessary to accommodate the customer's needs. 

 
• TABE should be interpreted by trained staff in a one-on-one setting. 

 

Indiana Career Explorer (ICE) 
 

Indiana Career Explorer is available for customers to utilize as a Basic Career Service for self- service career 
exploration at WorkOne and WorkOne Affiliate locations. 

 
• The following customers who wish to enter occupational training must take at-least one component of 

Indiana Career Explorer (Based on availability by IDWD): 

Ø Young Adults entering occupational training 
Ø Adults or Dislocated Workers entering occupational training that pursuing a change in career industries or 

have minimal work experience. 

A staff member should review interpretation of the ICE Assessment with the customer, and the results should 
be included in the Academic Career Plan. 

• Any customer who is interested in conducting career exploration may take any combination of the 
assessment and will not be required to take all sections. 

• Staff should be trained on ICE administration and interpretation. 

 
WorkKeys 

 
Customers may take the WorkKeys assessments as a Basic Career Service if they are applying with an employer 
who has identified particular assessments or the National Career Readiness Certificate (NCRC) if required by the 
employer. 

Appropriate use of WorkKeys at the intensive level includes: 

• Use as a career and/or readiness assessment of applied mathematics, graphic literacy, and workplace 
documents (which may lead to NCRC certificate), with interpretation and recommendations based on scores 
presented. 

• WorkKeys assessments should be provided online. 
• WorkKeys may also be used as a skill assessment for short-term occupational training. 

 
WorkKeys assessments must be proctored by staff that are trained in WorkKeys administration procedures. 
Proctors must have participated in on-site assessor training session, completing the ACT provided online test 
administrator modules, or have been trained by an experienced assessor to follow the procedures outlined in 
WorkKeys supervisors Manual. Proctors must complete the appropriate agreement(s). 

 

Northstar Digital Literacy 

 
Customers must take the Northstar Digital Literacy-Essential Computer Skills modules: Basic Computer 
Skills, Internet Basics, Using Email, Windows to validate digital literacy skills that are essential to 
participate in on-line occupational skills training coursework. This assessment is required to participate in 
the digital divide program and can be used to assess adult priority. 



 
67 

Other Assessment Tools may be available for special training programs or initiatives, and terms will be specified 
based on the requirements of the specific program. 

 

 

WIOA Youth Assessment 

All youth must receive a basic skills assessment with 60 days of enrollment in WIOA Youth programs. 

• In-school youth can be assessed through either school transcripts for secondary, or entrance exams 
or grade transcripts for post-secondary participants. 

• Out of School youth may use WorkKeys or WIN in place of TABE to determine basic skills deficiency. 



 
68 

Section 5: Training Services 

 

All funding commitments are contingent upon funding availability. 

 

Requirements for Training Services –ADULTS, DISLOCATED WORKERS and OUT-OF-SCHOOL YOUTH Age 18-24 
To be eligible for training services, employed or unemployed adults, dislocated workers and youth must meet the 
criteria listed below prior to the issuance of an ITA, entering into contract development with employer for on-the-job 
training or customized training for the participant, or enrollment into training for case management services. 

 

1. Has met the eligibility requirements for the funding source as outlined in this policy, including 
Eligibility to Work documentation. 

2. Has received the following Individual Career services: 

a. Comprehensive basic skills assessment 

b. Career exploration assessment (Indiana Career Explorer) - ONLY REQUIRED for Young Adults 
pursuing Occupational Training or Adults/DW changing occupations, or with minimal work experience. 

c. Development of an Individual Career Plan with an employment goal that leads to self-sufficient employment in 
a demand occupation (Regional List and Indiana Career Ready 3> Flames) 

 

3. Customer has been determined to be unable to obtain and/or retain employment that leads to self- 
sufficiency, or wages higher than wages from previous employment, through Individual Career 
services. 

• Occupational skills assessment indicating a lack of skills necessary to obtain suitable employment 

• Case note indicating an unsuccessful job search or insufficient employment 

4. Has been determined to be in need of training services. Occupational Skills Assessment that 
demonstrates a need for training to acquire new occupational skills due to: 

• A void of occupational skills or qualifications needed to obtain or retain employment in a demand 
occupation. 

• Inability to use existing skills due to an identified barrier or physical or mental disability that 
precludes employment in skilled in-demand occupations. 

 

5. Has the skills and qualifications to successfully complete the selected training program. 

• Educational skills assessment indicating ability to successfully complete the selected course of 
training. 

 
• For Individual Career Plans to enter a post-secondary degree program (i.e., Associate Degree): a 

HSE, or high school diploma is required for this pathway. 
 

• Customers that have an individual career plan for a short-term certification training (i.e., CDL, 
welding, MSSC, CPT) are not required to obtain a high school diploma or HSE prior to starting a 
career pathway of training, unless the occupation requires such diploma or HSE prior to gaining 
employment. However, our goal is to encourage participants to increase educational attainment 
levels to create career pathway opportunities. 

 
6. Is unable to obtain grant assistance from other sources or programs to pay the cost of training, 

including federal Pell grants, Trade Adjustment Assistance, etc. or requires WIOA assistance 
in addition to other sources of grant assistance to complete such training. 

• Financial aid award information (must obtain award information for file and reflect WIOA 

coordination of funding with Pell grant resources). Financial Award Analysis Worksheet is 

required to be completed and placed in electronic customer file. WIOA participants must 

apply for Pell grant assistance, and ITA funding must be coordinated with payments from Pell 

grant assistance. 

• Must include counseling on repayment of student loan resources. 

• Staff representative must work with client to evaluate and select the most cost-effective training 
provider for selected program of study. If the most cost-effective program is not selected it must be 
approved by provider management. Justification must be documented in the client file (i.e., 



 
69 

program not available during semester), etc. 
• Case notes indicating financial aid counseling and availability of the coursework desired. 
• Copy of FAFSA and Student Aid Report must be in file for applicable programs. 

 

7. Has selected a program of training services that represents in-demand employment 
opportunities in the local area (per In-Demand Occupation Policy) and will obtain an approved 
credential in accord with DWD policy upon completion. 

• Case notes indicating the use of the local labor market information 1) program must reflect at- 
least 3 flames or more (Indiana Career Ready); 2) Occupation must be on Southern Indiana 
Works High-Demand Occupations by Sector List; 3) Training provider must be included on 
WIOA approved eligible training provider list located on the DWD INTRAINING website. 

• Customers who attend an in-demand program of training through self-pay, Partner, or third-party 
funding are waived from the requirement to select from the DWD INTraining website and may be 
eligible (based on need and justification) to receive supportive services for training related 
supplies or books. 

• Customer is able to attend training on a full-time basis, such that the training coursework can be 
completed in a reasonable timeline in order to achieve employment goals. Exceptions to full- time 
training attendance must be approved via Waiver by Workforce Board staff. 

• The program of study must be of a limited duration, and a plan should be developed to complete 
the credit hours in a 2-year period for the customer to return or begin to work as quickly as 
possible. Exceptions to extended duration must be justified and approved via Waiver by 
Workforce Board staff. 

 

 

8. Is a resident of geographical boundaries of Southern Indiana Works service area (Clark, Crawford, 
Floyd, Harrison, Scott, Washington) Counties in Indiana. 

Dislocated workers who are attached to an employer within the Workforce Development Area but reside 
outside the Workforce Development Area boundaries are eligible for services. Limited exceptions may be 
provided based on customers living in very close proximity to county boundaries, homeless individuals who 
cannot prove residence within the Workforce Area. Exceptions must be approved via waiver by Workforce 
Board Staff. 

 

 

Determination that adequate amount of Training funds are available through Southern Indiana Works WIOA Service 
Provider Budget. The service provider must implement processes to approve ALL direct client expenditures 
and related documentation prior to any contracts or commitments to customers. NO EXCEPTIONS. 

 
Southern Indiana Works Reserves the right to waive any documentation requirements that are NOT a specific 
requirement for WIOA Services under the ACT at its discretion. 

 
ITA expenditures are costs required by the training provider to complete the training. ITA costs required to complete 
the training may include, but are not limited to: Tuition and fees, books, tools, uniforms, tests (background check, 
medical immunizations/tests), etc. ITA expenditures are normally included in the tuition/fees for the program of 
study to a training provider and would not be required to be paid to several different vendors under the ITA. 
Therefore, some of these costs may also be considered as supportive service costs, if they are a requirement for 
the program, but not all-inclusive in the tuition fees. 

 
Allowable ITA Costs and Maximum Funding for Training 
Southern Indiana Works will allocate a maximum of $4,500 for each ITA participant annually. Participants with an 
individual career plan that exceeds $4,500 annually may be considered for a waiver based on individual 
circumstance. The waiver must be approved by the Southern Indiana Works staff. ITA costs may include, but are 
not limited to: tuition and fees, books, tools, uniforms, tests, background checks, screenings, medical 
immunizations, tests. These costs may be included in the tuition at the discretion of the training provider. If not 
included in the tuition at the discretion of the training providers, these costs may also be covered in supportive 
services category. 

 
 

On-the-Job Training 
See Indiana Dept. of Workforce Development On-the-Job Training Policy for Southern Indiana Works. Clients in 
OJT Training Programs are eligible for supportive services under this policy. WIOA program participant OJT 
contracts are limited to $13,000 per participant in any 12-month period. For Adult and Dislocated Worker program 



 
70 

participants, OJT funds can only be used to pay for training for positions that pay a minimum of $13.00 per hour for 
hourly engagement, or $28,080 annually for a salaried engagement. However, SIW strongly recommends that OJT 
participants are compensated at wages of a minimum of $16.00 per hour. 

 
Southern Indiana Works will reimburse employers at a rate not-to- exceed 50% to promote a consistent program 
reimbursement rate. An individual employer reimbursement cannot exceed $50,000 per program year without 
written authorization from Southern Indiana Works. 

 
Alternative Reimbursement Payment Structure 
Southern Indiana Works may establish an alternative reimbursement structure with a training provider based on 
program, and performance. The payment structure may include a structure of 70% payment upon first date of class 
and remaining 30% based on successful completion/ program certification. The payment structure may include 
other payment structures as approved by the training provider organization and the board and documented via an 
agreement in writing. 

 

On-line Course of Training 
If the participant is pursuing an online course of training, the participant must be assessed as follows: 

• The participant must complete a digital assessment tool determined by SIW (currently Northstar Digital 
Literacy), to determine if the participant has the digital skills to complete an online program of study. 

• The digital assessment must complete the assessment at a rate of 85% or greater. 
• The participant must verify the availability of internet services sufficient to complete the online program of 

study. 
• The participant must be assessed to determine the availability of an electronic device sufficient for the 

participant to complete the program of study. 
• Career Coach staff must monitor participant coursework to ensure the program of study is on-track for 

completion within the specified timeline. 



 
71 

Section 6: SUPPORTIVE SERVICES 

Supportive services are services such as textbooks, supplies and tools for occupational training, transportation (including 
gasoline, public transportation tickets), and childcare, and other reasonable and necessary expenses (as defined) 
required for participation in the program. 

 
Electronic Devices 
The provision of electronic devices under the supportive service policy must be given due consideration as follows: 

 
The provision of electronic devices may be considered when a) the program of study is available online; b) the 
participant cannot access the program of study because of work hours, child care or scheduling constraints; c) the 
program of study requires an electronic device and the participant does not have an electronic device to complete the 
course of study, or the current device is inadequate for such purposes; d) the participant requires a device for a 
remote employment opportunity to gain or retain employment; e) participant cannot access electronic equipment 
through other means, and the participant does not have access to an electronic device to complete the program of 
study or employment. 

 

The participant must be properly assessed to determine digital skill competency, the availability of sufficient internet 
services, and the necessity and justification for purchasing an electronic device. The career coach must also 
document the necessity and justification of the device in the participant case management file with a case note that 
outlines the assessment process. 

 
If the provision of purchasing an electronic device is considered, staff must determine and utilize any SIW 
special resources or grants available prior to requesting the use of WIOA Funding. 

Funding for the provision of an electronic device will not exceed $500. The device may be a refurbished or a new 
device, based on availability. This policy limit will be reviewed annually. 

The career coach will have the participant sign a SIW agreement that outlines the purpose of the device being 
provided, i.e. (training; remote employment, etc.). The agreement will outline the following conditions: 

• If the participant does not complete 50% or more of a time-based program of study, the device will be returned 
to the career coach in good condition to be utilized by other participants. 

• If the participant completes greater than 50% of a time-based program or completes the program, the device 
will be retained by the participant. 

• If the device is to be utilized for remote-based employment opportunities, the career coach must contact the 
participant every 30-45 days to verify the employment retention of the participant. 

o If the participant fails to retain the employment less than 6 months, the device must be returned to the 
career coach to be utilized by other participants. 

o If the participant retains employment for 6 months or greater, the device will be retained by the 
participant. 

• Verification of training attendance or employment is required in participant file. 
 

Allowable Supportive Service Costs and Maximum Funding 
The maximum amount of funding to be allocated per participant for Supportive service payments may not exceed 
$1,500 per participant per program year. A waiver can be considered in isolated circumstances and approved 
by Southern Indiana Works staff. 

 

Adults and Dislocated Workers 

Supportive Services are available to meet participant’s needs and are determined on a case-by-case basis, one- 
time or on an on-going basis. If supportive services are provided on an on-going basis, the need for supportive  
services must be re-evaluated each semester of training. 
Participants in occupational skills training must be training for an in-demand skilled occupation (as defined by the policy) to 
receive supportive services. 

 

Supportive services may only be provided to adults and dislocated workers: 

• Participating in intensive training services, and staff assisted career services (such as staff assisted job 
search activities) 

• Unable to obtain supportive services through other community programs providing such services. 



 
72 

• Adults and Dislocated workers are not eligible for supportive services after program exit. 

 

The identification of supportive service needs must be based on an objective assessment and budget information is 
required for evaluating support needs. 

During the initial assessment process and throughout program participation, the career coach will interview clients to 
investigate the life, family, and financial circumstances to identify needs. The career coach must document identified 
needs in the case notes and Individual Employment Plan and determine the participant’s ability to afford these 
items while in training. Budgets that indicate participants do not have resources for basic living expenses such as 
food and shelter must be addressed through counseling to determine how the participant will survive to successfully 
complete the program of training prior to the beginning of any such program. 

 
Budgets 
A budget process is required to specifically identify a participant’s financial resources and obligations. A Budget 
Worksheet must be used to organize and document budget information and must be a part of the participant’s initial 
and ongoing assessment (See Budget Worksheet Attached). Family income (Family as defined in the Eligibility 
Policy) and fixed expenses must be included (and verified with source documentation) when completing  
the initial budget worksheet as a baseline for the participant record. Subsequent budgets will require 
documentation to substantiate any significant changes in the participant resources or expenses. 

 

• Expenses listed in the budget must be reasonable and necessary for the participant to participate in 
program activities. Therefore, items such as entertainment, vacations, cigarettes, lawn service, cable TV 
and other extraordinary items should not be listed when requesting additional assistance. In addition, items 
such as auto-license plates, auto insurance, and homeowners’ insurance must be budgeted by the “actual 
monthly expense amount” and not the quarterly, semi- annual, or annual amount for such an expense. 

• Supportive services received must be documented in case notes as well as Service Records in the 
participant case management system. 

• Documentation of participation in training, workshops, and staff-assisted job-search activities must be 
placed in participant file to support the need for the expenditures. 

 
If two or more participants in the same household are enrolled in WIOA and receiving supportive services, each 
participant must have a budget that reflects all family income as defined in the Eligibility Policy. Participants in the 
same household cannot receive supportive services for the same expenses such as childcare. 

 

The request for individual participant supportive services must document and support the (necessary and 
reasonable) needs for supportive services, as well as indicate referrals to community/partner resources  
(and the outcomes of those referrals) prior to providing financial assistance with WIOA funds). 

 

For participants receiving SNAP (food stamps) or TANF, case managers must document coordination of available 
IMPACT supportive service resources with the local IMPACT service provider. 

 
Community/partner resources must be coordinated prior to approving WIOA funding for services and must be 
documented in case notes. A service cannot be supported with WIOA resources if the customer refuses to utilize 
available community resources. Community resources will vary in communities (i.e., requests for rent or utility 
assistance can be made to County/ Township Trustees, food assistance can be made from food pantries and/or 
faith-based organizations, etc.). Supportive services may be in-kind aid, cash assistance, or payable through 
referral arrangements with other agencies. 

 
Following is a description of approved supportive services for Adult and Dislocated Worker Programs: 

 

Transportation: Transportation support funds may be provided to intensive-level enrolled customers who are 
participating in planned staff-assisted job search activities, who are placed on jobs, or participating in a training 
program. Examples include gasoline and public transportation tickets, etc. Assistance provided for staff-assisted job 
search activities must have a specific work search plan to apply for openings with specific employers agreed upon 
with the case manager and documented in the file, or for actual interviews. This assistance is designed to be 
temporary and should be stopped as soon as the customer can pay for transportation. If the customer gains 
employment (part-time or full-time, including paid work experience activities), transportation assistance to and from 
employment can be provided until the first paycheck is received. 
Assistance is to be based upon actual mileage traveled only. Participants who do not have their own transportation 
must have a written agreement with the individual who will be transporting them attesting that they are supplying the 



 
73 

transportation for which support is being received, and a copy must be in the participant file. Transportation 
assistance provided to participants in training activities should not exceed a 50-mile radius for the training provider. 

 

Child Care: The program will include childcare used to help participants meet their childcare needs during program 
participation. Childcare must be provided by a licensed childcare provider. Payment for childcare is only provided 
for care, supervision, and shelter for the daily time-period the participant is in training or a program related activity. 
If the customer gains employment (part-time or full-time, including paid work experience activities), assistance can 
be provided for employment until the first paycheck is received. 

 
Translation: This program is used when it is necessary to purchase translation and interpretive services needed by the 
customer. 

 
Other Supportive Service Assistance: This category includes other support service provided such as: textbooks 
and supplies for occupational training, application/testing fees, assistance with uniforms or other appropriate work 
attire and work-related tools for employment. This category also provides funds for required immunizations (i.e., 
nursing), and physicals required for training. Assistance cannot be provided for office visits, inpatient, or outpatient 
medical services; however, referrals can be made to other community resources. All supportive service needs must 
be justified. 

Youth 

Supportive services may be provided to youth participants to enable the individual to participate in WIOA activities, 
including follow-up services. 

 
Youth participants are eligible for supportive services regardless of whether they are able to obtain the 
services through other community programs as available. They are not required to submit a budget to 
justify unmet support service needs. 

Supportive services received must be documented in case notes as well as Service Records in the participant case 
management system and must be included in the Individual Employment Plan (IEP). 

Documentation of participation in training, workshops, and staff-assisted job-search activities must be placed in 
participant file to support the need for the expenditures. 

Following is a description of Youth Supportive Services: 
Transportation: Transportation support funds are provided to youth program participants who are participating in 
staff-assisted job search activities, who are placed on jobs or who are participating in training programs. Assistance 
provided for staff-assisted job search activities must have a specific work search plan to apply for openings with 
specific employers agreed upon with the case manager and documented in the file, or for actual interviews. Examples 
include gasoline, minor car repairs*, car registration*, licenses*, insurance*, permits*, bus tickets, etc. 
This assistance is designed to be temporary and should be stopped as soon as the customer can pay for 
transportation. If providing assistance for repairs, licenses, insurance, registration, etc., the client must provide 
verification of ownership of the vehicle. If the customer gains employment (part-time or full-time, including paid work 
experience activities), transportation assistance to and from employment can be provided until the first paycheck is 
received. 
Assistance is to be based upon actual mileage traveled only. Participants who do not have their own transportation 
must have a written agreement with the individual who will be transporting them attesting that they are supplying the 
transportation for which support is being received, and a copy must be in the participant file. Transportation 
assistance provided to participants in training activities should not exceed a 50-mile radius for the training provider. 

 
Health Related Supports: The purpose of this program is to provide funds for required immunizations (i.e., 
nursing), and physicals required for training, etc. Assistance cannot be provided for office visits, inpatient, or 
outpatient medical services; however, referrals can be made to other community resources. 

 
Child Care: The program will include childcare used to help participants meet their childcare needs during 
program participation. Childcare must be provided by a licensed childcare provider. Payment for childcare is only 
provided for care, supervision, and shelter for the daily time-period the participant is in training or a program related 
activity. If the customer gains employment (part-time or full-time), assistance for employment can only be 
provided until the first paycheck is received. 

 
Translation: This program is used when it is necessary to purchase translation and interpretive services needed by 
the customer. 

 

Nutrition: The program provides funds for direct purchase of food after all other community resources have been 



 
74 

exhausted and documented in case notes. 

The provision and amount of any payment determined as necessary for program participation must be recorded in 
the client’s file. The service provider must provide the following for each youth participant: 

 

• Provide an objective assessment including a review of academic and occupational skill levels, as well 
as the service needs of the youth, including supportive service needs. 

• Develop an Individual Employment Plan, including identifying an age-appropriate career goal and 
consideration of the assessment results. 

WIOA Youth Incentives: Each WIOA eligible youth will be eligible incentives earned for participation in activities. 
Incentives are not considered supportive services and will not be included in total participant maximum payment of 
$6,000/program year. 

Incentive payments must be “reasonable” and reflect accomplishments made to “earn” the incentive by 
accomplishing a goal or outcome of the program. Stipends and incentive payments documentation must be 
included in the participants file for successful completion of the activity or accomplishment that allows the incentive 
to be paid and is listed below. 

WIOA Youth Incentive Guide 

Incentive Activity Documentation Allowance/Amount 

Credential attainment H.S.E.; H.S. 
Diploma or Occupational 
Certificate/Credential 

Credential summary with date attained. 
Copy of diploma or HSE, official school 
record that documents graduation, or 
copy of 

official degree credential or industry 

recognized certificate 

$50 per credential attained (only one incentive 
per participant) 

Complete 3 Assigned 

Intensive-Level Workshops 

Service record print-out with 3 

workshops highlighted. Typically applies 

to employment driven outcomes. 

$25 per set of 3 

activities; (only one set of 3 activities can be 

paid) 

Employment-2nd Quarter after Exit; in 
Education or Training Activities, or in 
unsubsidized employment, during the 
2nd Quarter after Exit from the 
Program. 

Copy of employer paycheck, Work 
Number Verification record, proof of 
post-secondary enrollment; or 
enlistment documentation 

$75 (Max 1 per youth participant) 

Employment-3rd Quarter after Exit; in 
Education or Training Activities, or in 
unsubsidized employment, during the 
3rd Quarter after Exit from the 
Program. 

Copy of employer paycheck, Work 
Number Verification record, proof of 
post-secondary enrollment; or 
enlistment documentation 

$100 (Max 1 per youth 

participant) 

 

JAG Program In-School Incentive Guide 

Incentive Activity Documentation Allowance/Amount 

H.S. Diploma or H.S.E. 
Must complete ALL JAG 
Program competency 
requirements, Graduate 
and working and/or full- 
time post-secondary or 
military each quarter. 

1) Copy of pre-test and post-test (90-day 
period variance); 2) H.S. or H.S.E. 
Credential summary with date attained. 
Copy of diploma or HSE, official school 
record that documents graduation. 3) Copy 
of employment check stub or verification, or 
post- 

secondary school or military record enrollment 

and participation documents 

$50 per follow-up quarter achieving goal of 
employment and/or full-time post-secondary 
education, or military after completion of ALL 
JAG Program requirements/Graduation. 

Regional CDC 
For each of seven CDC 
categories 

 
Entrepreneurship 

Project Based Learning 

 
Outstanding Senior 

Copy of participation record outcome for each 
student and/or team. 

1st prize $75 2nd prize $50 3rd 

prize $25 
 

1st $225 per team 2nd $150 per team 
3rd $ 75 per team 

 
1st $225 per team 2nd $150 per team 
3rd $ 75 per team 

 

1st $250 
2nd $150 3rd $ 50 



 
75 

Section 7: WORK EXPERIENCE 

Work Experience Training-Youth: Paid and unpaid work experiences, including internships and job shadowing, are 
one of the fourteen program elements that must be made available for youth. Youth work experiences must include 
academic and occupational education and training. 

 

All youth must complete a WorkOne-Young Adult Talent Launch to ensure that they have the basic soft skills 
necessary to begin a paid or unpaid work experience training. 

 
Paid and unpaid work experiences for youth and adults are planned structured learning experiences that take place in 
a workplace for a limited period of time. 

• Work experience workplaces may be in the private for-profit sector; the non-profit sector; or the public sector. 
• Work experiences are designed to enable youth and adults to gain exposure to the working world and its 

requirements. 
• Work experiences are appropriate and desirable activities for many youth and adults throughout the year. 
• Work experiences should help the client to acquire the personal attributes, knowledge, and skills needed to 

obtain a job and advance in employment. 
• The purpose is to provide the participant with the opportunities for career exploration and skill development 

that will ultimately result in employment. The employer may benefit from the activities performed by the 
participant, but that is not the primary goal of the work experience activity. 

• Participants may engage in one work experience program per program year and the duration will be limited to 
a maximum of 8 weeks in duration or less. An exception may be made based on training needs of the 
individual participant with justification, and if adequate program funds are available for the Work 
Experience Program. Exceptions must be approved by submitting a Training Waiver Exception to board 
staff for approval, with written justification for the waiver. 

• Work experience may be subsidized or unsubsidized and may include the following elements: 
ü Instruction in soft skills, employability skills or generic workplace skills 
ü Internships and job shadowing 
ü Pre-apprenticeship programs 
ü Summer employment opportunities and other employment opportunities available throughout the school year. 
ü Exposure to various aspects of an industry. 
ü On-the-job training opportunities as defined in WIOA sec. 3(44) and in 680.700. 
ü The integration of basic academic skills into work activities. 
ü Supported work, work adjustment, and other transition activities. 

 

Youth Stipend Activity: In lieu of wages where 
applicable; 

WEX Talent Launch: Youth Work 
Experience-Academic and Employment 
Preparation is REQUIRED FOR ALL 
YOUTH Training - Stipend for total 
completion of Talent Launch Training will 
be $100.00 upon completion of 100% of 
the classroom training. 
Participants will NOT be paid 
for partial participation. 

 Talent Launch Follow-up 
Workshop - for individuals who 
are not hired/placed upon 
completion of Work Experience 
on-site training. 

A follow-up workshop will be scheduled for 
Youth immediately upon completion of 
Worksite training activities. A stipend of 
$50.00 will be paid for successful completion 
of the Follow-up workshop 



 
76 

For youth work experience training, stipends can be offered in lieu of wages, or offered for classroom training that 
complements or leads to a work experience. 
A stipend is a fixed amount paid regularly that is in alignment with the entry level wage for the occupation that the 
work experience will take place or no less than the established minimum wage. When offered for a classroom 
training component, the stipend will be for the participation/completion of the training activity. 
Due to limited program funding the rate for all work experience on-site job components will be based on the 
entry-level wage for the work experience position. The employer worksite should attest to this wage. 
Participation in the work experience program must follow other key career exploration and youth/adult career 
preparation activities that will help the participant to be on a pathway that leads to completion towards employment 
goals. 
Some activities can include but are not limited to soft skills training/workshops, financial literacy, leadership 
development activities, entrepreneurship informational workshops, teamwork activities, telephone etiquette, 
customer service workshops, resume and interviewing preparation, etc. 
The work experience activity will not be the first planned activity and should result in applicants being more 
prepared to enter unsubsidized employment. 

 
Combinations – Youth: Youth can be paid for an entire day of work if at least 51% of the youth’s time is spent in 
work experience with the rest of the day in some other type of allowable training. For example, a youth spends five 
hours/day in work experience and 3 hours/day in soft- skill or work preparation training. The youth can be paid for 
eight hours of work. 

 

Work Experience – Adults and Dislocated Workers: A transitional job is one that provides a limited work 
experience, that is subsidized in the public, private or non-profit sectors for those individuals with barriers to 
employment because of chronic unemployment or inconsistent work history; these jobs are designed to enable an 
individual to establish a work history, demonstrate work success, and develop the skills that lead to unsubsidized 
employment. 

 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

Administrative Provisions - Adult and Dislocated Worker: Allowances, earnings, and payments to individuals 
participating in programs under this title shall not be considered as income for the purposes of determining eligibility 
for and the amount of income transfer and in- kind aid furnished under any federal or federally assisted program 
based on need other than as provided under the Social Security Act. 
WIOA Title I funds must not be spent on the wages of incumbent employees during their participation in 
economic development activities provided through a statewide workforce investment system. 

Administrative Provisions –Youth: Allowances, earnings and payments to individuals participating in programs 
under this title shall not be considered as income for the purposes of determining eligibility for and the amount of 
income transfer and in-kind aid furnished under any federal or federally assisted program based on need other than 
as provided under the Social Security Act. 

 

 

PARTICIPANT FUNDING WAIVER AUTHORIZATION 
Due to circumstances and variances of certain demand occupations, the Board reserves the right to provide a 
waiver to approve expenditures requested for individual participants on a case-by- case basis. The WAIVER 
REQUEST FORM is attached and made a part of this policy addendum. The Board hereby authorizes the 
Southern Indiana Works Staff to review and execute a Policy Waiver based on review of individual client needs. 
The Waiver Request Form, as executed, shall be placed in the respective participant file for documentation and 
monitoring. 



 
77 

Section 8: Data Validation Documentation and Reporting Requirements 

Program staff must follow Data Validation requirements as outlined in TEGL 23-19 Guidance for Validating Required 
Performance Data Submitted by Grant Recipients of U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) Workforce Programs 

 

Electronic Case Management System Reporting: 
 

The following is a description of sources for documenting participant information. The validity of each source 
depends upon the type of information and the level of service received by the participant. 

 

• Self-Identification – The participant states (self-identifies) his/her status for the particular piece of 
information being collected (obtained) – (Registration) 

 

• Self-Attestation – The participant states (self-identifies his/her status for the particular piece of 
information being collected (obtained). This information is recorded on a form, and the participant signs 
and dates the form acknowledging their status. The key elements for self-attestation are: a) the 
participant signing and dating the form attesting to this self-identification. The difference between self- 
identification and 
self-attestation is signing a self-attestation form. 

 

• Case Notes – Statements recorded in the participant’s case note folder by staff that identify a 
participant’s status for a specific data element, and the date on which the information was obtained. 

 

• State Management Information Systems (MIS) – In Indiana, the State MIS is Indiana Career Connect 
(ICC), provided the information being collected is properly recorded in the appropriate ICC data fields. 
Proper recording of information requires that the specific, detailed information (e.g., dates, types of 
services and explanations of barriers to employment) is stored in the State’s case management system 
and provides supporting evidence for the data element. 

 

• Official Documents – Information is obtained from official documents (e.g., birth certificate, driver’s 
license, letterhead, pay stub). 

 

• Staff Verification – Staff verification will only be used to validate participant information across the 
various documentation sources as acknowledged in this document. Staff verification is intended to 
minimize the administrative burden associated with obtaining and retaining paper backup copies of the 
source documents used to validate participant information. Use of staff verification is intended to better 
align program resources with providing services, rather than documenting information. 

 
Staff verification requires staff to: 

• Identify the information to be collected (relevant data element) using an allocable documentation 
source. 

• Assure the information is accurately recorded in the appropriate ICC data field(s). 

• Select a documentation method from the drop-down menu in ICC; or, 

• Record in the ICC case notes: 

* The information (data element) that has been validated; 

* The source used to validate the information; 

* Pertinent data from the document source; and 

* The date of the Staff Verification. 

The level of participant data and source documentation needed to comply with federal reporting requirements, 
including eligibility determinations and data evaluation validation, will depend on the level of service received by the 
customer. 

 
Upon receipt of a Basic Career Service (including self-service) (Registration Screen) 

 

• Demographic information must be obtained from the customer and recorded in ICC 

• Self-Identification is acceptable source documentation for obtaining demographic information for 
participants who receive only core services. 



 
78 

Upon receipt of an Individualized Career service, including training services, (Application) 
(Included in WIOA Performance Measures) 

 

• Specific demographic information (i.e., date of birth, employment status at participation, selective 
service registration, veteran status,) must be validated against specific source documents and 
maintained for the record. 

• Services information must be recorded in ICC. Proper data entry of services in ICC must comply with 
data evaluation validation requirements. 

• Outcome information must be recorded in ICC for Individualized Career services. Outcome 
information must be validated against specific source documents and maintained for the record. 

 

All source documents and participant records must be electronically uploaded into the 
case management system within 24 hours of receipt of the document or record. 



 

79 

ATTACHEMENT A – REQUIRED FORMS 

 

 

1. DETERMINATION OF KNOWING OR WILFULL FAILURE TO REGISTER FOR SELECTIVE SERVICE 

 

2. APPLICANT STATEMENT 

 

3. FINANCIAL AWARD ANALYSIS 

 

4. MONTHLY AND SEMESTER BUDGET 

 

5. SOUTHERN INDIANA WORKS WAIVER AUTHORIZATION 



 

80 

DETERMINATION OF KNOWING OR WILFULL FAILURE 

TO REGISTER FOR SELECTIVE SERVICE 

 

Today’s Date:   Date of Status Information Letter:   

Last Name:   First Name:  

Last 4 SSN:   

Please answer each of the following to determine the failure was not “knowing”: 
Were you aware of the requirements to register? Yes   No   

 

If yes, please describe the circumstances:   
 

 

 

When did you learn about the requirements to register? Please provide a date:   

Did your Status Information Letter indicate that Selective Service sent letters to you where you 

lived between the ages of 18 and 26 and did not receive a response? Yes   No   
 

Please provide any documents or written statements from others you may have that you 

believe shows you did not knowingly fail to register. 

 

Please answer each of the following to determine the failure was not “willful”: 

Did you have the mental capacity to choose whether or not to register and decide not to register? 
Yes   No   

 

What actions, if any, did you take upon learning of the requirements to register? 

 

 
 
 

Customer Signature:   Date:   
 
 

 Southern Indiana Works Staff Complete Below  

 

Please check if in agreement: 

 

 I have determined that the individual listed above did not “knowingly” fail to register 

 I have determined that the individual listed above did not “willfully” failed to register. 

 I have determined that the individual listed above knowingly and/or willfully failed to register 

for Selective Service and is being denied WIOA services. He has been informed of this 

determination and has been given information of available grievance procedures. 

 

Staff Signature:   Date:   

Printed Name:    



 

81 

APPLICANT STATEMENT 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY, UNDER PENALTY OF PERJURY THAT I 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

If applicant cannot obtain a satisfactory witness or provide a telephone contact, explain above. 
 

I ATTEST THAT THE INFORMATION STATED ABOVE IS TRUE AND ACCURATE, AND 
UNDERSTAND THAT THE ABOVE INFORMATION, IF MISREPRESENTED, OR 
INCOMPLETE, MAY BE GROUNDS FOR IMMEDIATE TERMINATION AND/OR 
PENALTIES AS SPECIFIED BY LAW. 

 
 
 

APPLICANT SIGNATURE DATE 
 
 

CORROBRATING WITNESS SIGNAURE DATE 
 
 
 

WITNESS’ RELATIONSHIP TO APPLICANT 
(cannot be a staff member) 

 
 
 

STAFF SIGNATURE DATE 

 

 

INFORMATION BEING DOCUMENTED BY APPLICANT 
STATEMENT: 

 
 



 

82 

Financial Award Analysis 
 

Training Provider: 
 

 

 
 

Participant Name/Address: Phone: 

Training Start Date: Training End Date: 

Training Program: Duration: (weeks/semesters/quarters) 

Training Provider Address Contact: Training Provider Phone/Fax: 

Training Items of Cost: Fund 
Assignment 
1-6 

Cost Per Week/ 
Semester/Quarter 

Number of Weeks/ 
Semesters/Quarters 

Total 
Cost of 
Training 

Application     

Tuition     

Books/Supplies     

Clinic/Lab Fees     

Physicals     

Licenses/Permits     

Parking Fees     

Activity Fees     

Other Required Costs 
(Specify) 

    

Other Required Costs 
(Specify) 

    

Total Projected Cost of 
Training 

    

Available Funding Sources 
(Documentation Attached) 

    

1.Federal Pell (Attach Student 
Aid Report, etc.) 

    

2.Scholarships/Grants Other 
(attach award/denial letters) 

    

3.Other Partner Resources 
(Specify) 

    

4.Voc. Rehab./Social Services     

5.Total Non-WIOA 

Available Resources 
    

6.Needed/Requested WIOA 
Training Resources 

    

Additional Resources Needed 
(normally this should be a 0 
balance) 

    



 

83 

Training  $0.00 

Personal Expenses  $0.00 

Total Expenses  $0.00 

 

Financial Aid  $0.00 

Income  $0.00 

Total Income  $0.00 

 

MONTHLY AND SEMESTER BUDGET 
Client Name: 

 

For the period of: 

Date Completed: 

 

Semester: 

 

Expenses 

  

Income/Financial Aid 

Training Month Semester  Financial Aid Month Semester  

Tuition   Pell Grant   

Books   Frank O'Bannon Grnt   

All fees   SEOG   

Malpractice Ins   Higher Educ. Award   

Supplies   Other Grants/Loans   

Other:   Other Scholarships   

Total:  $0.00 CDF   

PERSONAL EXPENSE   Vocational Rehab   

Rent/Mortgage  $0.00 Other:   

Home/Rental Ins.  $0.00 Total:  $0.00 

Electric  $0.00 INCOME   

Gas  $0.00 Employment income  $0.00 

Water/Sewage  $0.00 Add Fam. Income  $0.00 

Phone  $0.00 Other:  $0.00 

Food/Hygiene/Etc.  $0.00 Step Ahead  $0.00 

Child Care  $0.00 HUD  $0.00 

Medical Bills/Ins.  $0.00 WIC  $0.00 

Clothing  $0.00 Food Stamps  $0.00 

Car Payment  $0.00 TANF  $0.00 

Transportation(Gas)  $0.00 SSI/SSDI  $0.00 

Car Insurance  $0.00 Vets Ed Assistance  $0.00 

License Plates  $0.00 Unemployment  $0.00 

Car Repair (Oil, etc.)  $0.00 Child Support  $0.00 

Other (List):      

Credit Card (minimum)  $0.00    

Child Support  $0.00    

      

      

      

Total: $0.00 $0.00 Total: $0.00 $0.00 

 

*Notes: 
 

For Office Use Only 

Total Income  $0.00 

Total Expenses  $0.00 

Unmet Need  $0.00 



 

84 

SOUTHERN INDIANA WORKS WAIVER 

AUTHORIZATION PARTICIPANT PAYMENT 

POLICY 

Please complete the following form and submit to Southern Indiana Works for review and approval. You may email this 

information to: shilese@soinworks.com 
 

Date of Request:  

  

Name of Participant:  

Address of Participant:  

  

Social Security Number:  

  

  

Training/Credential 
Targeted for 
WIOA Participant: 

 

  

Training Provider 
Name/Address: 

 

  

Amount of Training/ 
Expenditure Requested 
for Waiver: 

 

  

Projected Payment 
Date: 

 

  

Projected Training 
Completion Date: 

 

  

Reason for Waiver 
(Brief Description): 

 

  

Approved by: 

Southern Indiana 

Works 

 

 

 
  

Printed Name/Title Signature 

Date Approved:  



 

85 

DISLOCATED WORKER ELIGIBILITY CHECKLIST 

ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA ACCEPTABLE DOCUMENTATION 

CATEGORY 1 OR 2 in ICC 

A. 

□ Has been terminated or laid off, or has received a 

notice of termination or layoff, from employment or 
has been honorably discharged (whether voluntary 
or involuntary); 

 

 

 

AND 

Select one of the following source documents for A: 

□ Verification from employer and/or lay-off list 

□ Rapid Response list 

□ Notice of Lay-off 

□ Public announcement with UI screen printout with separation 
dates 

□ Signed and dated applicant statement (includes signed and 
dated application 

□ RESEA or JFH Letter 

□ DD-214 

B. Select one of the following: 

□ 1.Is eligible for or has exhausted entitlement to 
unemployment compensation 

OR 

Select one of the following source documents for B -1: 

□ Individual Unemployment Insurance Records 

□ RESEA or JFH Letter 

OR 

□ 2.Has been employed for a duration sufficient to 
demonstrate attachment to the workforce but Is not 
eligible for unemployment compensation due to 
insufficient earnings or having performed services 
for an employer that was not covered under a State 
unemployment compensation law(select category 
2 in ICC if this is checked and meets A and C) 

 

AND 

Select one of the following source documents for B-2: 

□ Pay stubs 

□ Letter from company 

□ Notice of Ineligibility from UI Records 

□ W2 records 

□ Tax Returns 

C.Is unlikely that the individual will return to his/her previous 
industry or occupation. Select one of the following: 

□ 1,Labor Market Information – previous occupation not in 
demand 

□ 2.Lack of comparable job referrals resulting from job 
matching in ICC 

□ 3. Age at time of dislocation is 45 years or older 

□ 4. Education level is at or below high school diploma or 
equivalent (GED or HSE) 

□ 5. Tenure with employer of dislocation five or more years 

□ 6. Occupation of dislocation not on Region 10 
Occupations in Demand list 

□ 7. Medical condition which prohibits applicant from 
returning to previous employment position or occupation 

□ 8. RESEA/JFH participant 

Select one of the following source documents for C that match the 
category checked: 

□ 1. Recent LMI for occupation of dislocation 

□ 2. ICC Job Matching documentation 

□ 3. Birth certificate or I.D. verifying age 

□ 4. Education Level as documented and attested on application 

□ 5. Employment verification 

□ 6. Current Region 10 Occupations in Demand List 

□ 7. Applicant Statement 

□ 8. RESEA or JFH Letter 

MUST MEET CRITERIA FOR A, B AND C. MUST HAVE SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION AT TIME OF 
DETERMINING ELIGIBILITY IN ICC. 

 



 

86 

 

DISLOCATED WORKER ELIGIBILITY CHECKLIST 

ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA ACCEPTABLE DOCUMENTATION 

CATEGORY 3 in ICC 

□ Has been terminated or laid off, or has received a notice 
as a result of any permanent closure of, or any substantial 
layoff at a plant, facility, or enterprise; Note: Substantial 
layoff is any reduction in force which results in an 
employment loss at a single site employment during any 
30 day period for at least 25 employees (excluding 
employees regularly working less than 20 hours per week). 

Select one of the following source documents: 

□ Letter from company (must list client) 

□ WARN Notice with recent pay stub 

□ Documentation from employer, including telephone verification 
of employment and layoff status 

□ Unemployment Insurance records 

CATEGORY 4 in ICC 

□ Is employed at a facility at which the employer has 
made a general announcement that such facility will 
close within 180 days 

Select one of the following source documents: 

□ Letter from company 

□ Newspaper article with recent pay stub 

□ WARN Notice with recent pay stub 

□ Documentation from employer, including telephone verification 
of employment and layoff status 

□ Unemployment Insurance records 

CATEGORY 5 in ICC 

□ Self Employed (including employment as a farmer, a 
rancher, or a fisherman) but is unemployed as a 
result of general economic conditions in the 
community in which the individual resides or 
because of natural disasters. 

Select one of the following source documents: 

□ Records of business closure 

□ Tax returns 

□ Business license 

□ News article on the state of the local economy or natural 
disaster 

CATEGORY 6 OR 8 in ICC 

□ Displaced Homemaker –The customer has been providing 
unpaid services to family members in the home and is 
unemployed or underemployed and is experiencing 
difficulty in obtaining or upgrading employment, 
AND 

□ 1. Select one of the following:1.Has been dependent on 
the income of another family member but is no longer 
supported by that income (includes spouse of an eligible 
dislocated worker) 

□ 2.Is the dependent spouse of the Armed Forces on active 
duty and whose family income is significantly reduced 
because of deployment or call to active military duty, or 
permanent change of station, or the service-connected 
death or disability of the service member.(select category 
8 if checking this box) 

Select one of the following for 1: 

□ Court records 

□ Social Security documents 

□ Death notice and /or certificate 

□ Divorce decree 

□ Public assistance records/UI records 

□ Bank Records 

□ Spouse Dislocated Worker eligibility documentation 

□ Signed and dated applicant statement (includes signed and 
dated application 

Select one of the following for 2: 

□ Military record of spouse 

□ DD 214 

CATEGORY 7 in ICC 

□ Is the spouse of a member of the Armed Forces on 
active duty and who has experienced a loss of 
employment as a direct result of relocation to 
accommodate a permanent change in duty station of 
such a member 

Select one of the following: 

□ Military record of spouse 

□ Signed and dated applicant statement 

MUST HAVE SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION AT TIME OF DETERMINING ELIGIBILITY IN ICC 



88 

87 

FAMILY INCOME WORKSHEET COMPLETE TO DETERMINE LOW INCOME FOR YOUTH OR ADULT PRIORITY 
APPLICATION DATE: 

  /   /   

LAST NAME FIRST MI SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER 
 

1ST DAY OF COUNTING PERIOD: 

  /   /   

LIST ALL FAMILY MEMBERS IN 
YOUR HOME DURING THE PAST 
SIX MONTHS 

Relationship to 
you 

List all income sources for the past 6 months 
for each family member according to the family 
member who received it. (Employment, social 
security, child support, unemployment etc.) 

 

DAY 
OF 
WEEK 
PAID 

 

WAGE 
PER 

HOUR 

 

HOURS 
PER 

WEEK 

 

EXACT DATES OF 
INCOME MUST 

INCLUDE 
MONTH-DAY-YEAR 

 

FROM TO 

 

GROSS PAY (BEFORE 
TAXES) LIST BY HOW PAY 
IS RECEIVED (WEEKLY, BI- 
WEEKLY,MONTHLY ETC.) 

 

WKLY BI-WKLY  MONTHLY 

T 
I 
M 
E 
S 

# OF 
PAYS 

E 
Q 
U 
A 
L 

 

SIX MONTHS 
TOTAL 

ROUND TO 
NEAREST 
DOLLAR 

APPLICANT SELF 
         

X 
 

= 
 

           

X 
 

= 
 

           

X 
 

= 
 

           

X 
 

= 
 

           

X 
 

= 
 

           

X 
 

= 
 

           

X 
 

= 
 

 
TOTAL SIX MONTHS INCLUDABLE $ 

 
INCLUDABLE x 2 FOR ANNUALIZED 

Enter Amount in ICC 

$ 
     

Additional Information for Clarification: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

I ATTEST THAT THE INFORMATION STATED ABOVE IS TRUE AND ACCURATE. 
 

 
    

Applicant Signature Date Other Signature as Required Date 



88 

88 

 

 

POLICY: Business Reimbursement Guidelines 

 

Required Action: Southern Indiana Works board members and staff must adhere to 
this policy. 

 
The following guidelines must be followed for board business reimbursement of costs: 

The Business Reimbursement rates will be as follows: 

Mileage: Reimbursement rate shall be in accordance with standard mileage rates 
established by the Internal Revenue Service. 

 

Cell Phone: The Executive Director Position shall be eligible for a $75.00 stipend for 
personal cell phone and home internet use. 

 

 Other staff members shall be eligible for a $75.00 stipend for personal cell 
phone and home internet use based on job function and as authorized by 
the Executive Director. 

 
Procedures: Board members and staff who attend meetings outside the region for 

Southern Indiana Works business may elect to seek reimbursement for 
reasonable and necessary mileage/travel expenses. Board and staff 
members should complete the mileage form as provided by the 
administrative office (electronic form available via contacting the Regional 
Workforce Board Office), and submit the form, along with printouts from 
map quest for travel from/to each location. Receipts for any meal, travel, 
parking or lodging reimbursement must be submitted. Business 
reimbursements should be submitted monthly within 15 days of the month- 
end. Employee expenses submitted for reimbursement in excess of 30 
days of month end report period will be ineligible for reimbursement. 
Receipts for costs and a map, inclusive of details of miles traveled must 
be submitted with reports. 

 

 

For questions regarding this policy contact: 
Southern Indiana Works 
info@soinworks.com 

 

SOUTHERN INDIANA WORKS 



 

89 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

TITLE: Southern Indiana Works Hourly Employee Policy 

DATE: July 1, 2022 

Southern Indiana Works Hourly PTO, Holiday, Vacation Policy 
 

Purpose 
 

It is the policy of Southern Indiana Works to provide employees with certain PTO, paid holidays, and 
vacation time as well as certain unpaid leave to meet the needs and demands of everyday life. 

 

Required Action 
 

SIW employees must adhere to this policy regarding leave. 
 

Eligibility 
 

1. Part-time employees do not receive PTO 
2. Full-time hourly employees will receive 24 hours upon start day. Employees will start accruing 

2.33 hrs. on each paycheck not to exceed more than 56-hours in a program year. The additional 
hours cannot be taken until after employee has successfully completed 90 days of continuous 
employment with the company. 

3. Program year is July 1 thru June 30 of each year. 
Notice 

 
Un-used paid time off can rollover to 180 hours max. (PTO will not be paid out upon separation from the 
company) 

 

Observed holidays are only paid to eligible full-time employees who have completed ninety (90) calendar 
days of continuous employment with the company. (Unless arrangements have been made by the 
President to pay the employee) 

 
Scheduling 

 

1. Management reserves the right to determine the schedule based on the needs of the company 
2. PTO may be taken in 2-hour intervals. 

 
Vacation 

 

Full-time hourly employees will be eligible for 2-weeks of vacation after 90 days of employment. If time is 
unused employee may only rollover 40 hours. Employees that have been here 5 years & up will receive 4 
weeks of vacation time. These employees will be able to rollover two weeks 80 hours of unused time. 
Vacation will be paid out to employee upon separation from the company as long as employee has been 
with the company at least a full year. 



 

90 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

TITLE: Southern Indiana Works Salaried Employee Policy 

DATE: July 1, 2022 

Southern Indiana Works Salaried PTO, Holiday, Vacation Policy 

 
Purpose 

 
It is the policy of Southern Indiana Works to provide employees with certain PTO, paid holidays, and 
vacation time as well as certain unpaid leave to meet the needs and demands of everyday life. 

 

Required Action 
 

SIW employees must adhere to this policy regarding leave. 

 

Eligibility 
 

1. Salary employees (Exempt) are paid on a salary basis and are not eligible to receive overtime 
pay. 

2. If salary employee is out sick or needs to use PTO the employee is still expected to complete all 
of their work in all the time and still record the accurate time on the timesheet (for grant purpose). 
The salaried employee will still get paid their normal rate of pay. 

3. The salaried employee is expected to communicate with management about their schedule. 
 

Notice 

Salaried employees will be eligible for all observed holidays at hire. Management reserves the right to 
determine the schedule based on the needs of the company. 

 

Vacation 
 

Salaried (exempt) Employee will get the following vacation time: 
 

President-4 weeks of vacation time 
 

Vice Presidents & Directors- 3 weeks of vacation time 
 

Full-time Salary (exempt) employee- 2 weeks of vacation time 

5 years & up -will receive 4 weeks of vacation time 

Vacation time cannot be used until after 90-day orientation period has ended. Vacation will be paid out to 
employee upon separation from the company. 

 

 

SIW is trusting that all employees will not take advantage of this policy. If management believes 
employee is abusing the policy employee will be subject to disciplinary actions. 

 
 
 
 

 



 91 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Nominating Committee Report 
September 20, 2022 

 

 

Recommended Executive Committee Slate for the 

2022 – 2023 

 

Officers: 

• Chair – Shane Stuber – VP Team Member Services – Synchrony Health 

Services 

• Vice Chair - Craig White – V.P. Human Resources Caesars Entertainment 

• Secretary - Darrell Voelker – Harrison Co Economic Development 

• Treasurer – Todd Garrison – President Targeted Recruiting Group 

 

Executive Committee Members At-Large 

• Brian Churchill – Preferred Popcorn, Indiana Operations Manager 

• Brian Keith – Director of Building Services, Koetter Building Services 

• Ryan Pavlina – Human Resources Business Partner, The Rawlings Group 

• Rick Grider – Administrator, Operating Engineers, Local 181 

• Wendy Dant Chesser – President & CEO, One Southern Indiana 


